71-51

ROOP, DeLagnel Haigh, 1932-A GRAMMAR OF THE LISU LANGUAGE.

Yale University, Ph.D., 1970 Language and Literature, linguistics

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company, Ann Arbor, Michigan

© DeLagnel Haigh Roop 1971

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

A GRAMMAR OF THE LISU LANGUAGE

D. Haigh Roop

1970

A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty
of the Graduate School of Yale University
in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of
Philosophy

SUMMARY

A Grammar of the Lisu Language

D. Haigh Roop
Yale University

Lisu is a language of the Lolo subgroup in the Tibeto-Burman language family. It is spoken by perhaps 400,000 hill tribesmen who are scattered through scuthwestern China and northern Burma and Thailand. Earlier descriptions of the language have dealt with the more northerly areas: China and Upper Burma, while for the southern-most Lisu - those in the southern Shan States of Burma and in northern Thailand - there have previously been only two short phonological studies. This dissertation is designed to fill that gap in the coverage of Lisu. Based on the author's two years of research in the Lisu village at Doi Musser, Tak Province, Thailand, it is a description of the Lisu dislect spoken in that community. It includes the phonology, morphology, and chapters devoted to the phrase, the clause, and the sentence, as well as a sample text with a detailed analysis.

Preface

This dissertation is based on field research carried out in Thailand from September 1965 to August 1967 under grants from the Fulbright-Hays program for the study of foreign languages, administered by the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare.

I would like to express my gratitude to the Thai Government agencies which were instrumental in helping me during my period of research; to the National Research Council, for its help in obtaining visa clearance and providing letters of introduction to officials in Bangkok and elsewhere; to the Hill Tribe Division of the Department of Public Welfare and its head, Khun Prasit Disiwat, for permission to live and work in the Doi Musser Hill Tribe Development Settlement, where I spent my two years, and most particularly to Khun Wanat Bhruksasri, Director of the Tribal Research Centre, Chiengmai, for first suggesting Tak as an appropriate place for my research, as well as to the entire Centre staff for their most helpful support throughout my stay in Thailand.

Among many others whose help was instrumental in the carrying out of my project, I would particularly like to thank Khun Keo Dechawatana, head of the Doi Musser Settlement at the time I began my research there, as well as the rest of the Settlement staff, for their unfailing friendliness and helpfulness; and my interpreter,

Somboon Phong Phun, without whose patient help the study could hardly have been undertaken.

Finally, I wish to express my appreciation to Prof. William Cornyn, the director of the dissertation, as well as to Profs.

Isidore Dyen, Warren Cowgill, and Hugh Stimson of Yale, and to William Smalley of the American Bible Society for their patience in commenting on earlier versions of this work.

D. H. R.

New Haven

April, 1970

Contents

Preface	II
Introduction	X
Chapter I - Phonology	1
1.0 Introduction: the syllable, the sentence,	
phonemes	1
1.1 Initial Consonants	2
1.2 Syllabic Resonants	9
1.3 Medials	12
1.4 Vowels	17
1.4.1 Front vowels	17
1.4.2 Central vowels	19
1.4.3 Back vowels	20
1.4.4 Diphthongs	21
1.4.5 Nasalization	22
1.5 Glottalization	22
1.6 Tone	23
1.6.1 Allophones	25
1.6.2 Morphophonemics	25
1.6.3 Neutralization	29
1.7 Falling Pitch	29
1.8 Final Consonants	31
1.9 Permitted Sequences	3 3

	Page
1.10 Stress	33
1.11 Intonation	38
Chapter II - Morphology	46
2.0 Introduction: free and bound forms; the word	46
2.1 Attribution	49
2.2 The Form Classes	52
2.3 Exclamations	52
2.4 Substantives	53
2.4.1 Counters	54
2.4.1.1 Numbers	54
2.4.1.2 Classifiers	60
2.4.2 Nouns	63
2.4.2.1 Simple nouns	64
2.4.2.2 Compound nouns	64
2.4.2.3 Complex nouns	67
2.4.3 Deictics	78
2.5 The Verb	81
2.5.1 Active verbs	82
2.5.1.1 Transitive verbs	83
2.5.1.2 Intransitive verbs	86
2.5.1.3 Complementary verb compounds	87
2.5.2 Adjectives	91
2.5.3 Complex verbs with noun attribute	92
2.5.4 Copular verbs	95
2.5.5 Auxiliary verbs	103

	Page
2.6 Multiple Class Membership	105
2.7 Verb Stem Extensions	110
2.8 Introduct ry Words	113
2.9 Particles	116
2.10 Reduplication	118
2.10.1 Reduplication with substantives	119
2.10.2 Reduplication with verbs	120
2.10.3 Complex reduplication with substantives	
and verbs	128
2.10.4 Distinguishing reduplication from repetition	129
Chapter III - The Phrase	130
3.0 Introduction: coordination; phrase types	130
3.1 The Substantive Phrase	130
3.1.1 Simple substantive phrases	131
3.1.2 Attribute substantive phrases	132
3.1.3 Coordinate substantive phrases	139
3.1.4 Combinations	145
3.2 The Verb Phrase	147
3.2.1 Simple verb phrases	148
3.2.2 Attribute verb phrases	150
3.2.3 Coordinate verb phrases	151
3.2.4 Complementary verb phrases	153
3.2.5 Combination of coordinate and complementary	
phrases	160

	Page
Chapter IV - The Clause	161
4.0 Introduction: simple and complex clauses	161
4.1 The Basic Clause	162
4.2 The Simple Clause	165
4.2.1 The Basic simple clause	165
4.2.1.1 The subject	165
4.2.1.2 The <u>-wā</u> -phrase	166
4.2.1.3 The goal	170
4.2.1.4 The adverb	173
4.2.1.5 The verb	175
4.2.2 The extended basic clause	177
4.2.3 Non-basic clauses	178
4.2.3.1 Isolatives	178
4.2.3.2 Topics	180
4.2.3.3 Clause order with question words	191
4.3 Substantive Particles	195
4.4 Attributive Clauses	202
4.4.1 Attributive clauses within the phrase	202
4.4.2 Complex Clauses	204
4.4.2.1 Clause subjects	205
4.4.2.2 Clause goals	206
4.4.2.3 Clause topics	209

	Page
4.5 Nominalization	213
4.5.1 The forms	213
4.5.2 The function	214
4.5.3 The environments	217
Chapter V - The Sentence	228
5.0 Introduction: sentence classification	228
5.1 Major and Minor Sentences	228
5.1.1 The Major sentence	228
5.1.2 The Minor sentence	232
5.2 Statements, Imperatives, and Questions	236
5.2.1 Statements	237
5.2.2 Imperatives	241
5.2.3 Questions	243
5.2.4 Overlapping	247
5.3 Focus	248
5.4 Verb and General Particles	250
5.4.1 Verb particles	251
5.4.l.l Negative particles	251
5.4.1.2 Final particles	253
5.4.1.3 Secondary particles	254
5.4.2 General particles	260
5.4.2.1 Final general particles	260
5.4.2.2 Internal general particles	264
5.4.2.3 Mixed general particles	269

	Page
5.4.3 Particle combinations	272
Appendices	275
Appendix A - Sample text and translation	276
Appendix B - Analysis of the sample text	278
Bibliography	303
Today	308

Introduction

The Lisu are one of several tribes of hill dwellers, coming from a variety of ethnic backgrounds, who are scattered through southwestern China and northern Burma, Laos, and Thailand. On the basis of their language, the Lisu have been classified as belonging to the Lolo subgroup of the Tibeto-Burman family, closely related to such other hill tribe groups as the Akha and the Lahu.

The largest concentration of Lisu is in southwest Yünnan Province, China, particularly in the narrow watershed between the Salween and Mekong rivers. But the tribe is also found further east in Yünnan and extends west at least as far as the Nmai-Kha in Burma and south through the Burmese Shan States into the northern Provinces of Thailand. Determining the Lisu population in any of these areas, however, is extremely difficult, not only because most are remote and inaccessible, but because the Lisu, practicing a swidden agriculture which destroys the land's ability to support crops, are forced to move with considerable frequency (at an average of 6-8 years according to Young). Thus population figures for a particular area are obsolete almost as soon as they are collected, and widely divergent figures are given for one area

See the end of the Introduction for remarks on Lisu comparative studies.

^{2.} Full references for works cited in the introduction are given in the Bibliography, pp. 303-7.

by sources whose data were collected only a short time apart.³ The figures, quoted in Lebar, Hickey, and Musgrave, of 317,000 in China, 30,000 in Burma, and 17,300 in Thailand are at best rough estimates, and the Lebar-Hickey-Musgrave total estimate of perhaps 400,000 Lisu is probably as good a guess as one can give with the available information.

Up to now, descriptions of the Lisu as a people have been limited for the most part to casual mention by travelers who chanced to meet some of the tribesmen, or to short outlines in ethnographic studies devoted to broader areas of Southeast Asia or its ethnic groups. A number of these sources, however, speak of three subdivisions of the Lisu: 'Black', 'White', and 'Flowery'. The first of these is said to occupy the northern section of the Salween-Mekong watershed - latitudes 26° 30' N to 27° 30' N - and to be the most independent. They are described as being fierce, aggressive, and extremely hostile to strangers, robbing, and on occasion even killing them. The 'White' and 'Flowery' Lisu, on the other hand, are said to occupy more southerly areas and to have been much more

^{3.} Thus, for example, in 1960, Bruk (quoted in Lebar, Hickey, and Musgrave) gives a figure of 317,000 Lisu for China, based on the 1953 census; but the study of the Yünnanese Lisu dialect published in 1959 by the Chinese Academy of Sciences gives a figure of 235,000 Lisu in Yünnan, with 'several thousand' more in Szechuan Province, which appears significantly lower.

^{4.} Some of the lengthier and more careful of these are listed in the Bibliography. The earliest I have found is Anderson (1871), while the most enjoyable is Rose and Brown (1910), whose prose style is as lush as one could wish.

The lack of ethnographic information on the Lisu should soon be at least partially remedied with the publication of researches on the Lisu in Thailand currently being carried out by two American scholars, Alain Y. Dessaint and E. Paul Durrenberger.

heavily influenced by other ethnic groups, particularly the Chinese. There appears to be a marked dialect difference between Lisu in the northern Shan States and those further south, and Jui (1948) describes a 'Hwa' (i.e. 'Flowery') Lisu dialect on the western frontier of Yünnan, so that it may be that the southernmost Lisu are the 'White' group. The classification is, however, Chinese, and the Lisu with whom I worked disclaimed any knowledge of it. My informant, when asked what subgroup of the Lisu he belonged to gave his clan surname; when pressed for a larger subgroup he said he was simply 'Lisu', then as an afterthought 'Lisu Mama', i.e. 'Genuine Lisu'.

Nevertheless, there is clear evidence of dialect differences; what is lacking is secure evidence of the distribution and points of differences of these dialects, so that it is difficult at present to say more than that they exist and that the differentiation appears to be primarily along a north-south axis.

Of the areas where Lisu are found, those in China have received the most extensive coverage, both ethnographically and linguistically, while those in northernmost Burma have received somewhat less. But

^{5.} Certainly the group with which I worked was heavily sinicized.

^{6.} This on the basis of personal communication from a Lisu from Burma who was living in New York City in 1967, and who identified my group as living in the southern Shan States. His speech differed considerably from that I had learned and appeared less sinicized. Moreover, the tribesmen with whom I worked spoke of the strangeness of Lisu heard in radio broadcasts from Burma, although some of the older men remembered having lived near Kengtung in the southern part of the Shan States.

^{7.} It is apparently based on differences of costume.

in 1965, when I began my research in Thailand, there was only a small amount of ethnographic information on the southernmost Lisu, 8 and no linguistic information at all. It was the purpose of my research to fill that gap.

At the time I began my research, the Lisu language had already been mentioned by numerous earlier authors - in fact, of all aspects of the Lisu culture, it is the language which has received the most attention - but the great majority of such references are word lists, usually quite short, taken down by travelers who had no grounding in phonetics or other linguistic techniques, much less in the Lisu language itself. Thus, these lists present great difficulty in interpreting the transcriptions used and contain much misinformation acquired through simple ignorance of the language. For example, the usefulness of an extensive comparative vocabulary of the 'Black' (BL), 'White' (WL), and 'Flowery' (FL) Lisu dialects given in Rose and Brown (1910) is vitiated by the lack of any tone markings and by such problems as the following:

'hand': BL and WL le-pé; FL la-kua

where a knowledge of the language would have enabled the authors to realize that the first means 'hand', the second 'palm of the hand' (my /lèphe/ and /lèkwa/). Or:

'ask': BL a-shih-pe; FL a-ni

in which the first is actually the question 'What (did you) say?'

(/áswł bé?/), while the second is presumably related to my /nānyī/

'ask', although the form given looks most like /ányī/ 'cow'. Other

^{8.} E.g. Young (1961), Srisavasdi (1963), the latter largely devoted to photographs.

comparisons, however, probably represent real dialect differences, e.g.:

'fish': BL and WL wa; FL ngwa (my /ngwa/)
In short, such early linguistic evidence as is available is scanty and highly unreliable.9

There are, however, five outstanding exceptions which require

special mention. The earliest full scale study of the Lisu language
is that of J. O. Fraser of the China Inland Mission (1922). This
constitutes one of the better missionary efforts at recording
languages in the area, for even though Frasor evidently had little
or no formal linguistic training, he had the good sense, not often
shown by others at that date, to give full value to the tones of
the language; 10 and although his analysis of the language is highly
latinate, he nevertheless gives a reasonably thorough picture of the
grammar. There is also an extensive vocabulary covering almost 40
pages - comprising about one third of the book - which is particularly
valuable for comparative study, as well as one of the most comprehensive descriptions of Lisu culture. This is one of the richest and
most valuable sources available on the language, or indeed on any
minority language of the area.

^{9.} A detailed list is given in the bibliography, q.v.

^{10.} Even when Fraser is in difficulty with his phonetics, he manages to give at least some impression of the sound in question, sometimes rather startlingly, e.g.: 'rgh ... a plain gutteral vowel sound, difficult to describe. Approximated in involuntary retching.' Less admirable is the fact that he uses this combination not only for the high back unrounded vowel [w] (I can remember having something of a gagging sensation when I first ran into an upper back unrounded vowel when studying Mandarin Chinese), but also the voiced velar spirant [y], and sometimes for a combination of the two [yu].

The next important study appeared in 1948, when Jui I-fu published an article giving a phonemic summary of the 'Hwa' (i.e. 'Flowery') Lisu dialect on the western frontier of Yünnan. This is the first attempt to apply modern linguistic methods to the description of Lisu, a short but careful study which not only gives an analysis of that dialect's phonology but also compares it with Fraser's transcription, noting that there are certain sounds that the latter apparently cannot represent. The article ends with a vocabulary, which, like that of Fraser, is useful for comparative purposes; one wishes only that it were far longer. Jui is another most important source on Lisu.

After another decade, in 1959, there followed an Outline of Lisu Grammar from the Chinese Academy of Sciences. This is a full scale monograph with an extensive description of the grammar of the language, including a phonemic analysis. The approach is Bloomfieldian, and the analysis is done with admirable neatness and thoroughness. It represents the first modern grammatical description of Lisu, and is a rich source of information, lacking only the extensive vocabulary list that makes Fraser so valuable.

These three works, important though they are, nevertheless cover only the northern and central parts of the Lisu geographical area. The Academy of Sciences study describes the dialect of the Salween-Mekong areas in Yünnan; that of Jui, as noted, describes a dialect of the western frontier area of Yünnan; while Fraser claims that the dialect he describes occurs in the Tengyüeh and Löngling districts (China), and Myitkyina, Bhamo and the Northern Shan

States at least. (p. 1).

There was, however, no study of the speech of the southernmost Lisu until 1967, when Nishida Tatsuo of Kyoto University published a short article on what he calls the 'Tak dialect' of Lisu, based on research conducted in the same village where I worked. Although Nishida spent only a very short time with the Lisu, the study is detailed and carefully documented with examples. However, his results differ so widely from my own that, if we had not worked in the same village, I would assume that we had studied different dialects. Having known his informant well, I cannot say that I heard anything in his speech to justify the differences in Nishida's recordings from my own; 11 they appear to me to contain many inaccuracies, and the work should be used with great care.

Finally, there is an article by Edward R. Hope of the Overseas Missionary Fellowship - which I believe is now in press but not yet published - describing the phonology of the Lisu in Chiengrai Province, north Thailand and proposing a Thai orthography for the language. Hope is certainly the Westerner best acquainted with the Lisu; having worked with them for many years, he is, according to Lisu who know him, the most fluent Western speaker of Lisu they have ever met. His study is clear and concise, and not only his phonetic judgment but some of his phonemic solutions agree closely with my own. There are, however, also a number of points of disagreement; some of these are clearly minor dialect differences.

In fact, a younger brother and sister of Nishida's informant are prominent sources of example sentences in the body of this dissertation.

but some require further clarification. In any case, this article is a source of information on Lisu which has been prepared by a man who knows the language extremely well, and whose opinions therefore carry considerable weight.

The present study is based on research carried out in Thailand from September 1965 to August 1967. During those two years I was resident in the Thai Government's Hill Tribe Development Settlement at Doi Musser, Tak Province, near the Burma border and approximately 400 kilometers north northwest of Bangkok (ca. Lat. 16° 40° N, Long. 99° E). The principal informant for the study was Capo Lica (/kyapú lyìkyá/), headman of the Lisu village in the settlement area, but I also sper much time with the other members of the community, and most of the texts on which this analysis is based were recorded by people other than the headman. Within the village there were only very slight dialect differences, and this study can reasonably be taken as representative of the entire community. Although the Tak Lisu were universally agreed that there was no dialect variation with Thailand, I had no opportunity to visit other Lisu and so cannot claim that the dialect described here applies to the whole country. In this respect, I can only follow Nishida and refer to the language of this study as the Tak dialect of Lisu.

As noted at the beginning of the Introduction, Lisu has been identified as a Tibeto-Burman language. More specifically, Shafer (1955) classes Lisu as belonging to the Central Unit of the Lolo branch, Burmish section, Burmic division of the Sino-Tibetan language family, a classification which he repeats in his Introduction to

Sino-Tibetan (1967). Indeed, most observers have long since noted the affinity of Lisu and Burmese, and the association with the Lolo sobgroup is quite generally accepted. While very little detailed comparative study has been done, Burling's comparison of Lisu with Akha and Lahu (1967) is, I believe, enough to establish beyond a doubt that the traditional classification is correct. 12

Nishida claims the first real comparative effort with respect to Lisu: a 1964 article which, unfortunately, I have not seen. Two other comparative studies by Nishida, published in 1968 (see Bibliography), came to my attention too late to be evaluated here.

^{12.} Excluding the early and generally unreliable word lists collected to permit rough comparisons with neighboring languages Burling's monograph constitutes one of a tiny number of comparative
studies which make more than the most passing reference to Lisu.
While there is considerable interesting and important information
in the monograph, a number of its underlying assumptions are such
as to vitiate seriously the value of its results, and it must be
used with extreme care. (For more detailed appreciation, see
Matisoff's review [Language 44:879-97 (1968)].)

Chapter I

Phonology

1.0 Introduction.

In a Lisu utterance two subdivisions are phonologically determined: the syllable and the sentence.

A <u>syllable</u> consists of a stress and the group of elements sharing it; the beginning of a new syllable is marked by the onset of a new stress. A syllable contains a maximum of eight elements; initial consonant, including aspiration where it occurs with voiceless stops and affricates (section 1.1); medial semi-vowel (1.3); nuclear vowel or diphthong (1.4); glottalization (1.5); tone (1.6); falling pitch (1.7); final consonant (1.8); and stress (1.10). Of these elements, only stress occurs in all syllables; minimally, a syllable consists of a vowel plus weak stress.

The <u>sentence</u> is a sequence of syllables which co-occurs with one of three intonation patterns: declarative, interrogative, or abrupt (section 1.11).

The members of the eight syllabic element classes and the intomation patterns are the phonemes of Lisu.

1.1 Initial Consonants.

The initial consonants are outlined in Chart I.1.

^{1.} Throughout this dissertation, a sequence of X's includes, as its minimum form, a sequence of one X.

Chart I.l: Initial Consonants

	Labial	Alveolar	Alveolar /domal	Palatal ²	Velar	Glottal
Stop/Affricate	,3					
Voiceless Aspirated ⁴	ph	th	*ch	[*khy]	kh	
Voiceless Unaspirated	l p	t	*c	[*ky]	k	q
Voiced	Ъ	d	* j	[*gy]	g	
Nasal	m	n		[ny]	ng5	
Spirant						
Voiceless	f		s	[sy]	h	
Voiced	v		z		gh^5	
Lateral		1				
Semivowel	w			У		

^{2.} The palatals, except /y/, are phonemically a cluster of initial consonant plus medial /y/. They are included here in brackets to make clear the existence of a phonetic palatal series in Lisu.

^{3.} Affricates are marked with an asterisk.

^{4.} The conventional digraph with h is used for convenience throughout to represent aspirated initials. The aspirates, however, are considered unit phonemes. They pattern with their voiceless unaspirated and voiced homologues (e.g. /P/ before /ö/ but not before /½/, /C/ before /½/ but not before /ö/), which are clearly unit phonemes. Furthermore, the distribution of aspiration is more economically described in conjunction with the initials than as a medial /h/ with distribution dependent on the initial. In the latter case it would be necessary to set up medial clusters, complicating the syllable structure, and to describe the environments of medial /h/ separately from both initial /h/ and the other initials which occur with aspiration.

^{5.} The digraphs ng and gh are used, like the aspirate digraphs, as a matter of convenience for unit phonemes.

The initial consonants are:

l.l.l Labial:

```
/ph/ voiceless, aspirated, lenis bilabial stop:
        /pha/ [p'a33]6 'float' (as clouds)
/a/
   voiceless, unaspirated, fortis bilabial stop:
        /pa/ [pa33] 'exchange'
    voiced, unaspirated, lenis bilabial stop:
         /ba/ [ba33] 'sunny'
/m/ voiced bilabial nasal:
         /ma/ [ma33] 'ripe'
/f/ voiceless labio-dental spirant:
         /fa/ [fall] 'have a fever'
/v/ voiced labio-dental spirant:
         /wathvl [va55t'ill] 'day (of the month)'
                              from Thai /wan thii/
/w/ voiced bilabial semi-vowel: 7
         /wa/ [wa33] 'winnow'
```

7. In initial position. For medial realizations, see section 1.3.1.

^{6.} In the phonetic representations aspiration is indicated by the single raised tick [']. Tone contours are indicated by raised numbers on a scale from 1 (low) to 5 (high), or, rarely, 6 under emphatic stress (section 1.10.3). Stress and intonation are marked only in example sentences; as citation forms, all other examples have strong stress and declarative intonation.

1.1.2 Alveolar:

- /th/ voiceless, aspirated, lenis apico-alveolar stop:
 /tha/ [t'a33] 'here'
- /t/ voiceless, unaspirated, fortis apico-alveolar stop:

 /ta/ [ta⁵⁵] *be at (a place; of things)*
- /d/ voiced, unaspirated, lenis apico-alveolar stop:

 /da/ [da33] *able*
- /n/ voiced apico-alveolar nasal: with medial /y/, lamino-prepalatal:

/l/ voiced apico-alveolar lateral; 9
/la/ [la³³] 'come'

1.1.3 Alveolar/domal: 10

/ch/ voiceless, aspirated, lenis affricate; apicoalveolar before /i, a, o/, slightly retracted before /e/, markedly retracted (apico-domal,

^{8.} The subscript y in the phonetics represents a very short [i] glide; see section 1.3.2.1.

^{9.} Unlike /n/, /1/ is not palatalized before medial /y/.

^{10.} The alveolar/domal affricates are phonetically [ts ~ ts ~ ts], etc. Since, however, [s] and [z] occur as second member of a cluster only with [t] and [d], and since the articulatory position of both elements in a cluster is the same in a given syllable (i.e. both apico-alveolar, both apico-domal, etc.), they are treated as unit initials. In the phonetics, slight retraction is indicated with an arrow head under the consonant, marked retraction with a subscript dot.

but not retroflexed) before /w, u/s /cha/ [ts'a33] 'hot' /che/ [ts m1] 11 'lead' (metal) /chwa/ [ts'uass] 'naughty' /c/ voiceless, unaspirated fortis affricate; allophones distributed as for /ch/, except that before /o/ apico-alveolar and apico-domal allophones are in free variation: /ca/ [tsa³³] 'boil' (water) /ca/ [tsm33] 'contend for ownership' /cwa/ [tsma33] 'scrape into a heap' /c6/ [tso⁵⁵] ~ [tso⁵⁵] 'reflect' /j/ voiced, unaspirated, lenis affricate; allophones distributed as for /ch/: /ja/ [dza³³] 'rice' /jàlàlà/ [dzwlllwlllw21] l2 'grouped or bunched parallel' /jwa/ [dzua33] 'help' /s/ voiceless spirant; with medial /y/, laminoprepalatal; with /wi/, retracted (apico-domal); elsewhere apico-alveolar groove spirant:

ll. In the phonetics, vowel articulation differing from the cardinal position usually associated with a symbol is indicated with an arrow head below the symbol, the point of the arrow indicating the direction of deviation, with left representing the front. right the back of the mouth. Thus [a] indicates a vowel raised and backed from [a] position; /ij indicates lowering from [i] position, etc.

^{12.} The underlining of a vowel in both phonemics and phonetics indicates that it is glottalized; see section 1.5.

/z/ voiced apico-alveolar groove spirant: 14

1.1.4 Palatal: 15

/y/ voiced high front unrounded semi-vowel: 16

1.1.5 Palatal/velar: 17

- 13. The small raised circle in the phonetics marks lip protrusion; see section 1.3.1.1.
- Phonemes /s/ and /z/ differ considerably in their allophonic distribution from the alveolar/domal affricates: /z/ has no retracted allophone; retracted /s/ occurs in fewer invironments than the retracted affricates. The spirants are here separated from the simple alveolars because they are followed by the same allophone of $/\frac{1}{2}$ / as the affricates, while the simple alveolars occur with the rounded and prelabilized allophone of $/\frac{1}{2}$ / see below, sections 1.3.1.1 and 1.3.1.3.
- 15. Palatals /ny/ and /sy/ have already been described (sections 1.1.2 and 1.1.3). The palatal affricate series appears in the next section.
- 16. In initial position. For medial realizations, see section 1.3.2.
- 17. The palatal affricates are treated as /Ky/ clusters to show the palatal-velar neutralization before high and mid front vowels, and to avoid making an arbitrary choice of representation for each syllable involving these elements (see tolow, section 1.3.2.3 and 1.4.1, particularly footnotes 31 and 32). In this environment, the palatal nasal and spirant show markedly different distributional relationships from the affricates. The palatal nasal is in complementary distribution with both alveolar [n] and velar [n] before high and mid front vowels. But [n] occurs in this environment only in one morpheme: [ne31] 'isn't it so?', while palatal and alveolar nasals occur here frequently, palatal before [i, ü], alveolar before [e, ö]. This limitation of [n] is to be contrasted with the distribution of the alveolar stops,

/kh/ voiceless, aspirated, lenis consonant; with medial /y/, lamino-prepalatal affricate; elsewhere dorso-velar stop, except that with /yi/, velar and palatal allophones are in free variation:

/kha/ [k'a³³] 'have sexual intercourse' (vulgar)

/khyã/ [tʃ',a²⁴] 'crossbow' /khyì/ [tʃ',i¹¹ ~ k'i¹¹ ~ tʃ',e¹¹ ~ k'e¹¹]

/k/ voiceless, unaspirated, fortis consonant; allophones distributed as for /kh/:

/ka/ [ka⁵⁵] 'stab'

/kyā/ [t∫_ya³³] 'ginger'

/kyf/ [t∫_yi⁵⁵ ~ ki⁵⁵ ~ t∫_ye⁵⁵ ~ ke⁵⁵]

'clear' (a field)

/g/ voiced, unaspirated, lenis consonant; allophones distributed as for /kh/:

/gz/ [ga³³] 'convex' /gyz/ [dʒ, a³³] 'cold' /gyz/ [dʒ, i³³ ~ gi³³ ~ dʒ, e³³ ~ ge³³] 'go'

which occur with both [i] and [e], where the vowels contrast: [ti⁵⁵] 'pound; bet', [te⁵⁵] 'replace, represent'. The interrelationship of palatal and alveolar nasal is marked in the transcription by treating the former as a cluster of alveolar plus /y/. Similarly, before front vowels the palatal spirant is in complementary distribution with dental [s], which does not occur in this environment. Furthermore, palatal [j] is in contrast with the glottal allophone of /h/ before medial /y/, where /hy/ is phonetic [hy]. The sequence /sy/ is therefore used for the palatal spirant.

18. The further problem of vowel contrast neutralization is dealt with under front Vowels, section 1.4.1.

```
1.1.6 Velars
```

1.1.7 Velar/glottal:

/h/ voiceless spirant; velar before /e, a, u, w/, 19
glottal (voiceless vowel) before /i, e, ö/ and
nasal vowels; 20

1.1.8 Glottal:

19. In two recent Thai loans, [h] occurs before unnasalized /e/:

[həx⁵⁴] a sound for driving cattle

[he24 he24] a sound for calling cattle

As cattle were only recently introduced by the Thai to the Lisu at Tak as part of a Government development program, I assume that these forms are not present in the speech of most Lisu elsewhere.

20. When both /w/ and a nasalized vowel follow initial /h/, the initial is represented by the glottal allophone: /hwun/ [hyullumination of the control of th

1.1.9 Zero:

Zero initial occurs before vowels /a/ and /u/ only:

/atu/ [a⁵⁵to⁵⁵] 'fire'

/agyā/ [a³³dʒ,a³³] 'water'

/amya/ [ð mia⁵⁵] 'much, many'

/4:/ [c.⁵⁵³]²¹ 'ch!'

1.2 Syllabic Resonants.

The nasals /m, n, ng/ and the lateral /l/ occur not only as initials, but also as syllabic nuclei either resulting from the reduction of full syllables under weak stress, or in certain loan words which have final nasal in the source language. Syllabic resonants precede another syllable within a word; they are weak stressed and short.

a) Syllabic resonants from syllable reduction:

^{21.} The breve and the raised dot in the phonetics mark a syllable peak which is, respectively, shorter or longer than one under normal stress.

^{22.} In the phonetics, the raised <u>z</u> with [\(\frac{1}{2}\)] indicates co-articulated apico-alveolar friction; see section 1.4.2.

^{23.} The single raised tick preceding a syllable in both phonemics and phonetics marks emphatic stress; see section 1.10.3.

^{24.} This is a form of reduplication; see section 2.10.2.1.

/'bollo/ ['bo33 131033] 'very fat' < /bololo/

b) Syllabic resonants from loan words with final nasal:

/thanc \mathbb{I} / [t'all \mathbb{I} ts $\dot{\mathbb{I}}$ ²³³]

'earthenware jar' < Chinese $/tandz/^{25}$

 $/namsus \frac{1}{2}/[na^{51}m^{2}so^{33}s \pm^{211}]^{26}$

'orange' (fruit) < Thai /namsôm/ 'orange juice'²⁵

25. Even when the original syllable or final nasal is not low tone, the weak-stressed reduced form is regularly low tone with the nasals, although syllabic /l/ occurs with other tones.

The first reduction is normally to /m/ whatever the form of the original syllable (in faster conversation there is assimilation, see below). The three exceptions to this rule are:

/hcl/ 'button' < /nylcl/

and the loans:

/thancle 'earthenware jar' < Chinese /tandz/ (same)

/yinangkyi/ 'flavor' < Thai /námcim/ 'sauce' none of which occurs with syllabic /m/, although the last does alternate with a form lacking the nasal: /yinakyi/.

In citing loan words, I use the Yale system of romanization for Chinese sources (as in Gardner Tewksbury, 'Speak Chinese') and the Mary Haas transcription for Thai (as in her Thai-English Student's Dictionary'). Although Chinese berrowings are from Munnanese rather than Feking Mandarin, I have no record of the former, and the forms cited in Peking pronunciation provide a reasonably close approximation for the most part.

26. On the tone of the first syllable, see below.

At normal conversational speed, syllabic resonants are usually assimilated to the position of the following initial, 27 e.g.:

/mkhyl/ 'stomach' > /m t
$$\int_{\dot{y}}^{1} i^{11} \sim m k'i^{11}$$
] etc.
/bamtu/ 'chin' > /ball m to³³]

When a syllabic resonant is preceded by a syllable within the word, if the tone of the latter is in high or mid range, and the resonant is low tone, the tone contour of the first syllable is altered at conversational speed to end in a fall to low pitch:

In rapid speech, internal syllabic resonants such as those just cited are unstressed and lose their syllabicity to become final nasals in the preceding syllable; in such cases, however, tone contour changes, if any, associated with the weak stressed form remain. Such forms thus have a variety of pronunciations depending on the speed of production.

^{27.} There are three apparent exceptions to this rule, as opposed to 37 items in my data which assimilate. It is possible that I simply did not notice assimilation in these forms when it took place, but where it is clear for all the other items, I have no record of having heard it in:

Slow Speech Normal Speech Rapid Speech

/áthà hwāngu [-xua³³ m² go²] [-xua³¹ n² go²] [-xua³¹ n² go²]

'knife with a hooked blade'

/bàmtu/ [ba¹¹ m² tơ³³] [ba¹¹ n² tơ³³] [ban¹¹ tơ³³]

'chin'

/nyāmphwū/ [n¸a²⁴ m² p¹ fu³³] [n¸a²⁴¹ m² fu³³] [n¸am²⁴¹ p¹ fu³³]

'hornbill'

1.3 Medials.

Only /w/ and /y/ occur medially in Lisu. In this position their phonetic realizations differ greatly from those associated with their occurrence as initials. In many instances they are realized as components of the preceding consonant, of the following vowel, or as long components spanning both.

1.3.1 Medial /w/:

1.3.1.1 Realizations

Medial /w/ has three types of realization:
before /i/ after labial or dental consonant and before /u/ it is a
labio-dental spirant, voiceless after aspirated consonant, beginning
voiceless but shifting to voiced after voiceless unaspirated
consonant, and fully voiced after voiced consonant;

^{28.} The <u>v</u> with subscript circle indicates a medial beginning voiceless but shifting to voiced.

```
/ngwu/ [nyu33] 'cry'

/fwu/ [fu33] 'bottle'

/vwu/ [vu33] 'size'

/bw2/ [bvw11] 'loud'

/mw2/ [mvw11] 'land, country, city'

/vi2/ [ii55fw55] 'foam'

/vw1/ [vw11] 'count; read'

/tw1/ [tyw55] 'bury'

/lw2/ [lvw55] 'remove (clothes)'
```

Before /if after alveolar/domal affricate it is realized as lip protrusion throughout the syllable (see sections 1.3.1.2 and 1.3.1.3).

Elsewhere it is a bilabial semi-vowel:

/khwå/ [k'
$$ua^{11}$$
] 'bitter'
/chwå/ [ts' ua^{55}] 'naughty'

1.3.1.2 Effect on preceding consonants:

Before medial /w/, the alveolar/domal affricates occur in the retracted (apico-domal) allophone. /s/ is retracted only before /w±/. Both affricates and /s/ occur with marked lip protrusion before /w±/.

/chwa/ [ts'ua⁵⁵] 'naughty'
/chwu/ [ts'fu³³] 'burn'
/swa/ [s'y³³] 'die'

cf. /swu/ [svu³³] 'lose' (a contest)

Elsewhere, medial /w/ does not affect the initial consonant.

1.3.1.3 Effect on following vowels:

Medial /w/ affects the allophonic choice of the vowels /u/ and $/\frac{1}{2}/\epsilon^{29}$

Following medial /w/, the vowel /u/ is upper-high back rounded:

/gwu/ [gvu³³] 'finish' /ehwu/ [ts'fu³³] 'burn' /thwu/ [t'fu³³] 'thick' /pwu/ [pyu¹¹] 'grow fat'

Following medial /w/ after labial or dental initial, the vowel $\frac{1}{4}$ is high central rounded:

Following medial /w/ after retracted affricate or spirant, the vowel $/\frac{1}{2}$ is high central unrounded (slightly lower than upper high) with marked lip protrusions 30

^{29.} For the full allophonic range of these vowels see sections 1.4.2 and 1.4.3.

^{20.} Protrusion differs from rounding in that it involves marked horizontal extension of the lips outward, and the resultant aperture is far larger than that characteristic of rounding.

1.3.2 Medial /y/:

1.3.2.1 Realizations:

Medial /y/ has three phonetic realizations:

After /k, kh, g, n. s/, medial /y/ is realized both in palatalization of the preceding consonant and as a very short [i] glide
between the consonant and the following vowel. However, after
/k, kh, g/ before /i/, where the velar and palatal allophone of
the initial are in free variation, the [i] glide is not present
after the velar allophone:

After other initial consonants before /i/, medial /y/ is realized only in its effect on the vowel (see section 1.3.2.3).

Elsewhere, /medial /y/ is a high front unrounded semi-vowels

1.3.2.2 Effect on preceding consonants:

Modial /y/ affects only initial /k, kh, g, n, s/,

as described in the preceding section.

1.3.2.3 Effect on following vowels:

Medial /y/ affects the allophonic choice of vowels /i/ and /o/. After medial /y/, both vowels are raised to high position, axcept that after /ky, khy, gy, sy/ the high and mid allophones of both are in free variation³¹ (see also Front Vowels, section 1.4.1).

only over the initial consonant: $[t\int_y e]$

only over the vowel: [ki]

over both consonant and vowel: [tf_i]

or over neither: [ke]

The last possibility, in which the /y/ is written but not phonetically realized even as a long component, is not a particularly satisfactory phonemicization, but its weakness may, perhaps, at least be said to reflect Lisu structure in that the realization [Ke] is far less common than [Ki], $[T]_y$ i], or $[T]_y$ e], all of which occur frequently.

^{31.} Thus, in a syllable such as /kyi/ 'clear' (a field), medial /y/ can be said to be a phonemic long component extending

1.4 Vowels:

In outline, the vowels of Lisu are:

Chart I.2: Vowels

	Front unrounded	Front rounded	Central rounded and unrounded	Back rounded	
High			≛		
Mid	i	ö	Э	u	
Low	e		a	0	

1.4.1 Front vowels:

/i/ upper-mid unrounded vowel; raised to high position after /y/, except that mid and high allophones are in free variation after initial /y/ and /ky, khy, gy, sy/; 32 /i/ and /yi/ are frequently (but unsystematically) in free variation after alveolar initial; raised to lower-high position as diphthong off-glide or when nasalized:

^{32.} In this complicated double neutralization (of both palatal-velar contrast and high-mid front vowel centrast) some forms whow a tendency toward the use of particular consonant and/or vowel allophones, but only in three cases is such a tendency carried through consistently: 1) when the initial is aspirated and the tone is mid-rising, the pronunciation [tʃ,e²⁴] is regular. 2) When a syllable is shortened and ends in glottal stop, as with certain of the intonations, the vowel: allophone [x] is regular.

3) Before masalized /i/, the palatal allophone of these initials occurs: /khyinkyán/ [tʃ,x̄55tʃ,x̄55] 'adoptive sibling' Elsewhere, the variations appear almost entirely random.

```
/thì/ [t'ell] ~ /thyì/ [t'il] 'one'33

but {
    /tyi/ [ti55] 'pound, beat'
    /tf/ [te55] 'represent'
    /hīn/ [hī33] 'house'
    /pāi/ [peī33] 'differ'

/e/ low unrounded vowel:
    /syà phè/ [ʃyallp'æll] 'suffocate'

/ö/ upper-mid rounded vowel; raised to high position
    after medial /y/, except that high and mid
    allophones are in free variation after /ky, gy, sy/;
    the lower allophone occurs after /khy/; 34

    /phö/ [p'öll] 'swell up'
    /phyö/ [p'üll] 'become'

/yö/ [iöll] 'use'
/gyö/ [dʒyöll ~ dʒyüll] 'swear' (an oath)
/khyö/ [t∫yöll] 'speak'
```

34. Parallel to /i/, when a syllable with vowel /ö/ occurs shortened and ends in a glottal stop, the allophone [v] is regular.

There is also one problematic case of contrast between [v] and [v] after a palatal initial:

[t'elld3, \ddot{u}^{33}] 'one pair'
[t'elld3, \ddot{u}^{33}] 'one shortened stick-like thing'

(as a worn down pencil or a bamboo stalk with the top cut off). The pair is the only one in my data to show such a contrast, as opposed to over 100 forms without contrast after palatal initial. It was elicited late in my stay in Thailand, and I had no opportunity to check to see whether members of the village other than my informant had contrast here. It is a unique pair in the corpus which requires further investigation.

^{33.} For convenience, the form /thi/ is used hereafter; of section 2.4.1.1.

1.4.2 Central vowels:

/i/ high central vowel:

unrounded - after alveolar affricate or spirant,

very high with co-articulated apico-alveolar

friction; after domal initial plus /w/, somewhat

lower, with marked lip protrusion, but without

friction:

/chł/ [ts*±²¹¹] 'wash'
/sł/ [s±²¹¹] 'choke on'
/chwł/ [t°s°*±⁰¹¹] 'borrow'
/swł/ [s°±°³³] 'die'

rounded - after labial and alveolar consonant plus $/w/\iota^{35}$

/phwł/ [p'fwl] 'obey' /dwł/ [dwwl] 'dig'

/a/ upper-mid rear-central unrounded vowel after labial and velar initial and glottal stop:

higher and backer after alveolar or alveolar/domal initial:

/də/ [dm11] 'beat'

^{35. /4/} does not occur with the velars.

/chə/ [ts'wl] 'lead' (metal)
/sə/ [sw55] 'know'

/a/ low central unrounded vowel:

/pha/ [p'all] 'wet'

in atonic syllables, when word initial, raised to mid central position:

/mapha/ [mɔ̃¹p¹a¹¹] 'not wet'

as diphthong offglide: 36

after /ō/, raised and fronted to mid front
position:

/phoa/ [p'oɛll3] 'to swell up'
after rounded allophone of /i/, raised and fronted
to upper-low front position:

/phwan/ [p'famil3] 'to obey'
elsewhere, raised to mid central position:
/phia/ [p'epl13] 'to be smooth'
/phwan/ [p'fupl13] 'to bloom'

1.4.3 Back vowels:

/u/ upper-mid rounded vowel, tending to be raised to lower-high position in high and mid range tones, except following domal affricate; upper-mid as diphthong off-glide; after medial /w/ raised to upper-high position:

^{36.} In very slow speech (e.g. in making examples 'clear' for me) these offglides are regularly pronounced [a].

```
/wiphi/ [wu55p's11] 'uncle'

/wiphi/ [wu33p's11] 'bear' (animal)

/wiphyi/ [wo11p'is11] 'vegetable'

/kiki/ [ku55ku33] 'older brother'

/ju/ [dzo33] 'have'

/pi/ [po11] 'open out'

/phu/ [p'o24] 'turn over'

/kwi/ [kyu55] 'hire'

/phwi/ [p'fu11] 'bloom'

/yingi/ [ii55nc11] 'language'

/syau/ [yac33] 'gunpowder'

/o/ low rounded vowel:

/pô/ [po11] 'control'
```

1.4.4 Diphthongs:

In this analysis, <u>diphthongs</u> are vowel sequences in which the first member is more prominent than the second. Phonetic diphthongs involving initial or medial /w/ or /y/ are analyzed as a combination of consonant plus vowel. Diphthongs are written with vowel symbols only.

Three kinds of diphthong occur: 37

a) All mid and high range vowels plus /a/:

^{37.} For the allophones of /a, i, u/ as diphthong offglides, see above, sections 1.4.1-3.

```
/thīthìjšamī/ [t'e33t'e11dzizəl13ma33]

'one of this kind'

/thìlĩa:/ [t'e11le242] 'the same'

/gua/ [go213] 'to be crooked'

cf. /gwa/ [gua33] 'there'

/myākhyle/ [mia33k'iəl1 ~ mia33tʃ;iəl1] etc.

'small child'
```

b) All vowels, except /i/, plus /i/:

c) All vowels plus /u/:

1.4.5 Nasalization:

Vowel masalization is represented in the transcription by syllable-final /n/; it is described under Final Consonants, section 1.8.

1.5 Glottalization.

In low and low rising tones, all vowels occur glottalized as well as plain. The glottalization begins with the first vowel anset

^{38.} On /8/ 'abrupt intonation', see section 1.11.2.

in a syllable and continues to the end of the syllable. Low level syllables are short and end in glottal stop. Glottalization is represented in the transcription by underlining the nuclear vowel.

1.6 Tone.

Lisu has six tones:

A high falling tone syllable is regularly short; in isolation it ends in a glottal stop. High and low level tones in isolation frequently, but not regularly, exhibit the same shortening and glottal stop final. The rising tones in isolation are longer and not stopped, with the low rising tone markedly longer than the others.

Where rising tone occurs with diphthongs, the additional length is in the vowel offglide.

Atonic syllables are not marked for tone in the transcription. They are regularly weak stressed and short. Such syllables are either the initial syllable of a word, where the pitch of the syllable is low before a low or mid tone syllable, mid before a high time syllable:

or one of the last syllables in a sentence, in which case the syllable is low tone. In this position, sequences of atonic syllables also occur, with all syllables low tone:

nom = nominalizer
partic = particularizer
emph = emphatic

In the colloquial translations, clarifying English words which do not appear in the Lisu original are enclosed in parentheses.

^{39.} On the position of sentence intonation in the utterance, see sections 1.10.1, footnote 50, and 4.2.3.2, footnote 19. When example sentences are cited, a morpheme by morpheme translation is given in parentheses before the colloquial translation in single quotation marks. In the first translation, word boundaries are indicated by space, morpheme boundaries within a word by the equals sign. When more than one English word is needed to translate a single Lisu morpheme, the English words are joined by the hyphen. In these translations the following abbreviations are used:

1.6.1 Allophones:

High and mid range tones have allophones ending in a fall to low pitch before syllabic resonants; see section 1.2.

Other tones do not show allophonic variation.

1.6.2 Morphophonemics: 40

ments: with emphatic stress, with verbs in certain syntactic positions, with certain numerals, and with the noun /ngwā/ 'I'.

1.6.2.1 Tone morphophonemics with emphatic stress:

When a mid or low tone syllable occurs with

emphatic stress, its pitch is frequently raised to high tone level.

/'gwothinyla - / ['guo 55 t'el' f, igo333]41

(that=emph=one=day=partic -)

'that day ...'

cf. normal stressed /gwo / [guo 33] 'that'

/dwłyla; beghenya, 'tima azu?/ [... 'te55 xuo 3 5 zo']

(enter=go=nom? say=to=as-for, this=emph=time we)

'Is it going in (the tape recorder) when we speak this time?'

^{40.} The only generalized morphophonemic alternations in Lisu are the first two types described here. Otherwise, only particular morphemes show morphophonemic alternations, as in the last two subheadings in this section, which are included here to complete the picture of tonal morphophonemics. Other morphophonemic alternations are described as the morphemes with which they occur are discussed in the text.

^{41.} The hyphen spaced out between words in both phonemics and phonetics marks 'suspensive intonation'; see section 1.11.4.

cf. normal stressed /thī/ [t'e33] 'this'
Here, not only is the pitch of /thī/ 'this' raised, but the aspiration
is lost. In this connection it is noteworthy that the increased
tenseness associated with the unaspirated initial is also present
with emphatic stress.

Compare also:

/azù thì ng ne./ [a33 zoll ta lll xo lll no33 næ 3]
(we together mph are mph.)

'We are really together.'

Here /tahm/ 'together' retains its normal-stress low tone even with emphatic stress.

1.6.2.2 Tone morphophonemics with verbs:

Some Lisu verbs show an alternation of tone depending on the syntactic position within an utterance. 42 The tone of the verb in isolation is its basic tone; the alternant tone is its final tone, which occurs only if the verb is last in its phrase. 43

^{42.} The conditions are described in detail in section 4.5.

^{43.} For illustration here, the isolated form is used for basic tone, the citation form used by the Lisu for final tone. The first is the form in which I usually cite verbs in this study, but my informant regularly cited them with final tone and/or final particle /-a/, that is nominalized. With verbs having nuclear diphthong or low vowel, no /a/ offglide occurs (cf. 1.4.4a), but the tone alternations are present as with other verbs. For full discussion of this nominalization construction and the relationship between final tone and the particle /-a/, see section 4.5.

The alternations are:

a) Basic low-level tone alternates with final low-rising tone:

b) The basic mid-level tone of some verbs alternates with final mid-rising tone:

c) The basic mid-level tone of some verbs alternates with final high-level tone:

d) With verbs having basic high-level or mid-rising tone, basic and final tones coincide:

There are no verbs with basic low-rising or high-falling tone.

1.6.2.3 Tone morphophonemics with numerals:

The numerals /sa-/ 'three', /lyi-/ 'four', and /kwi-/ 'nine' have allomorphs /sa-/, /lyi-/, and /kwi-/ respectively in combination with following syllables in certain tones, e.g.:

/sakhul/ [sa33k'ol1] '3 years'

but: /sazu/ [sall zo33] three individuals

/lyTkhu/ [li33k'ol1] 'four years'

but: /lyfzu/ [li55 zo33] 'four individuals'

/kwukhu/ [kyu33k'ol1] 'nine years'

but: /kwizu/ [kyu⁵⁵zo³³] 'nine individuals'

The numeral /thl-/ 'one' has an allomorph /-tyl/ after unmodified /chl-/ 'ten's

/chaty1/ 'eleven' [ts'*233ti55]

1.6.2.4 Tone morphophonemics with /ngwa/:

The noun /ngwā/ 'I' changes to mid-rising tone in attributive position before another noun, or, frequently, in goal position in the clause: 45

/ngwā ámyl jūa./ [η ua³³ a⁵⁵ mi¹¹ dzog²⁴] (I daughter have=nom.)

'I have a daughter'

but: /ngwa anyl jwa./ [nwa²⁴ a⁵⁵ mi¹¹ dzog²⁴]

(my daughter have=nom.)

'My daughter has (it).'

^{44.} The full conditions are described in section 2.4.1.1.4.

^{45.} Attribution is discussed in section 2.1, the goal in 4.2.1.3.

1.6.3 Neutralization:

Neutralization of tone contrast occurs in atonic syllables (see section 1.6) and in conjunction with exaggerated emphatic stress (section 1.10.4).

1.7 Falling Pitch.

The phoneme of falling pitch, represented by the colon at the end of a syllable, occurs with high-level, mid-level, and mid-rising tones and causes the end of the tone so modified to fall from its normal contour to a pitch two levels lower, i.e. [55-3], [33-1], [24-2]. It is regularly accompanied by lengthening of a simple vowel; diphthongs are not lengthened. 46

^{46.} In some instances, this phenomenon occurs as a result of contraction of a low tone syllable with a preceding syllable in a higher tone, e.g. /chupā:/ 'man' from /chupāzā/, /thulā:/ 'rabbit' from /thulāzā/, where the /-zā/ 'diminutive' is an adjectival modifier. In other cases, however, the forms are not contractions; e.g., the discontinuous morpheme /phā (+ verb + /-a/ +):/ 'to be about to; to be just beginning', as in the first three of the following examples.

/thìhôn; / [t'ellh5°553] 'equal' /'jô; jō/ [dzo°553dzo33] 'way over there'

/i/ is frequently associated with emphatic stress (as in the last example above), in which case a vowel is sometimes extended to two or three times its normal length. Nevertheless, the construction falls under a single stress and is therefore one syllable. These forms are distinguished from constructions in which a non-initial vowel in a word begins a new syllable, as well as from words containing a syllabic resonant. In the latter two types the presence of a separate stress is indicated by a tone sign over the vowel or resonant in question.

/mala'd. nwd malau./
[malas' co⁵⁵³ nvu³³ malag?]

(not=come=new-situation=emph. you not=come=new-situation.)

'(You) won't come any more. You won't come again.'

Here the verb particle /-u/ 'change-of-state, new situation' '47, which

normally forms a diphthong with the preceding vowel (as in the second

instance above), forms a separate syllable with emphatic stress and

high tone.

/nombl/ [no 51 m 1 be 33] 'earthenware jar' Shortened from /nohobl/, in which /noho/ means 'earth'.

^{47.} Discussed in section 5.4.1.2, q.v.

1.8 Final Consonants.

Only /n/ and /ng/ occur as syllable-final consonants, 48 /ng/ as phonetic [n], /n/ representing masalization of the preceding vocalic elements.

1.8.1 Final /n/:

Nasalization occurs in syllables with vowels /i, e, a, u, o/ and diphthengs in which one of these vowels is nuclear. Since nasalization extends over all vocalic elements in a syllable, \underline{n} is written at the end of the syllable, even when there are two morphemes present, as in the second and next to last examples below. 49

- 48. Phonemically, that is. Phonetically, all masals and [1] occur as syllable-final, either as a result of unstressing and assimilation of syllabic resonants (section 1.2) or from assimilation of final /ng/ (section 1.8.2).
- 49. When final n immediately precedes an initial y or w, a hyphen is inserted in the transcription to distinguish the form from one with initial ny or nw, e.g.:

There is no example in my data of a masslised syllable preceding g, but the same device would serve if such a situation occurs.

/yfbwł qón/ [ii⁵⁵bwe¹¹?5⁵⁵] 'smell, stink'

/han/ [hapa 'hate'

/han/ [hapa 'lapa 'to hate'

/hanhain: baja/ [haan hapa 'saada 'hanhain: baja/ [haan saada 'hanhain: baja/ [haan saada 'hanhain: baja/ [haan saada 'saada 'hanhain: baja/ [haan saada 'haan saada 'h

1.8.2 Final /ng/:

/ng/ occurs syllable finally with extreme rarity.

Internally it occurs as the final consonant in a single morpheme
/gyIng-/ 'very, very much', an intensive prefix to a limited number
of adverbial nouns with meanings involving confusion, disorder,
destruction, and the like.

At normal conversational speed, this final /ng/ is assimilated to the position of the following initial (as in the second alternant of the last three examples), so that in practice final $[\eta]$ occurs in this morpheme only before velar initial, except in slow, careful speech.

Before pause, syllable-final /ng/ occurs in my data only in the form /beng/ [ben] 'sound of a dragon's tail striking the ground.'

1.9 Permitted Sequences.

The distribution charts on the following pages show the co-occurrence limitations of initials, medials, and nuclear vowels (including masalized vowels). Diphthongs whose nuclear vowel occurs with a given initial are also permitted sequences with that initial. Initial /w/ and /y/ are listed in the lefthand column with the other initials; medial /w/ and /y/ are shown in combination with vowels across the top row.

1.10 Stress.

The syllable occurs with one of four degrees of stress: weak, normal, emphatic, or exaggerated emphatic.

1.10.1 Weak stress:

Weak stress occurs with atonic syllables and with syllabic resonants. The former are unmarked for tone, the latter include all consonants marked for tone.

The semi-colon is written only after the main verb phrase in a sentence with a secondary topic (.2.3.2). It marks both the location of the sentence intonation (1.11.1-3) and the start of the secondary topic. See also section 4.2.3.2, footnote 15.

^{50.} The comma is used as a visual aid to separate isolatives (section 4.2.3.1) and topic or coordinate clauses from the main clause in a sentence (4.4.2.3 and 5.1.1). It does not represent a phonelogical phenomenon.

Chart I:3: Permitted Sequences

	i	е	ö	÷	Э	a	מ	0	уi	ув	УÖ	ya	yan	Ϋ́
ph	×	x	x		x	x	x	x	x		x	x		x
p	x	x	x		x	×	x	x	×		X	X		x
þ	x	x	x		x	x	x		x		x	x		
10	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	x		x	x		-
ĩ		Z			*	*		-						_
٧	x	x				x		1	x					
w	х	x				x	x	1						
th	x	x	x		×	x	x	x	x					
t	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	x			/- yuu	/	
d	x	x	x		x	x	x		X				1	
n	x	x	x		x	ж	x	x	x	x	x	x		
1	x	×	x		x	x	x	x	x			x		_
ch				x	x	x	x	x	- 1 - 1					
c		!		x	x	×	x	x				i		
j				x	x	x	х	x						†
s			!	X	x	x	x	x	x		x	x		
Z			!	x		x	x							
y	x		x		•	x	x	×	1					
kh		:		1	×	x	×	×	x	x	×	×	•	1
k		х			x	x	x	x	x	x	x	×		7
g	+		+	-	x	x	x		x	-	x	×		
ng	x				x	x	x	×						
ħ	x	x	x		x	x	X	i					x	+-
gh		 			×	x								
q	x	x	x		x	x	x	x	x				x	
ø		 	+	+-	-	x	x	 	1		-		 	+

Chart I.3: Permitted Sequences (cont'd)

	wi	MŢ	WÖ	W±	Wa	MI	wun	MO	in	ən	an	un	OI
ph				x		x							
p				x		x					x	:	
b				x		x							
1				x		×						x	
Î	×			<u> </u>		Ŧ							
٧				x		x							
W						† 					x	Total Control	
th	х			x		x							
t	x		 	х		x							
d	 			x		x							
n			•	x		x	,						
1				x		x					i		
ch		x		x	x	x					ж		
c				x	x	x					X	х	
j			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	x	x	x							
3	x			x	x	x					x	x	7
Z	 				X	X		†			:	-	
y						i					x		7
kh	x	x	:		x	x	!	:			x		-
k	x	x		 	x	x						x	
g			x		x	X		x					
ng	x				x	x							
h	x	 			x	5	X	:	X	X	X	x	2
gh				 		1		1			1		
q						1			x	x		x	:
ø		-	 		†	 		1	1	1	+	+	+

With the short vowels and low tones in this sentence, compare the same morphemes under normal stress:

1.10.2 Normal Stress:

Syllables, other than syllabic resonants, which are marked for tone but not preceded by an emphatic stress marker (1.10.3-4) occur with normal stress. All monosyllabic examples in earlier sections of this chapter are under normal stress.

```
/ngwā né syőzā./

(I you=with-respect-to concerned-about=nom.)

'I'm concerned about you.'

/ngwā bābàhā - nwū bābà khwūwangū./

(my father=contrast - you father call=get-to=is-so.)

'As for my father, you can call (him) "father".'

/lyīswū nwū kanya thìhwā gàyī, jo phalàngū sū./

(Lisu you after one=time follow=go, there occidental=language study.)

'(If we)Lisu once go with you, (we'll) study English there.' [i.e. in America]
```

1.10.3 Emphatic stress:

Emphatic stress is represented by a single raised tick preceding a syllable with which it occurs. In syllables under emphatic stress, the vowel is frequently lengthened and the pitch

^{51.} The loss of initial aspiration under emphatic stress is discussed in section 1.6.2.1.

of the syllable raised to high tone or slightly higher. Before pause, with /./ 'declarative intonation', an emphatic stressed syllable ends with an extended fall in pitch. Emphatic stress also occurs as a determined feature of abrupt intonation (/1/), in which case the syllable affected is short and ends in glottal stop (see section 1.11.2). A syllable preceding an emphatic stressed syllable within a word is regularly shortened and frequently atonic.

/swf'swfa: kaa, dw, ngE?/ [sego 5 so 20 20 20 664 kag33...]
(slow=slow=partic=emph put-in=nom, drink, is-so?)

'Take your time pouring and drinking, won't you?'

cf. under normal stress: /sw#sfa:/ [sº4º 55 sº4º 653].

/a'ty1 kea./ [3'ti.555 kgel]

(a-little=emph put-in=nom.)

'(I'll) only put in a tiny bit.'

cf. under normal stress /aty1/[3ti55]. The reduction of the main werb to atonic status is a unique example in my data.

/'gwothlnyla - / ['gno 55 t'ell n, ia 333] (that=emph=one=day=partic -)

'That day

cf. under normal stress: /gwo/ [gro33].

/azu 'ta'hu ngune./ [a33zoll ta.ll xo.ll no33n#?]

(we together emph are emph.)

'We are really together.'

cf. under normal stress: /taha/ [taixoii].

/khy11/ [*tʃ:,8734] (flee=emph!)

'Get out of here!' 'Scram!'

cf. under normal stress; /khyī/ [tʃ*.e24].

1.10.4 Exaggerated emphatic stress:

exaggerated emphatic stress is indicated with a double raised tick immediately preceding a syllable with which it occurs. It differs from emphatic stress in that vowel lengthening is extreme, and the raising of pitch level is extended to the point of using falsatto voice. 52

/amli yī manā, kā nā; ngwanwuha./

[a^{33 w}le·· \int ii³³ mā na³³ ka³³ na³³ mā nvữ xã]

(how=emph do not=can, put-in can, we=contrast)

'There was nothing we could do but put (some more liquor) in (our cups).

cf. under normal stress: /ali/ [a33le33].

/zānö, āsyā "tukyā./
[za¹¹nö³³a¹¹ $\int_y a^{11}$ "to·· $\int_y a^{24}$]

(children, sound quiet=emph=remain.)
'Children, be absolutely quiet.'

cf. under normal stress: /tf/ [to55].

1.11 Intonation.

Lisu has four intonation patterns; declarative, interrogative, abrupt, and suspensive. The first three occur with the main verb phrase in an utterance, 53 the first two before pause and/or secondary

^{52.} It should be noted that the emphatic stresses are deliberate affective elements of the language; that is, they are used deliberately by a speaker in otherwise normal, non-emphatic speech, and indicate a degree of emphasis only slightly stronger than normal stress. Strong emotional stress, as in anger, is indicated by vocal qualifiers such as increased loudness and tenseness, overall raising of the pitch spectrum, etc. Emphatic stresses do not occur when a speaker is under emotional strain.

^{53.} See section 5.1.1.

topic, the third before pause only. An utterance with declarative, interrogative, or abrupt intonation is a sentence; these are the sentence intonations. Suspensive intonation occurs with any word in a sentence except that last; an utterance which ends with suspensive intonation is not a sentence.

1.11.1 Declarative intenation: /./

The phonetic realization of declarative intonation is determined by the grammatical construction of the predicate and the degree of stress with which it occurs.

1.11.1.1 Positive statements and imperatives:

The intonation of positive statements and imperatives is characterized by a lowering of pitch and weakening of stress with the final syllables of an utterance, in some cases to the point of reduction to atonic status. If the last syllable of a word under sentence intonation is a substantive or a verb, only that syllable is affected by the intonation, but syllables following the last substantive or verb are also affected. 55

^{54.} See section 4.2.3.2.

^{55.} The word and the form classes (substantive, verb, etc.) are described in the following chapter.

When a secondary topic is present, the sentence intonation still occurs with the main verb phrase, while the following topic is marked as such by overall weakening of stress and lowering of the pitch spectrum, sometimes with reduction of the entire topic to atonic syllables with low tone (see section 1.6). Such topics regularly end with a short syllable on a level pitch, but without glottal stop.

Thus

```
/ngwā swāa:, nwū jā./ [... nvu³³ dzā 5]56

(I die=nom, you help.)

'If I die, you'll help out.'

/nwū zānō ngwā zānō./ [nvu³³ za¹¹ nö³³ nua²⁴ za¹¹ nō²³]

(your children my children.)

'Your children (are) my children.'

But:

/lā tōnyiangūnega./ [la³³ tō²⁴ ñ, iạ⁵⁵ nỡ næ² gš²¹]

(come look-at=nom=is-so=emph=mild.)

'(They) did come to look.'
```

The last syllable of an utterance before /./ is short, regularly ending in glottal stop if it is a single morpheme in level tone.

```
/ngwā swāa:, nwū jā./ [... nvu³³ dzā%]

(I die=nom, you help.)

'If I die, you'll help out.'

/thìhwā maylcua./ [... mɔ̄¹ ii¹¹¹ tsōəฺ%]

(one=time not=drunk=has-experienced.)

'(He) has never been drunk.'

/amī dū. ===s=== dū./ both: [dŏ%]

(quickly drink. slow=slow=partic drink.)

'Drink up. Take your time drinking.'
```

^{56.} The arrow head pointing down from a tone numeral indicates slight lowering of the pitch.

```
/atyfa: g3./ [83tix553g57]

(a-little give.)

'Give (him) only a little.'

/kyāhl./ [t∫,x24h87]

(remain=still. or remain=further.)

'(He) is still (here).' or 'Stay (a while) longer.'
```

Rising tone syllables and those which are bi-morphemic (generally werb plus non-syllable particle) frequently end in glottal stop, but sometimes do not, although the syllable remains short.

```
/thi la./ [t'a33]x?34]

(here come=nom.)

'Come here.'

/hīn ylgyīu./ [hī33iil1d2,ĭo?3]

(house return=go=new-situation.)

'(I'm) going home now.'

/kwānkhyīlèhūa./ [kwā33tʃ.,e33læ11xŏe?23]

(take-care-of=mutually=nom.)

'(We'll) take care of each other.'

/ngwā né syözā./ [... ʃ,ö55zā12]

(I you=25-for concerned-about=nom.)

'I'm concerned about you.'
```

In conjunction with emphatic stress, however, the vowel of a sentence-final syllable before /./ is lengthened and there is an extended fall in pitch.

```
/ kuu. [ku o o 553]
              (older-brother=vocative=emph.)
                   'Brother.' (calling from a distance)
              /jux'lu./ [dzog24 'lo.553]
               (have=nom=emph=emph.)
                   "There certainly is."
               /'gwo-/ ['guo-331]
               (there=emph.)
                   'Over there.'; '(Look) there.'
            1.11.1.2 Negative statements and imperatives:
                      The intonation of negative statements or
imperatives differs from that of the positives in that final glottal
stop is regularly present. Negative sentences are distinguished
from positive by the presence of one of the negative verb particles
/ma-/ 'not' or /tha-/ 'don't' See section 5.4.1.1).
               /a sw gw mada./ [... gw u 3 m d d 2 3 ] 57
               (whatever=emph finish not=can.)
```

'There's more than (we) can possibly finish.'

(I field=to not=go=new-situation.)

/ngwā amyla magylu./ [... mš da los]

"I won't go to the fields now."

/thay1./ [t'all 173] (don't=do.)

Don't do (that).'; 'Bon't fool around.'

^{57. /}m2-/ 'not', in actual occurrence, is almost always atonic.

1.11.1.3 Hortatory sentences:

With the hortatory particle /-m2/ 'polite urging' (see 5.4.1.3), final glottal stop is regularly absent.

/amf dumi./ [... do33 mall]

(quickly drink=urging.)

'lk-ink up.'

/kyāhìmā./ $[t\int_y a^{24} he^{11} m^{21}]$

(remain=further=urging.)

'Stay (a while) longer.'

/thagyIma./ [t:alld3,i33mall]

(don*t=go=urging.)

'Don't go (yet).'

cf. the less polite /amf $d\overline{u}$ / 'drink up' and /kyāhì/ 'stay longer' in l.ll.l.l above.

Thus there are four basic types of realization for declarative intonation, ranging from the least to the most emphatic type:

- I) With /-m2/ *polite urging*, /./ = weakening of stress, no glottal stop.
- II) In normal positive statement or imperative, /./ = short syllable, weakened stress, slight fall in pitch, glottal stop regular with single morpheme in level tone, but facultative with rising tone or bi-morphemic syllables.
- III) In normal negative statement or imperative, /./ = short syllable, little or no pitch fall, glottal stop.
 - IV) With emphatic stress, /* ./ = long syllable, extended pitch fall, no glottal stop.

1.11.2 Abrupt intonation: /1/

Abrupt intonation occurs only with emphatic stressed syllables. Unlike such syllables with declarative intonation, however, those which occur with abrupt intonation are short and end in glottal stop. A high- or mid-tone syllable with diphthong under abrupt intonation ends with a short fall in pitch; syllables with simple vowel and rising tone syllables have no such fall in pitch.

/kúu!/ ['kvo^54]

(older-brother=vocative=emph!)

Brother! (attracting his attention when he is present)

cf. above / kuu. / with declarative intonation.

/khy11/ ['tʃ', 8734]

(flee=emph!)

'Get out of here!'; 'Scram!'

/thayi:/ [t all nig 3]

(don't=do=emphi)

'Cut that out!'

cf. above the milder /thayT./.

1.11.3 Interrogative intonation: /?/

A syllable with interrogative intonation is marked by lengthening of the nuclear vowel and by falling pitch on the last part of the vowel or on the offglide of a diphthong. With verbs, interrogative intonation regularly occurs with final tone (cf. sections 1.6.2.2 and 4.5). In negative interrogative utterances,

interrogative rather than declarative intonation occurs. /japha thing - new milyika ali be?/ [... a33le33bae.553] (liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom?) 'What do you Americans call this stuff liquor?' /amy4j2 jua?/ [... dzo-ə242] (many=kinds have=nom?) 'Are there many kinds?' [guö³³ so³³ da³³ ñ, a • ³³¹] /gwo sudanya?/ (there soda=as-for?) 'How about that stuff soda?' (i.e. what do you call it?) [nvu³³mäldza•131] /nwn maia?/ (you not=eat=nom?) 'Aren't you going to eat?' 1.11.4 Suspensive intonation: / - / A syllable with suspensive intonation shows marked lengthening of the vowel, or of the offglide of a diphthong, and has no fall in pitch. It is regularly followed by pause. /ngwā bābāhā - nwū bābā khwāwangū./ [... ba³⁴ ba¹¹ xa^{,333}...] (my father=contrast - you father call=get-to=is-so.) As for my father, you can call him "father". / gwothinyīa - ngwānwù thā yí ámyìmé chīza chữa nyīa - / both: [... fi_ia -333] (that=emph=one=day=partic - we here his adoptivedaughter string tie=nom day=partic -) That day, the day we tied the string on his adoptive daughter ... [a part of the adoption ceremony]

Chapter II

Morphology

2.0 The Word.

A morpheme which occurs in isolation, i.e. in the absence of other morphemes, is a <u>free form</u>. A morpheme which occurs only in the presence of other morphemes is a <u>bound form</u>. A <u>word</u> in Lisu consists of a free form alone or reduplicated, or of a sequence of morphemes in construction at least one of whose immediate constituents is a bound morpheme.

Examples of free form words are:

Free forms alone:

/msl/ 'land, country' /jl/ 'eat'

/jo/ 'there' /syo/ 'resemble'

/lanyacl/ 'cat' /fasyl/ 'trust, have confidence in'

- 2. However, some morphemes occur free in some functions, bound in others, as, for example, free nouns and verbs which occur as classifiers. Since a classifier occurs only in the presence of a preceding number, all classifiers are bound forms. In classifier position, therefore, a free noun or verb functions as a bound form (see section 2.4.1.2). Other examples of bound functions of free forms will be found in sections 2.4.2.j.1.1, 2.5.1.3, and 3.1.2.1.
- 3. The structure and function of reduplication are discussed in detail in section 2.10.

^{1.} I exclude from this definition bound or submorphemic elements which might occur isolation as specialized citation forms, e.g. in answer to such a question as 'What was the last syllable of that word?' or 'What was that last sound?' In fact, such isolation of otherwise bound elements occurs nowhere in my experience with Lisu; clarification of an expression is made with words, not parts of words.

Reduplicated free forms:

/jojo/ 'way over there' /syosyo/ 'resemblance'

Where a bound form is involved, a word necessarily contains more than one morpheme; such words consist of a combination either of free and bound forms or entirely of bound forms, e.g.:

Free and bound forms combined:

/amyiwa/ 'to the field' < /amyi/ 'field' /-wa/ 'to. at'

The noun /amy1/ is followed by the substantive particle /-w2/.4

/mahl/ 'not good' < /ma-/ 'not' /hl/ 'good'

The atonic form of the negative verb particle

/ma-/ 'not' precedes the adjective /ha/.

/lylswungu/ 'Lisu language' < /lylswu/ 'Lisu'

/-ngu/ 'language'

Both elements are nouns.

The form classes (noun, particle, etc.) mentioned in this section are defined later in the chapter, beginning in section 2.2.

^{4.} The presence of a hyphen marks a cited form as bound; words (including free forms) are cited without a hyphen. The position of a hyphen marks the most typical bound position of a form, not necessarily its position in a given example. For instance, in /yīghālī/ 'having done', /-ghā/ 'actuality' is cited with a preceding hyphen since, as a verb stem extension, its typical position is following a verb; the presence of a following particle is facultative. Similarly, in /hyànchū/ (night=person) 'adulterer', /-hyàn/ 'night' is cited with a preceding hyphen because it most commonly occurs as a classifier, a form class defined by its occurrence with a preceding number.

/yTghalT/ 'having done' < /yT/ 'do'

/-gha/ 'actuality'

/-lT/ 'change of state'

The active verb /yl/ is followed by the verb stem extension /-ghb/ and the auxiliary verb /-ll/.

Combinations of bound forms:

The numerals /chx-/ and /ngwa-/ combine to form the word /chxngwa/ '15', which in turn combines with the classifier for people /-zu/.

/hyànchū/ 'adulterer' < /-hyàn/ 'night' /-chū/ 'person'

Both elements are bound nouns.

Words are simple, compound, or complex. A <u>simple word</u> consists of a free form alone; a <u>compound word</u> is a combination of free and/or bound members of one form class; a <u>complex word</u> is a combination involving elements of different form classes.

In the examples above, the first six plus /amyl/ 'field', /lylswu/
'Lisu', /hk/ 'good', and /yl/ 'do' are simple words. /jōjō/ 'way over
there', /syōsyō/ 'resemblance', /lylswungu/ 'Lisu language', and
/hyànshu/ 'adulterer' are compound words. /amylwu/ 'to the field',
/mahk/ 'not good', /ylghull/ 'having done', and /changuazu/ '15
individuals' are complex words.

In the transcription, a word is written without internal space; the presence of space marks word boundaries.

2.1 Attribution.

An expression is a sequence of morphemes in construction which can occur as an isolated utterance.

The head of an expression is that element which, taken by itself, fills the same grammatical function as the whole expression with respect to contextual elements. Within the expression, substantives or verbs in construction with the head are attributes modifying it.

Thus in /ávè bổ kyốa/ 'sets up a pig pen', the noun /bổ/ 'pen' can replace the phrase /ávè bổ/ 'pig pen' as goal of the verb phrase /kyốa/ sets up', but /ávè kyốa/ does not occur. In /pùhwá tốtổ khyổghè/ 'speaks mixed up speech to', there the first two words form a phrase consisting of the noun /pùhwá/ 'speech' and the reduplicated adjective /tő/ 'to contravene, be wrong, mixed up', /pùhwá/ can replace the entire phrase as goal of the verb phrase /khyổghè/ 'speak to', but in /tổtổ khyổghè/ 'speaks to incorrectly', /tổtổ/ is an adverbial noun: 'in a mixed up manner, wrong way round', which does not act as goal of the verb.

Similarly, in /sve had je hso/ (pig meat eat good-nome) 'Pork is good to eat.', the noun phrase /sve had/ 'pig meat' is subject of the

^{5.} The prohibition of this expression is semantic rather than grammatical. The sentence /ave khyoa./ would mean either 'The pig sets up (a fence).' or '(Someone) sets up a pig.'. neither of which is a common occurrence among the Lisu. The sequence of noun plus verb (with the former as either subject or goal) is, however, perfectly permissible grammatically.

The phrase and its subclasses, some of which are mentioned here for illustration, are discussed in the following chapter. Clause elements (subject, goal, etc.) are described in Chapter IV.

verb phrase in the same way as in the sentence /ave hwa ha./ 'Pork is good.' In /ave hwa ja/ 'eat pig meat', on the other hand, the noun phrase is goal of the verb. Thus /ha/ 'good'? is head of the verb phrase, /ja/ 'eat' its attribute.

A bound substantive or verb⁸ is head of an expression if the elements with which it is in construction within a phrase cannot carry the grammatical function of the whole phrase, i.e. if omitting the bound form changes the relationship of the phrase to the rest of the utterance. For example, in /lylswungu khyoa/ 'speaks Lisu' the first word, consisting of the nouns /lylswu/ 'Lisu' and /-ngu/ 'language', acts as goal of the verb phrase /khyoa/ 'speaks'. With the omission of /-ngu/, however, the resulting utterance /lylswu khyoa/ means 'A Lisu speaks' or '(some) Lisu speak', in which the noun is subject of the verb phrase.

Substantives and/or verbs co-occurring in a single word consist of a head and one or more attributes. 9 e.g.:

^{6.} With the combination of active verb plus adjective in one phrase no goal occurs, i.e. there is no sentence */ngwā âvê hwâ ja ha./
'I eat pork well.', in which /avê hwâ/ acts as the goal of the verb /jā/ 'eat'. Compare, however, the externally similar sentence /avê hwâ ja ha./ 'Eating pork is good.', in which /ja/ is nominalized and acts as subject of /ha/ 'good' (see sections 2.5.2 and 4.5). Here /avê hwâ/ is the goal of /ja/ and a separate subject can also occur.

^{7.} The tonal alternation /hā ~ hā/ is an example of the basic-/final-tone contrast which occurs with verbs; see sections 1.6.2.2 and 4.5.

^{8.} Particles do not act as head of a construction: see section 2.9.

^{9.} In the case of a number combined with a classifier, the concept of attribution is irrelevant. Since there is no context except isolation where either element occurs without the other, neither alone can be said to fill the grammatical function of the combination with respect to contextual elements. See below section 2.4.1 ff.

```
/lyīswungu/ 'Lisu language' < /lyīswu/ 'Lisu'
                                    /-ngt/ 'language'
   The noun /lyiswu/ is attributive to the noun /-ngu/.
/avekhe/ 'pig farrowing place' < /ave/ 'pig'
                                    /-khà/ 'nest; place
                                            arranged for
                                           bearing young!
   The noun /4ve/ is attributive to the noun /-khe/.
                                 < /phwd/ 'silver'
/phwudapha/ 'silversmith'
                                    /da/ 'beat'
                                    /-phi/ man'
    The noun bhwu/ and the transitive verb /de/ form a
    clause attributive to the noun /<phl/.10
/angaka/ 'wild buffalo'
                                 < /ingl/ 'water buffalo'
                                    /kd/ 'wild'
    The adjective /ku/ is attributive to the noun /anga/.11
/nyamphwu/ hornbill*
                                 < /ny%/ 'bird'
          (the bird with
          white feathers)
                                    /mwl/ 'feather;
                                          body hair
                                    /phwn/ white 12
    The adjective /phwu/ modifies /-h-/, a reduced form of
```

the noun /mwi/ (see section 1.2). The resulting complex

^{10.} On this type of construction, see also sections 2.4.2.3.1.1 and 3.1.2.1b.

^{11.} Simple adjectives function as bound forms when they are attributive to a preceding noun. See section 2.4.2.3.1.2.

^{12.} On the multiple function of /phww/ as both noun and verb, see section 2.6.2.

noun is a bound form which is attributive to the noun /nyã/.

The auxiliary verb /-nyl/ is attributive to the transitive verb /jl/.

2.2 The Form Classes.

Morphemes and words in Lisu are members of one or more form classes. A form class is determined by specific elements with which its members co-occur, and by the manner of co-occurrence. For example, the form class 'verb' is defined by the co-occurrence of its members with the negative particle /ma-/ 'not' (see 2.5), while the verbal subclasses 'active' and 'adjectival' are defined in terms of their manner of attribution to noun heads (see sections 2.5.1 and 2.5.2). When a word contains more than one morpheme, its form class is that of the head morpheme.

There are six major form classes in Lisu: exclamations (section 2.3), substantives (2.4), verbs (2.5), verb stem extensions (2.7), introductory words (2.8), and particles (2.9).

2.3 Exclamations.

An exclamation is a monomorphemic word which never combines with any other element to form a single word. Exclamations occur only at the beginning or end of a clause, or in isolation.

/qon'qon-ya./13 Took at that, will you!; Tou don't say!

^{13.} On the hyphen within a word, see section 1.8.1, footnote 49.

```
/qui à'swi gwu mada./
          (oh=emph: Whatever=emph finish not=can.)
              'Oh, there's more than (we) can possibly finish.'
          /yaphyimyī yī jā, qu., khathun./
          (opium=field work eat=nom, oh, take-a-loss.)
              "Earning a living by farming opium, oh! (you) take a loss."
          /yaphyinyi yia, thikha khwa, sakhaha mawa, 'i./
          (opium=field work=nom, one=year hoe=nom, three=
               one-tenth-joy=contrast not=get. oh=emph.)
              'Raising opium, in one year's cultivation (you)
                  don't even get three tenths of a joy, oh! 14
2.4 Substantives.
     A substantive is a form which occurs with the particles /-kyī/
'enumeration', /-wa/ 'to, at', /-le/ 'to, for, with respect to',
/-a/ 'particularization', and/or /-u/ 'vocative'. 15
          /nwukyi ngwakyi gyia./
          (you=and I=and go=nom.)
              'You and I are going.'
          /ngwa pawa gyia./
          (I temporary-business-place=to go=nom.)
              'I'm going to the temporary stores.'
          /tanwa la sylangu; yilé./
          (police come kill=nom=is-so. they=as-for)
              'The police would come and kill them.'
```

^{14.} The 'joy' (Thai /c5oj/) is a standard measure of weight for opium, equivalent to 1.6 kilograms.

^{15.} These are the substantive particles; see also sections 2.9 and 4.3.

/amasa thanya masa. thinyla nyinyla gwadwu maju./ (now here=as-for not=know. one=day=partic two=days=partic sing=knowledge not=have.) 'Now here (people) don't know (songs). There aren't (people who) know how to sing for even one or two days. /I'lfu. tha lama./ (#2-child=vocative=emph. here come=urging.) 'Second Daughter, come here.' The three basic subdivisions of substantives are: counters (section 2.4.1), nouns (2.4.2) and dejetics (2.4.3). 2.4.1 Counters: A counter is a compound of a number with a following classifier. 2.4.1.1 Numbers: A number is a sequence of numerals. There are sixteen numerals in Lisu; all are bound forms: /thi-/ (allomorph /-tyi/) 'one' /nyl-/ 'two' /sa-/ (allomorph /sa-/) 'three' /lyf-/ (alloworph /lyf-/) 'four' /ngwa-/ 'five' /chù-/ 'six' /switty/ 'seven' /hi-/ 'eight' /kwu-/ (allomorph /kwu-/) 'nine'

/chi-/ (allomorph /-ci/) 'tten'

/-hyan/ 'hundred'

/-twu/ 'thousand'

/-wan/ (Chinese /wan/)

/-wan/ (Chinese /wan/)

/-mai/ (Thai /myyn/)

thousands'

/-syi/ (Thai /seen/) 'hundred thousand'

/-lan/ (Thai /lan/) 'million'

Numerals 1-9 are the digits.

Numerals form words in combination with other numerals and/or with a classifier. 16

2.4.1.1.1 Number words:

a word consisting of numerals only is

formed with:

a) a digit preceding a higher numeral, in which case the two are multiplied: 17

b) 'ten' preceding a digit or 'million', in which case 'ten' and a digit are added, but 'ten' and 'million' are multiplied:

^{16.} Classifiers are described in the following section.

^{17.} All such combinations occur except /thi-/ 'one' before /chi-/ 'ten'.

```
c) a combination of (a) and (b):
                                          /lyichangwa/ '45' ([4 X 10] + 5)
                                          /sachalan/ '30,000,000' (3 X 10 X 1,000,000)
                                          \frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{1}
                                          /nylhyEnlan/ '200,000,000' (2 I 100 I 1,000,000)
 Two or more number words in sequence are usually added:
                                           /lyThyan chuch\hi/ 468 ([4 X 100] + [(6 X 10) + 8])
                                           /ngwawan chutwu/ or /ngwawa chutwu/ '56,000'
                                                            ([5 \times 10,000] + [6 \times 1,000])
                                            /chusyi swłwin/ or /chusyi swłma/ '670,000'
                                                            ([6 \times 100,000] + [7 \times 10,000])
                                           /swłlán hisyf/ '7,800,000'
                                                             ([7 \times 1,000,000] + [8 \times 100,000])
  But when /-lin/ 'million' is the last element of a sequence of
  number words, it is multiplied by the total of the preceding numbers:
                                             /thitww nyihyanlan/ '1,200,000,000'
                                                              \{[(1 \times 1,000) + (2 \times 100)] \times 1,000,000\}
                                             /nylhyan kwichasalan/ '293,000,000'
                                                              ([(2 \times 100) + ([9 \times 10] + 3)] \times 1,000,000)
                                                         2.4.1.1.2 Numbers with classifiers:
                                                                                                        All numbers have the potential of compounding
  with a following classifier to form a counter. When a digit or 'ten'
```

is not compounded with another numeral, a classifier is regularly present:

```
/thlma/ 'one item'
/ngwazu/ 'five individuals'
/chakhwu/ 'ten places'
/ngwahyan thlma/ '501 items'
/thltwu ngwaba/ '1005 baht'
```

But when a number consists entirely of words, the presence of a classifier is facultative in sequential enumeration and in isolation. Elsewhere a classifier is regularly present.

```
      /chīnyì/ '12'
      /chēnyìhwā/ '12 times'

      /thìhyān/ '100'
      /thìhyānkhè/ '100 words'

      /ngwàtwū/ '5,000'
      /ngwàtwūbà/ '5,000 baht'

      /thìtwū ngwàhyān/ '1,500'
      /thìtwū ngwàhyānzū/ '1,500 individuals'
```

2.4.1.1.3 The alternative construction:

A sequence of two or more consecutive digits in combination with a higher numeral and/or a classifier means 'either ... or ...' If no numeral higher than a digit is present, there is regularly a classifier either after each digit, in which case the result is a sequence of words, or only after the last, in which case the whole is one word:

```
/nylsaza/ 'two or three individuals'
/swhinyl/ 'seven or eight days'
/thlnylsama/ 'one, two, or three items'
/nylzu sazu/ 'two or three people'
```

In the expression 'nine or ten', the classifier regularly follows each numeral:

^{18.} The baht is the basic unit of Thai currency, worth about \$.05.

/kwimi chimi/ 'nine or ten items' 19

When higher numerals are involved in an alternative expression, they occur in the same way as the classifiers, i.e. following each digit or only the last. As the numbers involved in such expressions are words, the presence of a classifier is facultative in isolation. When a classifier is present, it, in turn, follows either each occurrence of a repeated numeral or only the last.

/thinyihyanzu/ 'one or two hundred individuals'
/thihyan nyihyanzu/ (same)
/thihyanzu nyihyanzu/ (same)

2.4.1.1.4 Allomorphic variations

The allemorphic variants of 'one', 'three', 'four', 'nine', and 'ten' occur as follows:

a) /-tyi/, allomorph of {thl-} 'one', occurs in addition with /ch\-/
'ten', when the latter is not multiplied:

/chwtyf/ 'll'

but /ngwach\thi/ '51'

b) /-c\frac{\pi}, alloworph of \{ch\frac{\pi}{\pi}\} 'ten', occurs in multiplication with /nyl-/ 'two':

/nylcI/ '20'
/nylcIngwa/ '25'

c) /kwd-/, allomorph of {kwd-} 'nine', occurs before syllables with other than mid tone with which it forms a word. Before mid-tone syllables or pause, /kwd-/ occurs:

^{19.} As result of this limitation there is no confusion between 'nine or ten items' and the expression /kwich*ma/ '90 items'.

```
/kwwkhwa/ 'nine boards'
/kwwinwa/ 'nine times'
/kwwijł/ 'nine kinds'

/kwwima/ 'nine items'
/chikwu/ '19'
```

d) /lyi-/, alloworph of {lyi-} 'four', occurs before syllables with other than mid tone with which it forms a word, plus the mid-tone numerals /chi-/ 'ten' and /-hyin/ 'hundred'. Before other mid-tone syllables and before pause, /lyi-/ occurs:

```
/lyTkhwa/ 'four boards'
/lyThwa/ 'four times'
/lyTj\/ 'four kinds'
/lyTch\/ '40'
/lyThy\alpha/ '400'
/lyTx\/ 'four individuals'
/lyftw\/ '4,000'
/ch\/ lyf\/ '14'
```

e) /s2-/, alloworph of {s2-} 'three', occurs in the same environments as /ly1-/ except that it also occurs before the mid-tone classifier /-m2/ 'unit, item'. Elsewhere /s2-/ occurs:

```
/sākhwā/ 'three boards'
/sāhwā/ 'three times'
/sājā/ 'three kinds'
/sāmā/ 'three items'
/sāchā/ '30'
/sāhyān/ '300'
```

```
/sazw/ 'three individuals'
/satww/ '3,000'
/chwsa/ '13'
```

When {sa-} 'three' or {lyi-} 'four' occurs as the first of two digits in the alternative construction, the alloworph that appears depends on the classifier in the word, not on the following digit.²⁰

/lyingwazu/ 'four or five individuals'

cf. /lyījł/ 'four kinds' with mid-tone allomorph before low-tone syllable, and /lyfzī/ 'four individuals' /sālyījł/ 'three or four kinds'

cf. /sazu/ 'three individuals' with low-tone allomorph before mid-tone syllable, and /sujl/ 'three kinds' 2.4.1.2 Classifiers:

A classifier is a bound form which follows a numeral and forms a word with it. Classifiers are of three kinds: those which occur only as classifiers, those which are derived from neuns, and those which are derived from verbs.

2.4.1.2.1 Forms which are only classifiers:

/-zu/ 'individual' (classifier for people):

/sazu/ 'three individuals'

/nylchshizu/ '28 individuals'

/-ths/ 'stick-like thing':

/nylths/ 'two stick-like things'

/thlhyanths/ '100 stick-like things'

^{20.} As noted in section 2.4.1.1.3, this situation does not arise in connection with /kwi-/ 'nine'.

```
/-gyo/ 'truncated stick-like thing' (pencil stub, branch with one end cut off, etc.):
               /lyfgyö/ 'four truncated stick-like things'
     /-ba/ 'baht' (Thai /baad/);
               /ngwaba/ 'five baht'
               /thitwi nyihyanba/ '1200 baht'
             2.4.1.2.2 Classifiers derived from nouns:
                        Many nouns, both bound and free, occur as
classifiers. With the exception of /-ma/ 'unit, item' (see below in
this section and in sections 2.4.2.3.1 and 3.1.2.1b), the bound forms
are either monosyllabic allomorphs of morphemes which elsewhere
constitute polysyllabic words, or form words with the proclitic
particle /yi-/ (see section 2.4.2.3.3a).
          Free nouns as classifier:
     /hfin/ 'house':
               /lyihin/ 'four houses'
               /chiswihin/ '17 houses'
     /clmu/ 'hour' (Thai /chuamon/):
                /chicimi/ 'six hours; six o'clock'
                /nyic=lyIcami/ '24 hours'
     /fwu/ bottle's
                /thifwu/ 'one bottle' (of something)
                /ch\text{tyifwu/ 'll bottles (of)'
     /laká/ 'cup':
                /kwiliki/ 'nine cups (of)'
```

/ngwalaká/ 'five cups (of)'

```
Bound allomorphs of larger monomorphemes:
/-ks/ 'cup'; from /laks/ 'cup':
         /nyiké/ 'two cups'
         /sachaká/ '30 cups'
/-cfi/ 'village'; from /cficf/ 'village':
         /thicai/ 'one village'
         /chaci/ 'ten villages'
     Bound forms which occur with proclitic particle /yi-/:
/-khwu/ 'hole'; /yikhwu/ 'hole';
         /sakhwu/ 'three holes'
          /chachukhwu/ 16 holes:
/-khu/ 'year'; /yikhu/ 'year':
          /salyikhu/ 'three or four years'
          /swichinkhu/ '78 years'
/-sł/ 'round or spherical thing'; /yisł/ 'fruit; globe'
          /nylsa/ 'two round things'
          /thlhyan ngwachasi/ '150 balls'
/-hu/ 'spool'; 'yinu/ 'spool';
          /hlhu/ 'eight spools'
     Classifier /-ma/:
```

/-mZ/ 'unit, item' is the classifier of most general use. It occurs as classifier for nearly all nouns in the language, even where a noun is commonly counted with a classifier of more specialized nature (see examples under the discussion of counter phrases, section 3.1.3.2d). /-mZ/ has a suppletive allomorph /-lo/ which occurs after the numeral /lyI-/ 'four'.

```
/chityimi/ 'll items'
         /thimE/ 'one item'
                                    /sachanyima/ '32 items'
         /nylma/ 'two items'
         /sama/ 'three items'
                                    /lyichisami/ '43 items'
         /lyīlyö/ 'four items' /mgwachlyīlyö/ '54 items'
                                    /chichEngwana/ '65 items'
         /ngwamm/ 'five items'
            2.4.1.2.3 Classifiers derived from verbs:
                       Certain free verbs occur as classifiers;
bound verbs do not occur as classifiers.
     /-po/ 'wrapped thing, package'; as a verb: /po/ 'wrap'
              /chupo/ 'six packages'
     /-phw=/ 'stack, pile, heap'; as a verb: /phw=/ 'pile up' (transitive)
              /swiphwi/ 'seven piles'
     /-kyő/ 'line, seam, scratch'; as a verb: /kyő/ 'make a line, etc.'
              /hikyő/ 'eight lines'
     /-kwa/ 'fork, intersection (in a road)'; as a verb: /kwa/
             'separate' (intransitive)
               /nylkwa/ 'fork (in a road)'
               /lyikwa/ 'crossroads'
     2.4.2 Nouns:
            A noun is a substantive which occurs in appositive phrase
constructions with a following counter, 21 e.g.:
          /ave thims/ (pig one=item) 'one pig'
          /myasa nylsa/ (eye two=round-things) 'two eyes'
```

^{21.} For the discussion of the counter phrase, with the relationship between a counted noun and the classifier, see section 3.1.3.2d.

/lyīswū thìjū/ (Lisu one=kind) 'The Lisu tribe' /nwúnwūlī thìjū/ (soft=soft=manner one=kind)²²
'in a gentle manner'

Nouns are simple, compound, or complex.

2.4.2.1 Simple nouns:

The majority of simple nouns are monosyllabic, although dissyllabic simple forms are also very common. Polysyllabic simple nouns are very rare.

/mwł/ 'land, country, city' /byl/ 'taro'

/fwu/ 'snake' /jk/ 'rice'

/lèkhyo/ 'tongue' /jkphe/ 'liquor'

/mèkhwu/ 'tobacco' /sudk/ 'soda (water)'

/ámh/ 'horse' /kyk ~ ághk/ 'chicken'

/áswł/ 'what?' /amk/ 'who!'

/ânyáck/ 'cat' /milyikk/ 'America, American'

2.4.2.2 Compound nouns:

Compound nouns are formed either entirely of nouns, of a counter preceding a bound noun, or by the reduplication of a verb.

2.4.2.2.1 Noun compounds:

Compounds composed entirely of nouns consist of a bound head preceded by one or more attributes (either free or bound forms), or of a free noun reduplicated.

a) Free noun plus bound nouns

^{22.} On the form of the noun /nwinwill/ see section 2.4.2.3.1.2b.

```
< /lyïswu/ 'Lisu'</pre>
         /lyiswingt/ 'Lisu language'
                                               /-ngu/ 'language'
                                           < /phylmya/ 'face'
         /phylmyadwu/ mirror !
                                               /-dwu/ 'mechanism'
                                            < /ami/ 'horse'
         /ammma/ 'horse's tail'
                                               /-m6/ 'tail'
                                            < /mri/ 'land, country,
          /mwlsl/ 'globe, world'
                                                          city'
                                               /-sl/ 'sphere; fruit'
                                            < /s\frac{\s}{\s} \text{wood}
          /s≆j¥/ 'tree'
                                               /-j\/ 'trunk, stem'
          /makhwaphya/ bamboo leaf*
                                            < /makhwa/ 'bamboo'
                                               /-phya/ 'leaf, sheet
                                                         (of paper)
                                            < (/ama/ 'who?')
          /ama hinma/ 'whose houses?'
                        (one by one)
                                               /hIn/ 'house'
                                               /-ma/ 'unit.item'
b) Bound nouns only:
          /hyànchū/ 'adulterer'
                                            < /-hyàn/ 'night'
                                               /-chu/ 'person'
          /namswsl/ 'erange' (fruit)
                                            < /naist-/ 'orange'
                                                 (Thai /nasôm/ m
                                                 'orange juice')
                                                /-si/ 'sphere; fruit'
```

c) Reduplicated nouns: 23

Simple reduplication of a free noun forms a dissyllabic noun

^{23.} Reduplication, its forms and functions, are discussed in detail in section 2.10. Rapid mention is made here to complete the picture of compound nouns.

in which the reduplication has an intensifying force. The intensification is frequently increased by association with emphatic stress. Simple noun reduplication occurs with only a few forms in the language, but some of these are very frequent in discourse.

/'jőjő/ 'way over there' < /jö/ 'there'
/bàibài/ 'in the afternoon' < Thai /bàaj/ 'afternoon'

2.4.2.2.2 Counter plus bound noun:

The bound nouns /-ma/ 'unit, item' and /-ll/
'fashion, manner' combine with a preceding counter to form a compound
noun. The numeral in the counter is regularly /thl+/ 'one', and the
nouns have a generalizing force: 'each one, every one'.

/thìhīnmā yínyō ngū./

(one-shouse-unit nom-named is.)

"It's the name of each household."24

/laci Ingsa thikyiling chibadu; lacidana./

(peppers now one=kilo=unit ten=baht=emph. peppers=big)

Peppers are now ten baht per kilo, big peppers that is.

/thinyIlI/ (one=day=fashion) 'every day'

/thl'mall/ (one=unit=emph=fashion) 'every one'

2.4.2.2.3 Reduplicated verbs:

Reduplication of a verb regularly forms a

compound noun.

/yimyo thima/ (name one=item) 'a name'

^{24.} When the counter is attributive to /-ma/ the whole expression acts as a noun, attributive to a following noun. Compare, however, the normal counter construction with a preceding noun in apposition (see also section 3.1.3.2d):

/syösyö/ 'resemblance' < /syö/ 'resemble'

/màmà/ 'certainty' < /mà/ 'sure, certain'

/lyīswā bābà mamā thì 'ma: mā syösyö: kālīswàngu./

(Lisu father mother one=unit=emph=unit resemblance become=emph=is-so.)

'(You've) become something like a Lisu parent.'

/nahwūn thūahinà; dù phyo nanai: dāu./

(mouth insert=related-focus, poison happen being-near=continuous-state remain=new-situation.)

'If (you) put (your fingers) in (your) mouth, it will be almost like (eating) poison.'

[said to a child with very dirty hands]

2.4.2.3 Complex nouns:

2.4.2.3.1 Complex nouns with verb attribute:

2.4.2.3.1.1 Nouns with active verb attribute:

An active verb attribute regularly

precedes a noun head. A complex word is formed only when the head
is a bound form, e.g.:

/nyītágwū/ 'place to sit' < /nyītá/ 'sit, sit down'

/-gwū/ 'place'

/wàsyōngù/ 'joke, kidding' < /wàsyō/ 'laugh'

/-ngù/ 'language'

cf., with free noun heads:

^{25.} Active and adjectival verbs are described in sections 2.5.1 and 2.5.2.

/-the/ 'time when'

```
< /ldga/ 'commit
         /laga za/ 'bastard'
                                                    adultery'
                                              /z2/ 'son'
          /mamf atha/ 'magical knife'
                                           < /mammi/ 'not strike'
                    (which cuts without
                                              /atha/ 'knife'
                    touching an object)
When the attribute is not a verb alone but a clause, 26 the verb
compounds with a bound head, but a preceding noun usually does not.
e-g-1
                                           < /thighair paper,
          /thugha budwu/ writing
                                                      book, letter'
                         implement *
                                               /bu/ 'write'27
                                               /-dwd/ *mechanism*
          /yīkū khyl kadwū/ 'ashtray'
                                           < /yiku/ 'cigarette'
                                               /khyl/ 'feces, waste'
                                               /ka/ 'put in'
                                               /-dwu/ mechanism
          /yaphyi chwimi/
                           opium smoker*
                                            < /yaphy1/ 'opium'
                            ( one who
                             sucks opium)
                                               /chwł/ 'sack'
                                               /-m2/ 'unit, item'
          /nwu ylgylethe/
                           'when you
                                            < /mwd/
                                                      'you'
                            return'
                                               /yl-/ 'return'
                                               /gy1/ 'go'
                                               /-a/ 'nominalization'
```

^{26.} The clause is discussed in detail in Chapter IV.

^{27.} On the tone of verbs in attribution to a following noun, see section 4.5.

In some cases, however, the combination of verb plus bound noun is itself a bound form, and the preceding noun combines with it.

Thus, in /phwudapha/ 'silversmith', the verb /da/ 'beat' combines with the bound noun /-pha/ 'man', but the combination /-dapha/ does not occur as a free form, and the preceding noun /phwu/ 'silver' compounds with it to form a word.

2.4.2.3.1.2 Nouns with adjectival attribute:

attribution to a head nouns simple adjective attributive to a preceding noun, simple or reduplicated adjective attributive to a following bound noun, and reduplicated adjective attributive to a preceding noun. The first two form complex words and are discussed in this section; the last forms phrases and is discussed in the following chapter, section 3.1.2.3.

a) Simple adjectives attributive to a preceding noun:

As head of a clause, a verb occurs in construction with phrases in an utterance (e.g. substantive phrases acting as subject, goal, etc.) and with a large group of particles.²⁸ Active verbs which are attributive to a noun retain their function as head of a clause, e.g. in /sākā jūa hīn/ (threesressenshavesnom house) 'three-room house', /jū/ 'have' is head of a clause which contains /sākā/ 'three

^{28.} These verb functions are discussed in detail in Chapter IV, as are the clause elements 'subject, 'goal', etc.

rooms' as goal. When a simple adjective is attributive to a preceding noun, however, its function as head of a clause is lost; it does not occur in construction with other phrases or with verb particles.

Further, the combination of noun plus simple adjective attribute occurs attributive to a following noun, while a simple adjective appears alone in this position only before a limited number of bound nouns (see below, paragraph b) For example, /angaka/ (water-buffalo=wild) 'wild buffalo' occurs attributive to the bound noun /-pha/ 'man' in /angakapha/ 'Wild Buffalo Man' (a proper name); /kapha/, however, does not occur alone and combines with the preceding nounce Similarly, /alkhys/ (\$2-child=short) 'second child who is short' occurs with the bound noun /-ma/ 'woman, girl' in /alkhysma/ 'second-Daughter-Who-Is-Short' (also a proper name), while /khysma/ does not occur alone.²⁹

Following such examples of an attributive adjective necessarily forming a word with a preceding noun head - at least in some contexts - and to mark the adjective's loss of free verb function in this position, simple adjectives attributive to a preceding noun head are considered bound forms. 30

^{29.} That is, not with /-ma/ 'woman, girl'; but cf. paragraph b on the homonymous /-ma/ 'unit, item'. Compare also /khyikhyima/ (short=short=girl) 'Miss Shorty', in which the reduplicated adjective occurs independently of /ali/ '#2 child'; see section 3.1.2.3.

^{30.} This solution has the further practical advantage of distinguishing an attributive adjective, e.g. /angaku/ wild buffalo, from one with full verb function, e.g. /anga ku/ the buffalo is wild. Compare also the bound functions of other verbs in sections 2.4.1.2.3 and 2.5.1.3.

Other examples of this type of attribution are:

In such combinations, the meaning is often specialized, as in /anachwł/ 'rotten dog', used for a color said to be that of rotted dog flesh, or /angakú/ 'wild buffalo', which is used of a particular species of animal, rather than of any buffalo which has gone wild. The head noun in such constructions is frequently a bound allomorph of a larger dissyllabic or polysyllabic morpheme, e.g. in the examples above:

b) Adjectives attributive to a following bound noun:

An adjective most commonly follows a noun to which it is attributive, but with a small group of bound nouns an adjectival attribute precedes.

/haswl tha la, mahaswl tha la; lù jagwdwa./

(good=nom=type here come, not=good=type here come. vehicle path=at)

'Good types (of things) come here, bad types come here, along the road.'

In /haswal/ 'good kinds' and /mahaswal/ 'bad kinds', the adjective /ha/
'good' modifies the bound noun /-swal/ 'type, kind'.

/yisya mwili yi kwia./

(sound soft=manner do know-how=nom.)

'(He) can use (his) voice softly.' [in singing]

In /nwill/ 'softly', the adjective /nwi/ 'soft' modifies the bound noun /-11/ 'fashion, manner'.

Parallel to active verb attributes (2.4.2.3.1.1), a simple adjective in this position can act as the verb of a preceding clause.

/yisya akha hama gwa kwia./

(sound very good=nom=item sing know-how=nom.)

'(I) can sing with a very good voice.'

/akhá há/ 'very good' is a clause modifying the bound noun /-mā/ 'unit, item'.

/zàmā akhā mabyīmā yisvā mahā./31

(woman very not=pretty=nnit sound not=good.)

'To a woman who isn't very pretty, (one's) voice need not be good.'

^{31.} On this type of appositive phrase with /-ma/, see sections 3.1.3.2b-c and 4.4.1.

/akhá mabyl 'not very pretty' is a clause modifying the bound noun /-ma/ 'unit, item'.

However, since reduplication forms nouns from verbs (section 1.10.2), the attribution of a reduplicated adjective to a following bound noun is parallel to ordinary noun attribution.

/mwinwfll/ 'soft manner, softly' < /mwil/ 'soft'

/-ll/ 'fashion, manner'

(slightly more emphatic than /mwill/ above)

/hāháswł/ 'good type; well' < /hā/ 'good'

/-swł/ 'type, kind'

/khyökhyöswł/ 'lengthwise' < /khyö/ 'long and thin, rectangular, cylindrical'

/-swł/ 'direction, dimension'

cf. the compound nouns:

/lyīswūngù/ 'Lisu language' < /lyīswū/ 'Lisu'

/-ngù/ 'language'

/-ngù/ 'language'
/mākhwāphyà/ 'bamboo leaf' < /mākhwā/ 'bamboo'
/-phyà/ 'leaf'

2.4.2.3.2 Longer combinations:

Words also occur in which an already complex noun compounds with a preceding or following head, or is further modified by verbal elements. With the former type, the attributive noun sometimes follows its head; this order occurs within a word only when the attribute is a complex noun. 32

^{32.} But compare the similar order in phrases with nominalized attributive adjective, section 3.1.2.3.

a) Complex nown as attribute:

with preceding heads

/nyamphwa/ 'hornbill' < /nya/ 'bird' (the bird with White feathers) /-k-/ reduced from of /mwl/ feather. body hair' /phwii/ 'white' < /atha/ 'knife' /athahwamen/ 'knife with a hooked blade /hwah-/ reduced form of /hwamb-/ ?'blade'? (occurs only in this word) /gu/ 'crooked' with following head: /slfwujl/ 'hardwood tree' < /s\(\frac{1}{2}\) 'Wood' /fwu/ 'hard' /-j\/ 'trunk, stem' /alikhyima/ 'Second-Daughter-< /alf/ '2nd child' Who-Is-Short' (proper name) /khyi/ 'short' (in stature) /-ma/ 'girl, women'

b) Complex noun further modified by verbs:

/angakupha/ 'male wild buffalo'

Here the noun /anga/ 'water buffalo' is first modified by the adjective /ka/ 'wild' to form the complex noun /angaka/ 'wild buffalo'. This is then further modified by the bound adjective /pha/ 'male'.33

^{33.} On the double function of /-ph2/ as both noun and adjective, see section 2.6.2.

/chumphami/ 'old man'

In this word, the bound noun /-chū/ 'person' (< /lachū/ 'person') is first modified by the adjective /mu/ 'old' to form the free noun /chūmù/ 'old person'. This, with the reduction of /mu/ to /m/, then modifies the bound noun /-pha/ 'man', and the whole is further modified with a repetition of the adjective /mu/ 'old'.

2.4.2.3.3 Complex nouns with proclitic particles: 34

Proclitic particles regularly occur in complex nouns which they derive from verbs or from other free or bound nouns.

There are three proclitic particles:

a) Proclitic /yf-/:

/yi-/ has three functions: it derives nouns from verbs, it combines with bound nouns to form free nouns, and it combines with free nouns with a particularizing force. In comparison with the other proclitics, /yi-/ is far more common and is, in modern Lisu, a productive form, while the others are not.

/yi-/ with free nouns (particularizing);

/yiwidwł/ 'the top, tip' < /widwł/ 'head, top'

/yikikū yinyīzł/ 'the brothers' < /kūkū/ 'elder brother'

/nyīzł/ 'younger

brother'

/yi-/ with bound nouns (forming free nouns);

/yingù/ 'language' < /-ngù/ 'language'

/yikhà/ 'outside. side' < /-khà/ 'exterior. side'

/yisł/ 'fruit' < /-sł/ 'fruit; sphere'

^{34.} See also section 2.9.

/yiphyà/ 'leaf' < /-phyà/ 'leaf, sheet (of paper)'

/yiwà/ 'king' < /-wà/ 'king; individual' (Chinese:/wang/ 'king')

/yibudwu/ 'writing implement' < /bu/ 'write'

/-dwu/ 'mechanism'

/yī-/ with verbs:

/yi-/ derives abstract or class nouns from verbs.

Active verbs in such words are simple, adjectives are either simple or reduplicated.

With active verbs:

/yfkyő/ 'line, scratch' < /kyo / 'make a line, scratch* /yifwu/ 'egg' < /fwu/ 'lay (eggs)' < /swf/ 'sow! /yiswi/ 'seed' With adjectives: /yimyo/ 'name' < /myo/ be named /yiswi/ 'new thing' < /sw¹/₂/ 'new' /yîbî/ 'old thing' < /bl/ 'eld' (of inanimates) /yiphwaphwa/ white thing; < /phwu/ white the color white' /yihwahwa/ 'stripes' < /hwa/ 'striped' /yſtötö/ 'straightly' < /tol/ 'straight' /yipna/ 'male one' < /-pha/ male: /yidama/ big thing < /-dama/ big'

b) Proclitic /2-/:

The proclitic /a-/ derives nouns from adjectival verbs. In this it functions like /yf-/, except in being non-productive. 35

c) Proclitic [3-]:

The proclitic $\{\vec{a}-\}$, with its other allomorphs $/\vec{a}-/$ and $/\vec{a}-/$, forms interrogative nouns from following werbs and nouns:

of nouns which are unanalyzable - with particular frequency in animal names. As these forms are now monomorphemic, it is a most point whether the /a/'s represent a related particle from an earlier stage of the language, although the fact that most occurrences in unanalyzable forms are tonic may be an indication against such a theory. Examples are:

36. On the tone variations, see section 4.5.

Proclitic [2-] occurs only in these seven words.

2.4.3 Deictics:

A <u>deictic</u> is a substantive which occurs in close juncture with a following counter to which it is attributive. There are three deictics:

The deictics occur not only in the defining position with counters, but also compounded with a following bound noun and as free forms.

2.4.3.1 Compounding with counters:

In specifying the position of a noun, the normal construction involves the presence of a deictic following the noun and compounded with a following counter.³⁷ In this position the basic allomorph of a deictic occurs:

^{37.} The counter phrase is discussed in section 3.1.3.2d.

```
/j\particle history (liquor this=one=kind)

'this kind of liquor'

/namsusi gwonyisi/ (orange those=two=spheres)

'those two oranges'

/lylswu nosizu/ (Lisu yonder=three=individuals)

'those three Lisu over there'
```

2.4.3.2 Compounding with bound substantives:

Deictics also directly precede certain bound substantives, including classifiers, forming words with them. In these constructions, the choice of allomorph of /gwo/ depends on the substantive in a given expression, e.g.:

```
/thīmā/ 'this one' /gwomā/ 'that one' (cf. below)

/thīswà/ 'this type' /gwoswà/ 'that type'

/thīlī/ 'this way' but: /gulī/ 'that way'

/thīhwā/ 'this time' 38 /guhwā/ 'that time' 38

/gumā/ 'that one' (cf. above)

/nomā/ 'that one over there'

/nobà/ 'that side over there'
```

With certain bound nouns which also act as classifiers, these forms alternate with longer forms which contain a complete counter, e.g.:

/thithima/ (this=one=item) 'this one'

^{38. /}thi/ and /gwo/ refer to both temporal and spatial distance. /no/ only to spatial distance.

When {thi-} occurs with emphatic stress in a compound, the allomorph /ti-/ alternates with /thi-/:

/'tfnwa/ ~ /'thfnwa/ 'this time'
/'tfswi/ ~ /'thfswi/ 'this type'

2.4.3.3 As free forms:

As free forms, /gwo/ and /no/ act only as place words, while /thl/ acts as an ordinary noun. The first two occur as free forms only in isolation, i.e. not as part of a larger clause:

/alītowa./ /gwo:. 'jojo./

(which=place=at.) (there. there=emph=there.)

'Where?' 'There. Way off there.'

/no./ (yonder.)

'(It's) over there.'

As an ordinary noun, /thī/ means 'this thing, this one':

/thicks./ (this is-like=nom.)

'That's the way it is.'

/thī amúmūwā s≆phèkhwùwā kēs, dá ngā?/

'(We) can put this up high in the dish, can't we?'
As a free form, /thl/ also occurs with emphatic stress as an
exclamation: 39

^{39.} On exclamations, see section 2.3.

```
/'thf./ 'Look here.'; 'Here it is.'

'That's just what I said.'; 'I told you so.'40
```

2.5 The Verb.

A free form which is immediately preceded by the negative particle /m2-/ 'not', or a bound form, other than a particle or verb stem extension, the which occurs regularly with such free forms, is a verb.

```
/ga/ 'give' /maga/ 'not give'

/gyl/ 'go' /magyl/ 'not go'

/sa/ 'know' /masa/ 'not know'

/kya/ 'dwell' /makya/ 'not dwell'

/ha/ 'good' /maha/ 'not good'

/nga/ 'is, is so' /manga/ 'isn't, isn't so'
```

```
40.
    With the deictics, compare the place words:
               /tha/ 'here'
               /gwa/ 'there'
               /no/ 'yonder'
               /jo/ 'there' (farther then /gwa/)
     All of these occur as free forms, e.g.:
               /th% lama./ (here come=urging.)
                   'Come here.'
               /no, guba kya./ (yonder, that=side dwell=nom.)
                   '(He) lives over there, on that side.'
               /abamé "jo gyī, mamī; nwu./
               (adoptive-father there=emph go, not=see. you)
                   (When your) adoptive father goes way away (home),
                        you won't see (him any more).
     But the first two also compound with certain bound substantives:
               /thabà/ 'this side here' (cf. /gubà/ 'that side')
               /gwama/ 'the one over there'
                                        (cf. /gwoma/, /gwothlma/ 'that one')
```

41. See sections 2.9 and 2.7.

```
/-yI/ 'motion away from the speaker'
           in: /dwyl/ 'go out'
                                          /maduyi/ 'not go out'
                /gayī/ 'follow away'
                                          /magayī/ 'not follow away'
                /wwwyi/ 'go to buy' /mawwwyi/ 'not go to buy'
                etc.
Verbs are active (section 2.5.1), adjectival (2.5.2), copular (2.5.4),
or auxiliary (2.5.5).
     2.5.1 Active verbs:
           An active verb is one which occurs unreduplicated before
a noun which it modifies. 42
          /nyītágwū/ (sit-down=place)
              'seat, place to sit'
          /phwddapha/ (silver=beat=man)
              'silversmith'
          /thughe budwu/ (letter write=implement)
              'writing emplement'
          /j≅phe du megwa/ (liquor drink song)
              'drinking song'
          /sākē jūa hīn/ (three=room have=nom house)
              'three-room house'
          /kyamyo kyagwuwa gyl jagwu/ (monkey dwell=place=to go path)
              'the way to where the monkeys live'
```

Active verbs are transitive or intransitive.

^{42.} Elsewhere such a construction occurs only with adjectives before certain bound nouns; see section 2.4.2.3.1.2.

2.5.1.1 Transitive verbs:

An active werb which occurs with a goal is transitive. 43 Transitive verbs are of two types: those which have only substantive goal (ordinary transitives), and those which have both substantive and verb goals.

2.5.1.1.1 Ordinary transitive verbs:

Most ordinary transitives have only one

goal in a given clause:

/yí thùghà búa./ (he letters write=nom.) hh
'He is writing.'

/nww myo jwa./ (you work have=nom.)

'You have work (to do).'

/lyīswungi amyakha majule./

(Lisu=language many=words not=have=emph.)

'There are many words which Lisu doesn't have.'

/ngwa yaphyi sakha mawa./

(I opium three=one-tenth-joys not=get.)

"I won't get (even) three tenths of a joy of opium."

/nun 'the wajuawa lyisunngh sua:, phun amys: gawsle./

(you here=emph hills=at <u>Lisu=language</u> study=nom, silver much give=get-to=emph.)

'When you study Lisu here in the hills, (they) can give (you) a lot of money.'

^{13.} On the clanes and the elements, each as goal, see Chapter TV.

^{44.} The goals are underlined.

```
/chinvi yaphyiphwa mawa./
         (this-year opium-price not-get.)
              'This year (I) won't make any money from opium.
          /ságð nwū ámyl jūwáhl, ngwā za zwū madā./
          (in-future you daughter have=get-to=further,
               my son take not=can.)
              'In the future, if you have a daughter, my son
                       can't marry (her).
          /nwu lyiswungu chinyi aba chuma sughaa, su gwulia?/
          (you Lisu=language this-year months six=units study=
               actual=nom. study finish=change-of-state=nom?)
              'After you've studied Lisu for (another) six months
                  this year, will you finish studying (it completely)?
          /amyī amyā: khwāwahì, yaphyī thìkha nyìkha mawā./
          (field much hoe=get-to=further, opium one=tenth-joy
               two=tenths-joy not=get.)
              'And (even) if (you) hoe the fields a lot, (you)
                  don't get even one or two tenths of a joy
                  of opium.
          /lécawa magwa akhá séa./
          (Lastsa=at songs very-much know=nom.)
              'At Lestsa (they) really know songs.
The presence of a geal is not, however, required in every utterance
with a transitive verb, e.g.:
          /nwu jua?/ /gwa juangu./
          (you have=nom?) (there have=nom=is-so.)
              'Do you have (any)?' 'Sure (T) do over there.'
```

Some ordinary transitives have two goals in a single clause. In such cases, if neither goal is marked with a particle, the preceding one is the <u>indirect goal</u>, the following one the <u>direct goal</u>.

/ngwanwh tha yi anylme chaze chie nylame - /45

(we here his adoptive-daughter string tie=nca day=partic=unit -)

'That day when we tied string on his adoptive daughter here ...'

/ngwanwunya yi ja go ja thagwua: ./

(we=as-for her rice give eat one=finish=partic.)

'As for us, (we) give her rice to eat, that's all.

/nwu yı babaha baba khwu, yı mama mama khwuwangu./

(you his father=contrast father call, his mother mother call=get-to=is-so.)

"You can call his father "father" and his mother "mother"."

However, the indirect goal is sometimes marked with the substantive particle /-le/ 'to, for, with respect to '46 in which case it either precedes or follows the direct goal.

/né sūdā atyl kéa./47

(you=for soda a-little put-in=nom.)

'(I'll) put a little soda in (your cup) for you.

^{45.} The form /ngwanwh/ 'we' is perhaps a compound of /ngwa/ 'I' and an allomorph with low tone of /nwu/ 'you'. In any case, /-nwh/ appears only in this environment and would thus constitute a bound allomorph of /nwu/.

^{46.} See section 4.3.2.

^{47. /}né/ is a contraction of /nwu/ 'you' and /-lé/.

```
/yi ne puhwa toto khyogha./
          (he you=to speech backwards=backwards speak=to.)
              "He's telling you wrong way round."
          /ngwa thùghè yîlé gè tönyia./
          (I book he=to give look-at=nom.)
              "I showed the book to him."
             2.5.1.1.2 Transitives with verb goal:
                        One subclass of transitive verbs occurs
with clause as well as substantive goals, e.g.:
          /alili bughas vwinyis./
          (which=fashion write=actual=nom read=see=nom.)
              'Try reading out what's written down.'
          /lachu amyazu jua massa?/
          (persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)
              Don't (you) know how many people there are?
          /yisya ha maha ngwa nananyia./
          (sound good=nom not=good I listen=see=nom.)
              "I'll listen and see if (your) voice is good or not."
For a full discussion, see Chapter IV, The Clause, section 4.4.2.2.
         2.5.1.2 Intransitive verbs:
                  An intransitive verb does not occur with a goal.
These are principally verbs of motion and position.
          /yi amyiwa gyia./ (he field=to go=nom.)
               'He's going to the fields.'
```

```
/khakhya gyī kya, Isiu!/ (porch go stay, #4=vocative!)
    'Go and stay on the porch, Fourth Daughter.'
/thm nyītáma./ (here sit-down=urging.)
    'Sit down here.'
/nwd 'the wajuded do, lylswungd su./
(you here emph hills to clime, Lisu language study.)
    'You've come up here in the hills to study Lisu.'
/han yi tha kya, ngwa beghea./ (if he here dwell, I tell=to=nom.)
    "If he were here, I would tell him."
/nww ylgyighaa, aba thinyima tha yllama./
(you return-go-actual-nom, month one-two-units here
          return=come=urging.)
     'After you go back (home), come back here in a
/ast yí tha talathe, ngwa yílé beghaa./
 (just-now he here run=come=nom=when, I he=to tell=to=nom.)
     'When he ran up here just now, I told him.'
2.5.1.3 Complementary verb compounds:
```

Within the verb phrase (see 3.2), two or more active verbs, each of which bears grammatical relationships not shared by the other(s) to certain phrase-external elements in the utterance are complementary. That is, each such verb is head of the phrase with respect to particular phrase-external elements.

For example, in /yflé mègwä gwākyf/ (he=with-respect-to song sing=cause) 'make him sing a song', /yflé/ 'him' is goal of /-kyf/

"case, make (do)", but /magwal/ "song" is goal of /gwal/ "sing".48

Thus each werb is head of the phrase with respect to a particular goal in the preceding predicate; the two are complements.

Certain bound verbs occur as last member of such constructions; these form complementary verb compounds.

```
/-kgi/ 'cause, make' (someone do something)
     /yile megwa thihwa gwakyi; lalwule./
     (he=with-respect-to song one=time sing=cause.
            #6-child=with-respect-to)
         *Make him sing a song once, Lalu I mean. 49
     /chi tyinya, chi hathè tyikyia./
     (mortar pound=as-for, mortar first pound=cause=nom.)
         'As for pounding, (he) first had (them) pound
               with the foot mortar.
/-ghà/ 'to, for, for the benefit of (someone else)'
     /yi laghaa, ngwa yile beghaa./
     (he come=actual=nom, I he=to tell=to=nom.)
         'After he comes. I'll tell him.'
     /nwu maghawangune; phalangu./
     (you teach=to=must=is-so=emph. occidental=language)
         'You really must teach (us), English that is.'
     /khyighe/ (get-between=for[-others'-]benefit)
         'pacify, separate' (as people fighting)
         neg: /makhyīgha/ 'not pacify'
```

^{48.} Compare the construction /yilé mègwā gwā/ (he=to song sing)
'sing a song to him', where /yilé/ is indirect goal of /gwā/;
cf. section 2.5.1.1.1.

^{49. /}lálwh/ is a nickname form for the sixth son in a family; cf. /álwmpha/, the formal name.

```
/-yi/ 'motion away from a location; situation coming to occur
       at a location or time other than that of the utterance
     /nwu kanya gayiale: phwu majuju./
     (you after follow=go=nom=emph. silver not=have=have)
         '(we'll) go with you, since (we) don't have any
                 money at all.
     /yīkū vwūyīa./ (cigarettes buy=go=nom.)
         *(I'm) going to buy cigarettes.*
     /chumi la piyia, yiphwuphwu - thifwu gawa./
     (person=old come=nom arrive=go=nom, nom=white=white -
            one=bottle give=did.)
         When the old man came, (he) gave (us) a bottle of
             home brew. [i.e. when the point of the old
             man's coming was reached]
/-la/ 'motion towards a location; situation coming to occur
        at the location or time at which the utterance occurs!
     /asu atha puhwa khyoa dula: madula./
     (just-now here speech speak=nom exit=come=nom.
            not=exit=come)
         "Will what (we've) just said here come out (of
                 the tape recorder) or not?*
     /Amasa mabula./
     (now not=full=come.)
         'Now (we) can't get enough to eat.'
     /yīkū mawā vwū tēlā./ (cigarettes not=get-to buy carry=come.)
          *(I) didn't have a chance to buy cigarettes and
                bring (them here).
```

```
/-ta/ 'be (in a state)!
     /nata/ (stay=be) 'be staying'
     /bwita/ (owe=be) 'be in debt'
     /kyītá/ (preseyve=be) 'be preserved, be handed down
                             (from generation to generation)
     /alīlī būkātá vwanyīs./
     (which=fashion write put-in=be read=see=nom.)
         'Try reading out what's written down.'
/-kya/ 'be (in the process of )'
     /nwū amēsa swūd tönyīkvangā./50
     (you now other-person=to look-at=remain=question.)
         'Are you looking at someone?'
     /ngwa thugha sukya thic ima yi pilangu./
     (I book study=remain one=moment=unit he
          arrive=come=nom=is-so.)
         'Just when I was studying, he arrived.'
     /nww amasa aswa syakya?/ (you now what make=remain=nom?)
         'What are you making now?'
     /gyla bekylngu./ (go=nom say=remain=nom=is=so.)
         *(I) intend to go.*
```

The verbs /lE/, /ts/, and /ky2/ occur not only in the functions just illustrated, but also as the free verbs 'come', 'be at (a place; of inanimates)', and 'dwell, be at (a place; of animates)'. A parallel relationship exists between /-y1/ 'motion away from a

⁵⁰ The /-4/ of /swull is a reduced form of the substantive particle /-16/ 'to, for, with respect to'; see section 4.3.2.

location' and /gyī/ 'go', but /-yī/ occurs only as a bound form.

Since it is in complementary distribution with, and semantically similar to, /gyī/, it is considered a bound allomorph of the latter. This relationship serves as the model on which /-lī/ 'motion toward a location', /-t²/ 'be in a state', and /-ky²/ 'be in the process of' are considered bound forms of otherwise free verbs.

2.5.2 Adjectives:

An adjective (also sometimes referred to as adjectival verb) is one which compounds with a preceding noun which it modifies.

/bichwanyichwa/ (dress=green) 'green dress'
/ingaki/ (water-buffalo=wild) 'wild buffalo'51

Adjectives are further distinguished from active verbs in that they occur with verbal as well as substantive subject.

With substantive subject:

/thai mwiwa amasa yaphyi maha./

(Thai country=in now opium not=good.)

'In Thailand the opium isn't good now.'

/suda gwothinyima ha./

(soda that=one=day=item good=nom.)

'The soda the other day was good.'

/mwi maba, ngwa magyi./

(weather not=clear, I not=go.)

'If the weather isn't clear, I won't go.'

^{51.} For more examples and a full discussion of adjectival attribution, see section 2.4.2.3.1.2.

```
/kasa taghai: ylswathla kasa chwalla./
    (corn plant=actual=further, rainy-season=in corn
         rot=change=of-state=nom.)
         'And after (you) plant the corn, in the rainy
             season the corn rots.
    /zama akha mabyima yisya maha./
     (woman very not=pretty=unit sound not=good.)
         'To a girl who isn't very pretty, (one's) voice
                (need) not be good.
 With verb subject:
     /nwu swie mehau./
     (you twist=nom not=good=new-situation,)
         'Your twisting (it) isn't good.'
     /maci muiwa yaphyi chwi akho ha nga?/
     (Burma country=in opium suck very good=nom is-so?)
         'In Burma opium smoking is very good, isn't it?'
     /ngwã zàno nó nòthwa chúa./
     (my child you=as-for marry=nom bad=nom.)
         "For my child to marry you (would) be bad."
2.5.3 Complex verbs with noun attribute:
```

With a limited number of fixed expressions, consisting of a monosyllabic verb and a preceding monosyllabic noun subject or goal, 52 the usual manner of negating, with the negative particle preceding the simple verb, alternates with a form in which the noun and verb combine into a single complex verb which the negative particle precedes, e.g.:

^{52.} On these elements see 4.2.1.1 and 4.2.1.3.

```
a) With subject noun and adjective:
          /le lyl/ (hand heavy) 'heavy-handed' (as in spanking,
                                  serving over-large portions of
                                  food, etc.)
             neg: /ld malyl/ ~ /malelyl/ 'not heavy-handed'
          /khà lyì/ (word heavy) "taciturn"
             neg: /kha malyl/ ~ /makhalyl/ 'not taciturn'
          /khyl lyl/ (feces heavy) '(to) need to defecate'
             neg: /khyl malyl/ ~ /makhyllyl/ 'not need to defecate'
          /my% khyo/ (eye blind) 'blind'
             neg: /mya makhyo/ ~ /mamyakhyo/ 'not blind'
b) With subject noun and intransitive:
          /mml dwl/ (earth shake) 'earthquake occurs'
             neg: /mwl madwl/ ~ /mamwldwl/ 'not having an
                                               earthquake*
c) With goal noun and transitive verb:
          /wa di/ (strength request) 'request labor'
                                   (for work in the fields)
             neg: /wa madi/ ~ /mawadi/ 'not request labor'
          /le mighe/ (hand wave=to) 'beckon to'
             neg: /lè mamighà/ ~ /malèmighà/ 'not beckon to'
The complex negatives function as the verb in larger utterances,
e.g.1
          /yi mamyakhyö./ (he not=eye=blind.)
               'He's not blind.'
           /yi mawadi./ (he not=strength=request.)
               'He didn't request help in the fields.'
```

/thītiwa mamwidwi./

(this=place=at not=earth=shake.)

'There was no earthquake here.'

The first two having separate subject, the third separate place word.

Compare these sentences with the positive forms and the ordinary negatives:

/yí myā khyča./53 'He's blind.'

/yī myā makhyo. 'He's not blind.'

These can be interpreted either as having a primary topic (4.2.3.2), about which the rest of the sentence is a statement: 'as for him, (he) is blind', or with the initial noun as attribute to /myz/ 'eye':
'his eyes are blind.'

/yī wà dĭa./ 'He asked for help in the fields.'

/yf wa madi. / 'He didn't ask for help in the fields.'

The subject-goal-verb order in these sentences is that of the basic

Lisu clause (see 4.1).

/thItawa mul dwia./ 'There was an earthquake here.'

/thitawa mul madwa. There was no earthquake here. Here again, the initial word can be interpreted as a primary topic: 'as for here, there was no earthquake.'

These fixed expressions frequently contain, as free nouns, elements which are elsewhere bound forms, e.g.: /lè-/ 'hand' from /lèphē/ 'hand', /lèkwā/ 'palm of the hand', /lèmā/ 'thumb', etc., or /myā-/ 'eye' from /myāsł/ 'eye, eyeball', /myābyl/ 'tear', etc.

^{53.} On the presence of the final particle /-a/ and the tone change, see section 4.5.

In certain other expressions, a free noun subject and a simple adjective are paralleled by a complex verb consisting of a bound allomorph of the noun combined with the adjective:

These complex forms, like those above, act as unit verbs in larger utterances with a separate subject, but these forms occur in positive as well as negative sentences, eago:

/yi nabu./ 'He's deaf.'
/yi chagu./ 'He's lame.'

But unlike most other verbs, complex adjectives of this shape do not have final tone or occur with the final particle $/-a/^{5h}$ Compare the longer forms with simple adjective:

/yi napù bua./ 'He's deaf.'

/yi chaphe gua./ 'His foot is twisted.'

2.5.4 Copular verbs:

A copular verb does not occur in attribution to a head noun. There are three copulas: /k2/ 'is like, is similar', /k3l1/ 'become', and {ng2} 'is, is so, is a case of'. They describe the existence or some aspect of the existence of a simgle substantive

^{54.} See section 4.5. Only a few other dissyllabic verbs share this peculiarity, e.g.: /laga/ 'commit adultery', /cinga/ 'grimace'.

```
phrase, or they equate or compare two substantive phrases.
         2.5.4.1 /kã/ 'is like, is similar'
          /thī kã./ (this is-like=nom.)
               'That's the way it is.'
           /Emasa yi Iténé ki./ (now she small is-like=nom.)
               'She's small now.
           /behé bénya, yísya nyönyőa: kã./
           (backs say=nom=as-for, sound soft=soft=partic is-like=nom.)
               *Speaking of baha, the voice is soft. 55
         2.5.4.2 /kali/ 'become'
           /yiha kalia./ (cold becomenew-situation.)
               '(I) have caught a cold.'
           /akha dù twftall kallu./
           (Akha poison smear=be=fashion become=new-situation.)
               'It's as if (your hands) were smeared with Akha poison.' [to a child with very dirty hands] 56
           /yí hwa yíhwahwa kaligwu./
           (her flesh partic=striped=striped become=finish.)
               'Her flesh became striped all over.'
           /baba mama thilia: kaliu ngi?/
           (father mother the-same become=new-situation is-so?)
               '(You've) become the same as a parent, right?'
```

^{55.} That is, bashae is a kind of song in which the voice is kept soft.

^{56.} The Akha are a hill tribe group linguistically related to the Lisu.

```
/lyīswī bāba mamā thì ma syösyö kəlīswingu./
         (Lisu father mother one=unit=emph=unit resemble=resemble
                 become=emph=is-so.)
              '(You've) become something like a Lisu parent.'
         /áthìnoa: syosyo kəlīu./
          (partic=one=sibling-group=partic resemble=resemble
                  become new-situation.)
              '(You've) become something like a sibling.
       2.5.4.3 {nga} 'is, is so, is a case of'
                The copula [ng] is one of very few forms in the
language with multiple allomorphs and one of very few verbs which
does not show the basic-final tone shift (cf. p 95, footnote 54).
The forms of the verb are:
          /nga/ 'is, is so, is a case of'
          /ngu/
                          (ditto)
          /ngI?/ 'isn't it so?'
          /ngo ~ ngwa/ 'is it so?'
Unlike the other copulas, {nga} resemble adjectives in that it
occurs with a verb as well as with a substantive subject (see 2.5.2),
6.g.1
          /nwu amyl tha kya nga?/
          (your daughter here dwell=nom is-so?)
              'Your daughter lives here, right?'
          /yí Zbamé nőa ngī?/
          (she adoptive-father desire=nom is-so?)
              'She wanted an adoptive father, right?'
```

Further examples are given in the discussions of the separate allomorphs, as follows:

a) /ngl/ occurs with the negative particle /ml-/ and with postverbal particles except /-ne/ 'emphasis' and /-negl/ 'mild emphasis'. 57 It has either a substantive or verb subject.

/mangapha?/ (not=is-so=probably?) 'Surely (that) is not so, is it?' With substantive subject: /ngwanwu amyinya atyia: ngahi./ (our daughter=as-for a-little=partic is=still.) '(She's) still our daughter a little bit. /nww manganya, lachw maphyo./ (you not=be=as-for, person not=become.) "If it weren't for you (she) wouldn't have lived." /amasahi kuswa aba nga?/ (now=related-focus year=renew month is-so?) 'Now (it's) new year's month, isn't it?' With verb subject: /yile mulia nganya, beghes./ (he=as-for see=change-of-state=nom is-so=as-for. say=to=nom.) "If (I) happen to see him, (I'll) tell (him)." /amyi tha da nga; manga./

(field here be-nom is-so not-is-so)

'Is the field here or not?'

^{57.} Particles mentioned throughout this section are described in detail in section 5.4.

```
/sand nwū amyīwa gyī yila ngā; mangā./
          (tomorrow you field=to go return=come=nom
                 is-so. not=is-so)
              Tomorrow are you going to the fields and back
                      or not?
          /nwii amyl tha kya noa?/
          (your daughter here dwell=nom is-so?)
              'Your daughter lives here, right?'
          /nāphyà majū ngā?/
          (illness not=have is-so?)
              '(She) doesn't get sick, does she?'
          /magwa gwanyi nga?/ (song sing=try is-so?)
              'Try singing a song, won't you?'
b) /ngu/ occurs in isolation or in larger utterances either
without particles, or with particles /-ne/ 'emphasis', /-nega/
'mild emphasis', or /-pha?/ 'uncertainty, probability' (except when
negative particle /ma-/ is also present, in which case /nga/ occurs;
see the first example under paragraph (a)). In isolation or with a
substantive subject, /ngu/ appears as a free form with normal stress.
          /nwu amyl tha kya nga?/ /ngu./
          (your daughter here dwell=nom is-so?) (is-so.)
               'Your daughter lives here, right?' 'Right.'
          /chiswi nguphi?/ (10+7 is=probably?)
               '(It) is (the) seventeen(th), I think.'
          /swłma swłhan ngu./ (seven=units seven=month is.)
               '(In) seven (months it) will be the seventh
                     month (of the lunar year).
```

```
/nwū ámyì ngwã ámyì ngū. ngwã ámyì nwū ámyì ngū./
         (your daughter my daughter is. my daughter your
                  daughter is.
              'Your daughter is my daughter. My daughter is
                      your daughter.
          /ngwa thima ngune; yisya hama./
          (I one=unit be=emph. voice good=nom=unit)
               'I'm one (of those with) a good voice.'
    But after a verb subject, /ngu/ has reduced stress and is never
separated from the preceding subject by pause. In this it resembles
the post-verbal particles, and it is therefore written among them as
part of one word with the preceding subject verb phrase.
          /ácá byà gè jăngū./
          (in-a-moment sweets give eat=nom=is-so.)
              'In a moment (he'll) give (you) candy to eat.
          /nwu maghawangu; phalangu./
          (you teach=to=must=is-so. occidental=language)
              'You must teach (us), English that is.'
          /ngwa naningu./ (I ill=nom=yet=is-so.)
              "I'm still sick."
         /grothinyi yi bengune./
         (that=one=day he say=nom=is-so=emph.)
              'He said (so) the other day.
          /gyīghēa, chwáyī, yllangunega./
```

(go=actual=nom, visit=go, return=come=nom=is-so=emph=mild.)

'After (he) goes back (home), (he'll) just visit

and come right back.

```
/phama mut hams calama ha beswingu./58
          (Burma country Chinese=country go-around=come=item
               good=nom say=nom=emph=is-so.)
              *(Opium) that comes from Burma and China is
                      good, (he) says.'
          /yi mama manana. yi maphwaswangu./
          (his mother not=listen-to. he not=obey=emph=is-so.)
              '(He) doesn't listen to his mother. He doesn't
                     obey (her) at all.
With interrogative intonation, /ngu/ occurs only in isolation.
indicating surprise or disbelief: /ngu?/ 'Is that so?'
c) /ngT/ occurs only with interrogative intonation. It is freely
interchangeable with /nga?/ when the subject is a verb and no
particles are present. With a substantive subject both appear,
but /ng 1? / is more common (see above). When a particle is present,
/ngī?/ does not occur.
       With substantive subject:
          /yikagwu mahama ngi?/
          (nom=put-in=place not=good=unit is-so?)
              "The place (where it's) been put isn't good, is it?"
       With verb subject:
          /yí baba noa, abamé noa ngī?/
          (she father desire=nom, adoptive-father desire=nom is-so?)
              'She wanted a father, an adoptive father, right?'
```

^{58.} After the emphatic general particle /-swł/ (see section 5.4.2.3), /ngū/ regularly occurs atonic.

```
/be makwi ng1?/ (say not=know-how is-so?)
              '(We) can't say (it), can we?'
          /azu lyīswu majūnya, yingu khyönya, sələ ngī?/
          (we Lisu not=have=as-for, language speak=as-for,
                know=emph is-so?)
              'Though we Lisu don't have (any money), if (we)
                  spoke (your) language, (we) would know
                 (how to get some), wouldn't we?
          /baba mama thilia: kaliu ngi?/
          (father mother the-same become=new-situation is-so?)
              '(You've) become the same as a Lisu parent, right?'
d) /ngo/ and /ngwa/, following a statement, form a question.
/ngwa/ follows statements with secondary particle /-hi/ 'still, yet'.
/ngo/ other statements. These forms occur only with verbal subject
and are not followed by other elements. They are regularly
accompanied by declarative intonation. Like /ngu/ with a verb
subject, they have reduced stress and are never isolated by pause.
Therefore they, too, are written as part of a word with the preceding
verb phrase subject.
          /nwn Emylwe gylango./
          (you field=to go=nom=question.)
              'Are you going to the fields?'
          /lyīswungu butango./
          (Lisu=language write=stay=question.)
              'Is (it) written in Lisn?'
          /kyāhingwā./ (dwell=nom=still=question.)
              'Is (he) still here?'
```

```
/nwww nahlngwa./ (you ill=nom=still=question.)

'Are you still sick?'

/aty1 mahalThingwa./

(a-little not=recover=change-of-state=yet=question.)

'Isn't (he) even a little better yet?'

2.5.5 Auxiliary verbs:
```

A bound verb which compounds with and is attributive to a preceding verb or verbs is an <u>auxiliary verb</u>. In some auxiliary compounds, the negative particles /mà-/ 'not' and /thà-/ 'don't occur before the entire compound, but with others they occur either before the compound or before the auxiliary or one of its syllables. The first type are <u>inseparable</u> compounds, the second have <u>movable</u> negative.

```
2.5.5.1 Inseparable auxiliary compounds:

/-II/ 'change of state, new situation'

/kasa taghais, yiswathaa kasa chwala./

(corn plant=actual=further, rainy-season=in corn rot=change-of-state=nom.)

'And after (you) plant the corn, in the rainy season the corn rots.'

/khyinkya yighala, thi ka./

(adoptive-sibling do=actual=change-of-state, this is-like=nom.)

'After (one) has become an adoptive sibling, that's the way things are.'
```

```
/swihwaliu. (die=change-of-state=new-situation.)59
        '(He) has died.'
     /masw=hwallhi./ (not=die=change-of-state=yet.)
        '(He) hasn't died yet.'
/-lehu/ 'mutually'
     /kwankhyilehua./ (take-care-of=mutually=nom.)
         '(we'll) take care of each other.'
     /puhwa khyolehua, atyl ka./
     (speech speak=mutually=nom, a-little put-in.)
         'While (we're) talking together, (I'll) put a little
             (liquor) in (your cup).*
     /yiphwł ja, amya jaha, thilia: jalehuangu./
     (price eat=nom, how-much eat=nom=contrast, the same
           eat=mutually=nom=is-so.)
         'When (we) get the (bride) price, however much (we)
             get, (we'll) share it evenly.'
     /akhá thakyíláhū./ (very-much don*t=defer-to=mutually.)
         Don't defer to each other so much. [i.e. stop
             playing Alphonse and Gaston]
/-ny1/ 'try; try out, test'
     /kwdnyi/ (guess=try) 'guess, try guessing'
        neg: /makwunyi/ 'not guess'
     /janyī/ (eat=test) 'try eating, taste and see'
        neg: /majanyi/ 'not try tasting'
```

The particle /-u/ apparently has much the same meaning as the auxiliary verb /-lI/; the combination of the two is very common in positive statements, where it means 'come to pass'.

appears in the corpus only after /sw\(\frac{1}{2}\)/ when /-l\(\frac{1}{2}\)/ is also present. It is here considered an extension of the verb /sw\(\frac{1}{2}\)/ in this environment.

```
/yisyà há mahā ngwā nānānyia./
    (sound good=nom not=good I listen=test=nom.)
        'I'll listen and see if (your) voice is good or not.'
  2.5.5.2 Auxiliary compounds with movable negative:
/-nyiswi/ 'want to, wish to'
    /gyīnyisw\(\frac{1}{2}\) (go=want-to) 'want to go'
       neg: /magyinyiswi/ ~ /gyinyi maswi/ 'not want to go'
     /ngwā akhá janyiswia./ (I very-much eat=want-to=nom.)
         "I want to eat (it) very much."
       neg: /majanyiswi/ ~ /janyi maswi/ 'not want to eat'
/-chw¥/ 'overly inclined to, overly given to'
     /kachwa/ (lie=given-to) 'given to lying, be an habitual liar'
        neg: /makachwi/ ~ /ka machwi/ 'not given to lying'
     /zano dachwi/ (children beat=given-to)
         cruel to children* (as an inherent characteristic)
        neg: /madachwa/ ~ /da machwa/ *not given to beating*
     /yi ngwichwia./ (she cry-given-to-nom.)
         'She's a crybaby.'
        neg: /mangwuchwi/ ~ /ngwu machwi/ 'not given to crying'
```

neg: /mangwuchwi/ ~ /ngwu machwi/ *not given to crying*
2.6 Multiple Class Membership.

Some morphemes in Lisu function in more than one form class.

Such are verbs and nouns functioning as classifiers (section 2.4.1.2), but there are also forms which function in different environments as both noun and numeral or deictive, and some which function as both noun and verb.

```
2.6.1 Forms which function as noun and number or deictic:
           The forms /sswł/ 'what?', /amys/ 'much, many', /amys/
'how much?, how many?', and /ali/ 'how?, which?' function in some
environments as nouns:
          /&swit be?/ (what say=nom?)
              'What (did you) say?'
          /kana athithe piyia, a mya: sau./
          (but=contrast this=when arrive=go=nom, much=emph
                   know=change-of-state.)
              But when that time comes, (you'll) know a lot.
          /lachu amya jua massa?/
          (people how-many have=nom not=know=nom?)
              'Don't (you) know how many people there are?'
          /all yia?/ (how do=nom?)
              'How is (that) done?'; 'What are (you) doing?'; 'What's up?'
But they also form words with a following classifier, a position other-
wise reserved to the numbers:
          /nwu aswikhuwa sala?/ (you what=year=in born=come=nom?)
              'What year were you born in?'
          /lyīswungi amyakha majule./
          (Lisu=language many=words not=have=emph.)
              'There are many words that Lisu doesn't have.'
          /lachu amyazu mabua?/
          (people how-many=individuals not=write=nom?)
              'Haven't (you) written down how many people (there are)?
```

```
/alltawa. yaphyi alima./
(which=place=at. opium which=item.)

'Where? Which opium?'

/japha alijawa./ (liquor which=kind=partic=item.)

'Which kind of liquor?'
```

However, /all/ which? precedes only a few classifiers directly in this manner. With other classifiers, /all/ functions as a deictive, i.e. preceding a full counter, but following a counted noun (see sections 2.4.3.1 and 3.2.3.2f), e.g.:

/alithizu/ (which=one=individual)

"which person?"

/pu alithithu/ (gun which=one=stick-like-thing)

"which gun?"

With a few classifiers, /ali/ occurs either as number or as deictic.
For example, compare with the second example on this page:

/j\piph\delta \textbf{alithlj\fiama.} (liquor which=one=kind=partic=item,)

'Which kind of liquor?'

2.6.2 Forms which function as noun and verb:

Certain morphemes function as both nouns and active or adjectival verbs. Examples are /bo/ 'a pen; to pen', /phwu/ 'silver (metal); silver (colored), white', /-pha/ 'man; male', /-ma/ 'woman; female', and /za/ 'son; small'.

The first is a free form which functions as a noun in substantive environments, as a transitive verb in verb environments:

```
/ávè bowa/ (pig pen=in) 'in the pig pen'
/ávè boa/ (pig pen=nom) 'to pen pigs'
```

/ave mabohi/ (pigs not=pen=yet) 'the pigs aren't yet penned'
The noun 'a pen' has a single mit-tone form which combines with the
substantive particles (e.g. /-wa/ 'to, at'), while the verb to pen'
has the basic-final tone alternation regularly associated with verbs
(see 1.6.2.2 and 4.5) and combines with verb particles (e.g. /-a/
'nominalization' and /-hi/ 'still, yet').

/phwu/ functions as a noun in substantive environments, but as an adjective in verb environments or in attribution to a head noun:

/phwu maju/ fsilver not=have) 'not have money'
/phwudapha/ (silver=beat=man) 'silversmith'
/bichwa thima phwua./ (shirt this=item white=nom.)
'This shirt is white.'

/nyamphwu/ (bird=feathers=white) 'hornbill'

Again, the noun 'silver' has a single mid-tone form which occurs as goal of the verbs in the first two examples, while the verb 'silvery, white' show the tone alternation. Modifying a head noun, /phwu/

follows in the usual adjective position (see section 2.4.2.3.1.2).

/-pha/ 'man; male and /-ma/ 'woman; female', being bound forms, do not function as main verbs in a clause; their non-substantive function is that of an adjective in attributive position only.

/nlpha/ (spirit=man) 'spirit doctor, medium'
/phwwdapha/ (silver=beat=man) 'silversmith'
/alima/ (#2=girl) 'Second Daughter' (a proper name)

```
/áyáphà/ (chicken=male) 'rooster'
/áyámā/ (chicken=female) 'hen'
```

In the first three examples, the forms /-phå/ and /-mā/ function as the head of a compound or complex noun. In the utterance /nìphå tyfa/
'spirit doctor prays', for instance, the substitution of /phwudapha/
'silversmith' for /nìphå/ does not alter the noun's function as subject of the verb /tyf/ 'pray', but with the substitution of /nì/
'spirit', the noun becomes the goal of the verb: /nì tyfa/ means
'pray to the spirits'. In the last two examples, on the other hand, /-phå/ and /-mā/ act as attributive adjectives in the same way as the final adjectives in /fngakú/ (water-buffalo-wild) 'wild buffalo' or /bīchwanyīchwal/ (dress=green) 'green dress'.

/-pha/ has either noun or adjective function in the expression /angakupha/ (water-buffalo=wild=man or =male). With noun /-pha/ as head of the expression, the meaning is 'Wild Buffalo Man' (a proper name), but adjective /-pha/ qualifies the preceding noun head /angaku/, to produce !male wild buffalo".

/zã/ resembles /-phã/ and /-mã/ in that its verbal function is limited to that of an attributive adjective, but as a noun it is a free form.

```
/zà/ 'son'

/áyázà/ (chicken=small) 'chick'

/zàmālézà/ (woman=young=small) 'little girl'

/yízàzà/ 'little thing' (partic=small=small)
```

In the first example /za/ is a free noun, but in the second and third

it is attributive to a preceding head as an adjectival modifier.

/áyázà/ is parallel to /áyáphà/ 'rooster' and /áyámā/ 'hen'. In

/zàmālézà/, /zà/ has the same function as adjectival /-phà/ in

/ángākūphà/ 'male wild buffalo'; the complex noun /zàmālé/ 'girl',

consisting of the noun /zàmā/ 'wife, woman' and the attributive

adjective /Ié/ 'young', is further modified by adjectival /zà/.

In the last example, reduplicated /zà/ occurs with proclitic

particle /yíe/ 'particularization' in the same way as, for instance,

the adjective /phwū/ 'white' in /yíphwūphwū/ 'white thing'.60

2.7 Verb Stem Extensions.

A <u>verb stem extension</u> is a bound form which is attributive to the head of a verb phrase. 61 Stem extensions follow the last verb of the phrase but precede post-verbal particles. They are distinguished from bound verbs in that each occurs with one tone only; the basic-final tone alternation is lacking. They are distinguished from particles in that a preceding verb regularly occurs with basic tone.

There are four verb stem extensions:

```
2.7.1 /-ghā/ 'actuality'

/lufwughā/ (throw=release=actual) 'throw away'

/ni tyfamāhā masūghāisphā?/

(spirit pray=nom=unit=contrast not=study=actual=yet=probably?)

'But I bet (you) haven't studied prayer (language)

yet, have you?'
```

^{60.} Compare the form /yizh/ 'child; young (of animals)', which is a noun derived from adjectival /zh/, since it has a generalized meaning, not the particularized force associated with /yi-/ in combination with free nouns (see section 2.4.2.3.3a).

^{61.} The verb phrase is discussed in the following chapter.

```
/ávè höghə. sw\hwallu./
    (pig raise=actual, die=change-of-state=new-situation.)
         'When (we) have raised pigs. (they) die.'
     /khyinkya yighali. thi ka./
     (adoptive-sibling do-actual=fashion, this is-like=nom.)
         'After (one) has become an adoptive sibling,
                that's the way things are.'
     /ylgyīghēa, ābā thimā nyimā kyā yilāu./
     (return=go=actual=nom, month one=unit two=units dwell
           return=come=change-of-state.)
         'After (you) go back (home), stay for one or two
             months and come back.
     /wuphami, gwothinyi ja bichwi jaghama ya: mabé?/
     (uncle=old, that=one=day rice insects eat=actual=item
              they not=say=nom?)
         *Old Uncle, 62 the other day didn't they say (anything about) the rice the bugs have eaten?
     /wu:, thìhwã khwagha - khwagha, thìhwã swi. thìhwã mù./
     (oh=emph, one=time hoe=actual - hoe=actual, one=time
                sow. one=time weed.)
         Oh, first (you) hoe - then when (you) have hoed,
              (you) sow. Then (you) weed.
2.7.2 /-wa/ 'get to; must'
     /thī bē, āzù ālī ngā né bēghawá ngā?/
     (this say, we how be you=to say=to=get-to is-so?)
         Saying this, (we) can tell you how it is with us, right?
```

^{62.} My courtesy title among the Lisu.

```
/ngwā ālī yia:hē, āmyīa gyīwangū./
    (I however de=nom=contrast, field=to go=must=is-so.)
        'Not matter what, I must go to the fields.'
    /sanyī amyl macwikhyīa, āzù jaghāa, yi khyī yllā,
          lyighawa: yiphwa./
    (in-future daughter not-capable=nom, we eat=actual=nom,
       she flee return=come=nom, give-back=termst. price)
         'Later on if (our) daughter isn't capable. (what)
           we've received, if she runs away and comes home.
           we have to give back, the (bride) price that is.
    /nwu tha wajwiwa lyiswungu sua: phwu amya: gawale./
     (you here=emph hills=in Lisu=language study=nom, silver
          much give=get-to=emph.)
         When you study Lisu here in the hills. (they) can
            give (you) lots of money.
    /kaha khányi khányi jawaswingu./
     (but=contrast consider consider eat=get-to=emph=is-so.)
         But (we) can get (a bride price) only depending
              (on the girl's qualifications).
     /amyī amyā: khwawahi, yaphyī thìkha nyìkha mawa./
     (field much hoe=get-to=further, opium one=tenth-joy
            two=tenths-joy not=get.)
         'And even if (you) can hoe the fields a lot, (you)
             don't even get one or two tenths of a joy
             of opium.
2.7.3 /-wu/ 'completed action'
     /chumi la piyla, yiphwuphwu thifwu gawu./
     onitionality and emorate arrivo-go-nom, particulationality
           one=bottle give=did.)
         When the old man came, (he) gave (us) a bottle of
                   home brew.
```

```
/yí kyž nganya, ngwa beghawu./
     (he dwell is-so=as-for, I say=to=complete.)
         'If he had been (there), I would have told (him).
     /ngwā thìtháa: gyī yìlāwū, āmyīa gyīu./
     (I one=moment go return=come=complete, field=to
           go=new-situation.)
         'When I've gone (out) for a moment and come back,
            then (I'll) go to the fields.
     /yí ámylnya yí hö dữwũ lã bé: thìgwūa: ./
     (his daughter=as-for he raise exit=complete come=nom
            say=nom one=finish=partic.)
         'As for his daughter, he's brought (her) up, that's all.'
2.7.4 /-cua/ 'action once performed'
     /nwu kuthiwa gyicua?/ (you Bangkok=to go=have-ever?)
         "Have you ever gone to Bangkok?"
     /magyicua./ (not=go=have-ever.)
         '(I've) never gone (there).'
```

2.8 Introductory Words.

There are three independent words which occur only as the first element in a sentence. They do not combine with other words, ⁶³ and have grammatical functions differing markedly from those of any other element in the language.

2.8.1 /han/ 'if'

/han/ regularly introduces a primary topic clause (see section 4.4.2.3a).

^{63.} Although /ka/ 'but; and' does occur with general particles; see 2.8.3.

```
(if he here dwell, I say=to=nom.)
              "If he were here, I would tell him."
          /han gwa ka mada, han beswingu./
          (if sing put-in not=can, angry say=nom=emph=is-so.)
              'If (we) don't sing into (the tape recorder),
                 (he'll) be angry (with us) I tell you.
          /han piyihi, swu gejù begheu./
          (if arrive=go=related-focus, other-people give=emph
               say=to=new-situation.)
              'If you once get (there), tell (them) others will
                     give (the money).
/han/ does not appear frequently in my data. Relationships such as
condition or cause, which are expressed in English between subordinate
and main clauses, are largely undistinguished in Lisu. For example
a sentence such as:
          /nwu ylgyI, mayllau./
          (you return=go, not=return=come=new-situation.)
can equally well be translated:
              "If you go back (home), (you) won't come back any more."
              'When you go back ...'
OFI
             'After you go back ...'
              'Since you're going back ...'
                                              etc.
While such distinctions of relationship are most commonly unmarked
in Lisu, some can be specified, and /han/ 'if' is such a specifior.
     2.8.2 /swi/ or /yiswi/ 'in that case, in the case of'
            /swf/ and /yiswf/ introduce either a main or an attributive
clause (see 4.4 and 5.1), indicating that it is related to prior discourse.
```

/han yí tha kya, ngwa beghea./

- /j≅phò wā dūlīnyā, ngwā gwā póa. j≅phò mawā dūnyā, gwā mapó./ /sw£ yí gwā kwúanyā, ngwā gyī vwũa./
- /Liquor get-to drink=new-situation=as-for, I sing dare=nomliquor not=get-to drink=as-for, sing not=dare.) (in-case he sing know-how=nom=as-for, I go buy=nom.)
 - 'If (I) have had some liquor to drink, I dare sing.

 If (I) haven't had any liquor to drink, (I) don't dare sing.' 'Provided he can sing, (I'll) go buy (some liquor).'
- /ámylnya wùphya sya, lách tyí, hin swa. swa myödama yianya, azù yī./
- (daughter=as-for vegetables make, peppers pound, house sweep. In-the-case work=big do=nom=as-for, we do.)
 - 'As for a daughter, (she) cooks vogetables, pounds peppers, sweeps the house. In the case of doing heavy work, we (adults) do (it).'
- /yinyīzā thámalá: hwā hwāyī. yiswá yikúkūnyā myìhīnkhwū hwā./
- (partic=younger-brother ordinary meat seek=go. in-the-case-of partic=older=brother=as-for wind=hole seek.)
 - 'The younger brother went out hunting as usual. In the case of the older brother, however, (he) went looking for a "wind hole".'
- 2.8.3 /ka/ 'and; but'

/ka differs from the other introductory words in that it occurs not only alone, but in combination with the general focus particles /-ha/ and /-hf(nyī)/ (see section 5.4.2.2). Like /(yí)swi/, /ka/ marks the clause in which it occurs as related to prior discourse.

```
/nylc=ngwahin jua./ /ka - myisyidama - /

(2 X 10 + 5=houses have=nom.) (but - brother-in-law=big - )

"There are 25 houses." "But, (how about my) big
brother-in-law ..."

/nwu lyiswungu ch=nyi aba chuma sughaa, su gwulia?/

/su gwu madapha?/ /kaha athithe piyia, amya: seu./
```

(you Lisu=language this-year months six=units study=actual=nom, study finish=change-of-state=nom?) (study finish not=can=probably?) (but=contrast this=when arrive=go=nom, much know=new-situation.)

'After you've studied Lisu for six (more) months this year, will have made a complete study?' 'I don't think I can finish it allo' 'But still, by then (you) will know a lot.'

/thīmā fasyī dau. kāhinyī yi kwacī thikhwu thwaalu./

(this=unit trust can=new-situation. but=related-focus her skin one=place thick=emph.)

'This one (we) can trust now. But even so in some ways she's really thick skinned.'
[i.e. won't obey readily]

2.9 Particles. 64

A particle is a bound form which is prefixed or suffixed to a substantive, a verb, a verb stem extension, or the connective /ka/
but; and (see the preceding paragraph). Particles do not act as heads of constructions but serve either to derive one form class from another (2.4.2.3.3) or to mark grammatical relationships between phrases in the clause (4.3) or between clauses in the sentence (5.4).
This fact distinguishes particles from bound nouns and rorbs, but

^{64.} This term, often applied to isolated free forms, in this dissertation refers to bound forms with primarily grammatical function, as, for example in W. C. Cornyn's Outline of Burmese Grammar.

particles are also distinguished from bound verbs in that they occur with one tone only (cf. above section 1.6.2.2). Particles are distinguished from verb stem extensions in that they are preceded by verbs in final tone or by other particles.

Particles are of two basic types: proclitic and non-proclitic.

The former are prefixed to nouns or verbs to form nouns; they have been described in detail in section 2.4.2.3.3. Non-proclitic particles are of three kinds: substantive particles, a group of five which define the class of substantives, e.g.:

```
/nwu "tha wajwawa de, lyiswungu su./65

(you here emph kills to climb, Lisu language study.)

"You've come up here in the hills to study Lisu."

/tanwu la syiangu; yflé./

(police come kill=nom=is-so. they=as-for)

"The police would come and kill them."

verb particles, which occur only with verbs and verb stem extensions:

/nwu magyī, yf malāu./

(you not=go, he not=come=change-of-state.)

"If you don't go, then he won't come."

/ngwa amyīwa magyīni./

(I field=to not=go=yet.)

"I'm not going to the fields yet."

/kyāhimā./ (dwell=further=urging.)
```

'Stay (a while) longer.'

^{65.} Illustrative particles and their literal translations are underlined.

and general particles which occur with substantives, verbs, and verb stem extensions:

/nwu yi abamele. nwu gwawale./

(you her adoptive-father=emph. you sing=must=emph.)

'You're her adoptive father. You must sing.'

/nwu malanya, swu né - magè la; 'thinwanya./

(you not=come=as-for, other-people you=with-respect-to - not=let come. one=emph=time=as-for)

'If you don't come (quickly), they won't let you come, another time that is.'

Since non-proclitic particles mark phrase and clause functions, full discussions are postponed to Chapters IV and V, The Clause and The Sentence.

2.10 Reduplication.

Reduplication is the repetition of a single syllable, either immediately in one word (simple reduplication) or in conjunction with two other, phonologically unrelated, syllables in the form ABAC or ABCB (complex reduplication). Both types form a single word, wither a substantive or a verb. Simple reduplication is a productive process in modern Lisu, but complex reduplication is not. The latter frequently involves use of bound forms in other than their usual environments, or of 'poetic' vocabulary otherwise found only in songs, where conversational dissyllables also are often replaced by one of the syllables alond. Complex reduplicated forms thus have a connotation of 'literary' style.

Reduplication occurs with both substantives and verbs, though more frequently with the latter.

2.10.1 Reduplication with substantives.

Simple reduplication occurs only with monosyllabic place and time nouns. Its function is 'intensification' of the simple forms

/nö'nö lwwkhww wwwww gyigha, a'mai; makya./

/yonder=yonder=emph water-hole head=to go=actual,
whoever=emph=partic not=dwell.)

'Once (we) go way over there to the source of the
water hole, no one'll be around.'

/alitowa./ /gyö:. 'jójō./

(which=place=at.) (there. there=emph=there.)

'Where?' 'There. Way over there.'

/nè'né:/ (early=early=emph)

Complex reduplication is more common with substantives than simple reduplication; its occurrence is not limited to time and place words. Again, the meaning is 'intensification', but here with 'literary' overtones.

'early in the morning; very early'

/mwłsźmyïsź phyöa/ war breaks /mwil/ !land, country, city' /s≝/ 'argument' /-myī/ 'field, terrain' cf. /si phyoa/ 'an argument breaks out' /thicaithilu/ 'everywhere. /thi-/ 'one' all over' /-cai/ 'classifier for villages' /-lu/ a form which occurs only in such complex reduplications, apparently meaning 'place'; cf. footnote 66, below.

cf. /swimyIcia:lI/ (same)

In the last example, the reduplicated form is followed by the particularizing particle /-a/ (section 4.3.4), and the whole expression is attributive to the bound noun /-ll/ 'fashion, manner, wav'.66

2.10.2 Reduplication with verbs:

The great majority of reduplicated forms involve verbs, but, while complex reduplication serves, as with substantives, to intensify the base meaning of the elements and add a literary flavor, simple reduplication has the special function of nominalizing a verb.

The substantive function of most reduplicated verbs is demonstrated by the fact that such forms do not occur as head of a clause, while they do appear in functions within the clause which are normally filled by substantives.

A simple verb has the potential of functioning as head of a clause (see 4.0). Even when such a verb is attributive to a following noun, this potential is not lost, e.g.:

66. With these examples compare:

/mylhInluhIn/ 'a great storm'

from /mylhīn/ 'wind', /-lū/ ?'place'? (cf. the second example above), and /-hān/ from /mahān/ 'rain'. Although there is no exact repetition here, the syllables /-hīn/ and /-hān/ are very similar, and the whole expression not only resembles complex reduplication in form, but has the same meaning of intensification and literary style. The example is unique in my data.

```
/yísya akhá háma gwa kwúa./
          (sound very good=nom=item sing know-how=nom.)
              '(I) can sing with a very good voice.'
where the adjective /ha/ 'good' is head of the clause /akha ha/ 'very
good, which modifies the bound noun /-m2/ 'unit item'.
     But when a verb is reduplicated, it loses this potential; such
forms do not act as head of a clause, but rather have functions
within the clause which are elsewhere filled by substantives, e.g. 67
     Subjects
          /nahwun thuahina, du phyo nanai: dau./
          (mouth insert=nom=related-focus, poison become
              near=near=continuous-state is-at=new-situation.)
               'And if (you) put (your fingers) in your mouth, it
                 will be almost like poison.
          /hakhya mahaha dula./
           (at-first not=good=good exit=come=nom.)
               'At first a bod one will come out.'
                  [i.e. a bad sound in singing]
     Place words:
           /thi ammuna sephakhwiwa kaa, da nga?/
           (this being=high=high=at bowl=inside=at
                put-in=nom, can=nom is-so?)
               '(We) can put this up high in the bowl, can't we?
           /qốqố/ 'low'
                                             < /go/ 'be low'
           /anéné/ 'deep'
                                             < /ne/ be deep
```

^{67.} On the clause elements, see Chapter IV.

```
Goalı
```

```
/thīmānyā magwathwù syösyöi: ngune./
         (this=unit=as-for song=barrel resemble=resemble=
             continuous-state is=emph.)
             'This guy is a real storehouse of songs.'
         /yima khú khú kaliu./
         (tail convex=convex=emph become=new-situation.)
             (His) tail became short and round. [of the
                partridge after its tail feathers were
                pulled out]
    Adverb:
         /toto yla: mu./
         (straight=straight do=nom. you)
             'Act properly, you.'
         /swiswia: dumà./
         (slow=slow=partic drink=urging.)
              'Take your time drinking.'
    Topic:
         /nyinyia; nya yakhyiphya ngwahyan chuhyannya piyiu./
          (little=little=partic=as-for rupee=coins five=hnndred
            six=hundred=as-for reach=go=new-situation.)
              'If (you only get) a little, (it'll) come to
                   five or six hundred rupees.
        2.10.2.1 Reduplication with /-1V/:
                   With a limited group of dissyllabic and tri-
syllabic adjectives in which the last syllable consists of /1/
and a vowel, reduplication intensifies the meaning of the
adjective. These forms frequently appear as goal in equational
```

```
sentences (see 5.1.2.2) as well as in other substantive positions.
Examples are:
     In equations:
          /lapakhyl nyalèlè./ (dirt muddy=emph.)
              '(It's) really muddy.'
          /yi hwach khyèlèlè./ (he oil spattered=emph.)
              'He's thoroughly spattered with oil.'
          /hīnchū jàlàlà./ (rafters mixed-up-parallel=emph.)
              'The rafters are messily parallel.' [at one
                     stage of building a house]
     Elsewhere:
          /dw#lema phelele morwughea, .../
          (wing=items noisily=emph flap=release=actual=nom, ...)
               'After (the eagle) had flapped his wings with
                    a great noise, ... '
           /khululu ta./ (loose=emph stay.)
               '(It's) really loosely packed.'
     Compare. unreduplicated in adjective function:
           /lapakhyl nyale./ (dirt muddy.)
               '(It's) muddy.'
           /lapakhyl khyele./ (dirt spattered.)
               '(He's) spattered with dirt.'
           /lamakyele/ (big-cat=striped) 'tiger'
           /myaskyale/ (eye=ball=naked) 'the naked eye' (for
                                          putting feer into someone)
```

Reductions of these forms are the source of syllabic /1/,68 when the vowel of the first reduplicated syllable drops. The resulting forms regularly have emphatic stress and are more intensive than the simple reduplicated forms:

```
/'nyalla/ 'really middy'

/'knyella/ 'completely spattered'

/'gyīlla/ 'really dull' (not shiny)

/'khalla/ 'really messy; really annoying'

/'phollo/ 'extremely big and round'

/'bollo/ 'very fat'69
```

2.10.2.2 Other elements in combination with reduplicated verbs:

Nouns formed by the reduplication of verbs also appear with a number of other elements, both prefixed and suffixed. The two prefixed elements are the proclitic particles /a-/ and /yf-/ (2.4.2.3.3), which occur with reduplicated adjectives, the first marking a continuous state:

/abobb/ 'lying down'

```
/byflè/ 'full'
/byflè/ 'shiny'
/kalè/ 'sticking out'

Except that /ya/ in the first syllable is regularly followed by /e/ in the second:
/nyàlè/ 'muddy'
/kyàlè/ 'naked'
```

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

/myale/ 'dangling'

^{68.} See section 1.2.

^{69.} In these adjectives there is a somewhat erratic vowel harmony. In the great majority, the vowel of the last syllable is the same as that of the preceding one (as in most of these examples). In my data, this harmony is regular where the vowel of the first syllable is /e/ or /ə/, but elsewhere it isnot carried through consistently, e.g.:

```
/azázá/ 'gently, softly'
         /anéné/ deep!
         /thī amúmūwā s≆phèkhwùwā kéa, dá ngā?/
         (this being=high=high=at bowl=inside=at put-in=nom,
             can=nom is-so?)
              '(We) can put this up high in the bowl, can't we?'
          /achichi maghaa?/ (being=genuine=genuine teach=to=nom?)
              "(Will you) really teach (me)?"
the second with a particularizing force: 'a thing which partakes
of the quality of the verb.
          /yiswiswi/ (partic=red=red) 'the color red; a red thing'
          /yikaka/ (partic=withered=withered) 'a withered thing'
          /yidodo/ (partic=folded=folded) 'folded or piled up things'
          /chuma la piyia, yiphwiphwi - thifwu gawu./
          (old man come=nom arrive=go=nom, partic=white=white -
               one=bottle give=did.)
              'When the old man arrived, (he) gave (us) a bottle
                   of home brew.
          /yi hwa yinwahwa kaligwu./
          (her flesh partic=striped=striped become=
                change-of-state=finish.)
              '(Her) flesh became striped all over.'
     Elements which follow reduplicated verbs in a word are bound
nouns, e.g.:
          /nwinwill/ (soft=soft=manner) 'softly, gently'
          /totoswi/ (reversed=reversed=direction)
               'backwards, wrong way round'
```

```
/khvökhvöswæ/ (rectangular=rectangular=dimension)
              'lengthwise'
          /mamanyi/ (certain=certain=fashion)
              'certainly'
          /yisya hahaswa beghes./
          (sound good=good=nom=type say=to=nom.)
              'Speak with a good sound.'
where /-li/ 'manner, way', /-swi/ 'direction, dimension', /-nyi/
'manner, fashion', and /-swł/ 'type, kind' are bound nouns;
or particles;e.g.:
     Substantive particle /-a/ *particularization* (often in
     combination with falling pitch and emphatic stress); 70
          /behé benya, yisya nyonyoa, ka./
          (bachae say=nom=as-for, sound short=short=partic is-like=nom.)
               'Talking of bæhæ, the sound is soft.'
          /swiswia: duma./ (slow=slow=partic drink=urging.)
               'Drink slowly.' [i.e. take your time drinking]
          /nyinyia:nya, yakhyiphya ngwahyan chuhyannya piyiu./
          (little=little=partic=as-for, rupee=coins five=hundred
                 six=hundred=as-for reach=go=new-situation.)
               'If (you get only) a little, (it'll) come to five
                    or six hundred rupees.
```

^{70.} See section 4.3.5.

Verb particle /-hi/ 'continuous state or action, repeated action' (here regularly reduced to /-i/ with falling pitch):

/yı mkhyl huhulis, yı hwa yıhwahwa kelligwu./

(her stomach diarrheic=diarrheic=continuous-state, her flesh partic=striped=striped become=finish.)

'She was having continuous diarrhea, and her flesh became striped all over.

/thīmānyā magwāthwù syosyoi: ngune./

(this=unit=as=for song=barrel resemble=resemble= continuous=state is=emph.)

This guy is a real store house of songs.

/nyoghaa, pyápyái: kalinjù; wúpa náhwunha./

(pinch=actual=nom, flat=flat=continuous-state become= new-situation=emph. frog's mouth=contrast)

'After (he had) pinched (it with tongs), (it) became completely flattened, the frog's mouth that is.

2.10.2.3 Complex reduplication with verbs:

Complex reduplicated forms involving only verbs act as either substantive or verb. As noted above, such forms are intensive and have a literary flavor.

/guligula gyla/ (crooked=return=crooked=come go=nom)

"go twisting and winding"

where the reduplicated form is an adverbial noun. 71

/gwagyogwamulehua/ 'meet, hold a meeting'

where the reduplicated form is a verb derived from the colloquial form /gwagyo hold a meeting. a literary short form of this: /gwa-/. and the verb /mú/ see. /-lèhū/ mutually is an auxiliary verb (section 2.5.5).

^{71.} See section 4.2.1.4

2.10.3 Complex reduplication with substantives and verbs:

In this form of reduplication, a single verb combines with two nouns in the form VN_1VN_2 or N_1VN_2V . The verb of such expressions is regularly a colloquial free form, but the nouns are frequently 'poetic' short forms. The expressions function as either a verb or an adverbial noun.

```
VN_VN_2:

/kachikale/ (stab=foot=stab=hand)

'paw over'

N_VN_2V:

/gwdbyTnyTbyT/ (body=beautiful=heart=beautiful)

'beautiful in body and spirit'

/wdp&wdsyZ/ (head=comb=head=make)

'make up, make oneself pretty, clean up'

/wdtyfwdpZ/ (head=keep=head=exchange)

'aligned head to foot' [i.e. the head of one to the foot of the other]

/mwiyTlwdyT/ (land=work='place'=work)

'industrious'
```

In these examples, only /mwł/ 'land, country, city' among the nouns is a colloquial free form; all others are poetic shortenings of colloquial forms, e.g. /chł-/ from /chłphe/ 'foot', /lè-/ from /lèphe/ 'hand', etc. The form /lwú-/, however, is unexplained by the informant: it is not from a colloquial expression and does not occur elsewhere in the corpus. It is presumably a literary near-synonym for /mwł/.

2.10.4 Distinguishing reduplication from repetition:

Reduplication, with its special grammatical functions, is to be distinguished from simple repetition of a form. Although reduplication is frequently phonologically identical with a particular case of repetition, the two are distinguished in three wayss a) Reduplicated forms are inseparable, even by pause, while

repeated forms are facultatively separated by pause.

/thī j\ph\ du du gwa, yisya akha hama gwa./ (this liquor drink drink sing, sound very good=nom=item sing.)

'If (you) sing while (you) keep drinking liquor this way, (you'll) be in very good voice."

b) Reduplication involves the single repetition of a form, while true repetition is indefinitely extensible, i.e. a form can be repeated as many times as the speaker Wishes.

> /gyī gyī gyī gyī, gwā neyī thìvwhwā pīyī pīyīa, 'gwo: àpwū syl jau./

(go go go go, there body-of-water one=head=to reach=go reach=go=nom, there=emph cucumber kill eat=change-of-state.)

'(They) kept going, going, going, and when (they) reached the head of the lake, there (they) cut open the cucumber to eat (it).

c) Repeated forms do not combine with either particles or bound nouns; they are isolated simple free forms.

Chapter III

The Phrase

3.0 Introduction.

Two or more elements which bear the same grammatical relationship to other elements in an utterance, exclusive of their own attributes, are coordinate. Coordination occurs at the phrase level or higher.

There are two major types of phrase in Lisu: the substantive phrase (section 3.1) and the verb phrase (3.2).

3.1 The Substantive Phrase.

A <u>substantive phrase</u> is a sequence of words attributive, directly or indirectly, to a single substantive head or to two or more coordinate substantive heads. For example, in:

/kyamyo kyagwuwa gyl jagwu/
(monkey dwell=place=to go path)

'the way to where the monkeys live'

/kyãmyö kyãgwū/ 'monkeys' dwelling place' is a substantive phrase, with the clause /kyãmyö kyã/ 'monkeys dwell' attributive to the bound noun /-gwū/ 'place.' This phrase occurs within the clause /kyãmyö kyãgwūwā gyī/ 'go to the monkeys' dwelling place', which

^{1.} On attribution, see section 2.1.

^{2.} The clause and its elements (subject. goal. etc.). mentioned here in discussing the illustrations, are described in the following chapter.

is, in turn, attributive to the noun /jāgwū/ 'path, way'. The entire construction is thus a single substantive phrase.

On the other hand, in:

/azu lyīswu maju./
(we Lisu not=have.)

'We Lisu don't have (any).'

the subject phrase /azù lyīswī/ we Lisu is coordinate, since either noun by itself could act as subject.

3.1.1 Simple substantive phrases:

A <u>simple substantive phrase</u> consists of a single substantive word, as in:

/yí thùghè búa./ (he letter write=nom.)

'He is writing.'

where /yf/ 'he' and /thughe/ 'paper, book, letter' are simple morphemes, each forming a simple phrase - the first as subject, the second as goal of the verb.

/sūdā phálàngù. gwöthìnyī yí béngūnē./
(soda occidental=language. that=one=day he say=nom=is-so=emph.)

'(The word) soda (is) English. The other day he said (so).'

Here the noun morpheme /sūdā/ 'soda (water)' forms a phrase as subject

in an equational sentence (see 5.1.2.2) in which the compound noun

/phālàngù/ 'occidental language' is a simple phrase acting as the

goal. In the second sentence, the complex counter /gwöthinyī/ 'the

other day', consisting of deictic, numeral, and classifier, is a

simple time-word phrase, and the noun /y1/ 'he' is a simple phrase acting as subject.

3.1.2 Attribute substantive phrases:

An <u>attribute substantive phrase</u> consists of a substantive word as head, preceded and/or followed by attributes which are not part of the head word.³

3.1.2.1 Phrases with preceding attribute:

Preceding attributes are nouns or clauses which act as nouns (see section 4.4.1) .

When one noun is attributive to another, the attribute regularly precedes the head, unless it is derived from an adjective (see below, section 3.1.2.2).

/yi hin/ (he house) 'his house'

/làchū yimyö/ (person name) 'people's names'

/nwū phálàngù/ (you occidental=language) 'your English'

/zàmālé màgwā/ (girl song) 'courting song'

/kùswà ābā/ (year=renew month) 'New Year's Month'

(the first month of the lunar year)

/lù jagwu/ (vehicle path) 'road'

/jagwu yikha/ (path side) 'the side of the road'

Clauses occur as attributes preceding a noun head (see also 4.4.1). In such constructions the verb is frequently, but not regularly, nominalized with final tone and/or final particle /-a/ (see 4.5).

^{3.} Under this definition the combination of attributes with a head to form a single compound or complex substantive does not constitute an attribute phrase. Such substantive phrases are simple; see the preceding paragraph.

```
/j≆phe du megwa/ (liquor drink song)
             'drinking song'
         /chuhān khwu jà mègwā/ (personal-spirit call eat song)
              'song for calling back a personal spirit' [whose
                departure has caused illness]
         /sākē jūa hīn/ (three=room have=nom house)
              'thres-room house'
          /kyamyo kyagwuwa gyi jagwu/ (monkey dwell=place=to go path)
              'the way to where the monkeys live'
     The constructions above involve free noun heads. A limited
number of bound nouns also occur as head to an attributive clause.
     The bound noun /-gwu/ 'place' forms attribute phrases with a
preceding clause consisting of a single word subject plus a verb:
          /lyiswu kyagwu/ (Lisu dwell place) 'Lisu dwelling place'
          /yi nyītagwu/ (he sit=place) 'his seat' (external location,
                                           not a part of his anatomy)
The first of these expressions contains the clause /lyīswī kyā/ 'Lisu
dwell', the second /yi nyīti/ 'he sits (down)'. However, the combina-
tion of verb plus /-gwu/ forms a complex free noun to which the subject
of the clause is attributive in the same way as if they were two
simple nouns. In this connection, compare, for example, the
structures of the sentences:
          /nww hin-wa gyia./ (your house=to go=nom.)
              "Go to your house."
          /lyīswī kyāgwūwā gyīa./ (Lisu dwell=place=to go=nom.)
              'Go to the Lisu village.'
```

In the first of these, /nwu/ 'you' and /hln/ 'house' are simple nouns. The similarity of the simple noun combination and the clause-derived phrase can be shown by the parallel manner in which the phrase elements act when various changes are made in the sentences. If the initial nouns are dropped, for instance, the remaining elements in /hln-wl gyll' 'go home' and /kylgwuwl gyll' 'go to the dwelling place' retain the same relationship as the original sentences, while dropping the second noun in each case gives /nwu gyll' 'you go' and /lylswu gyll' 'Lisu go', in which the nouns function as subject. Thus /hln/ and /kylgwu/ are heads of their respective phrases.

Again, the phrase elements act in parallel manner if separated by the topic particle /-nya/, as in:

/nwunya hin maju./ (you=as-for house not=have.)

'As for you, (you) don't have a house.'

/lyīswunyā kyāgwu maju./ (Lisu=as-for dwell=place not=have.)

"As for the Lisu, (they) don't have a place to live."

Here, as topics, " /nwu / and /ly swu / are heads of separate phrases,

while /hīn / and /ky agwu / are goals of the verb /ju / 'have'.

In both illustrations, the phrase elements function in the same way regardless of whether the phrase is composed of simple nouns or is derived from a clause attributive to /-gwu/.

The bound nouns /-dwu/ 'mechanism, means, knowledge' and /-swu/
'one who (does something)' form phrases similar to those with /-gwu/,
but here the attributive clauses consist of a noun phrase goal plus
a verb.

^{4.} The 'topic' is discussed in sections 4.2.3.2 and 4.4.2.3.

```
< /thugha/ 'paper, book,
/thugha budwu/ writing
                  implement *
                                                letter'
                                    /bu/ write 5
                                    /-dwu/ mechanism
                                 < /sichi/ 'teeth'
/sichi chadwu/ 'toothbrush'
                                    /chã/ 'rub'
                                    /-dwu/ mechanism
/yīkū khyl kēdwū/ 'ashtray'
                                 < /yīku/ cigarette
                                    /khyl/ 'feces; waste'
                                     /ka/ 'put in'
                                     /-dwu/ mechanism
/thughe suswu/ 'student'
                                 < /thughe/ paper, book,
                                                  letter*
                                     /su/ 'study'
                                     /-swu / one who!
/jagwū syaswū/ 'road builder'
                                 < /jagwu/ 'path, road'
                                     /syã/ 'make'
                                     /-swu/ one who 6
```

Constructions with /-gwu/, /-dwu/, and /-swu/ are limited to a clause consisting of a single noun phrase as subject or goal plus a simple verb. With some other bound nouns, however, clauses

^{5.} On the tone of verbs attributive to a following noun, see below, section 4.5.

^{6. /}swu/ occurs as a free form meaning 'another person, a third person, other people'. but with the meaning 'one who (does something)' /-swu/ occurs only with a preceding clause attribute. Consequently, the latter is considered a bound function of the free form. Compare the bound function of certain verbs in sections 2.4.1.2.3, 2.4.2.3.1.2, and 2.5.1.3.

```
of any length and structure occur as attribute, just as they do
with free nouns, e.g.;
     /-ma/ 'unit, item'
          /nwū yìgyĩamã ābā amyāmā dâhè./
          (you return-go-nom-item months how-many-units
                     remain=further.)
              How many more months are left (before) your
                     return(home)?
          /lyīswū mègwā akhé gwā kwúamā zàmē wángū./
          (Lisu songs very-much sing know-how=nom=unit wife
                  get=nom=is-so.)
               Those (men) who can sing a lot of Lisu songs
                      get wives.'
          /nl tylamaha masughai:pha?/
          (spirit pray=nom=item=contrast not=study=actual=yet=probably.)
               *But I bet (you) haven t studied spirit prayer
                     (language) yet, have you?
          /lyiswunya akhá sáa; ma wa./
          (Lisu=as-for very-much know=nom=units get=nom.)
               Among the Lisu (you) get individuals who know
                    a great many (songs).
           /yisya akhá háma gwa kwia./
           (sound very good=nom=item sing know-how=nom.)
               *(I) can sing (with) a very good voice.*?
```

^{7.} With these constructions compare the complex words formed with a clause attributive to /-pha/ *man* or /-ma/ *woman*, section 2-h-2-3-1-2-

```
/⇒swł/ 'type. kind'
         /haswi tha la. mahaswi tha la: lù jagwuwa./
         (good=nom=type here come, not=good=type here come.
                vehicle path=at)
              Good types (of things) come here, bad types come
                  here, along the road.
         /yisya akha haswaha jua; zamale./
         (sound very gcod=nom=type=contrast have=nom. wcman=young)
              'And there are those with really good voices.
                     girls that is.
    /-lī/ 'fashion, manner, way'
          /akha dù twstall kallu./
          (Akha poison smear=be=nom=fashion become=new-situation.)
              "It's as if (your hands) were smeared with Akha poison."
          /azu nyiswi gwawu. nwu yiali chau./
          (we two=relatives sing=have. you do=nom=fashion
                   lack=new-situation.)
              We two relatives have sung. Now it only remains
                  for you to do so. *
         3.1.2.2 Expansions:
                  Attribute phrases also occur as attribute to a
following noun, forming a larger attribute phrase of the shape
(A + B) + C
          /nwu amyl/ 'your daughter'
             in: /nwu amyl misa/ 'your daughter's share'
          /anvi acwa/ 'cow's milk!
             in: /anyī acwī kāfē/ coffee with milk!
```

/lù jāgwū/ (vehicle path) 'road'

in: /lù jāgwū yīkhè/ 'side of the road'

/lyīswū kyāgwū/ 'Lisu dwelling place'

in: /lyīswū kyāgwū yīkhèwā/ 'outside the Lisu village'

3.1.2.3 Phrases with following attribute:

Phrases in which the attribute follows a substantive head occur only when the attribute is derived from an adjectival verb. Such phrases occur with adjectives nominalized either by reduplication or with the proclitic particles /yf-/ and /a-/ (see 2.4.2.3.3).

With reduplicated adjective:

Such reduplicated forms occur only with monosyllabic adjectives. Those with more than one syllable occur as attributes only in simple form, either bound to the preceding noun (see 2.4.2.3.1.2), or nominalized with /yf-/ or /a-/ (see the following paragraph).

With adjective nominalized with /yf-/ or /a-/:

/blichwl ylnylchwl/ 'green dress' < /blichwl/ 'dress'

/yf-/ 'nominalization'

/nylchwl/ 'green'

/yisyà adama/ 'loud sound' < /yisyà/ 'sound'

/a-/ 'nominalization'

/-dàma/ 'big'

/aba yiswà/ 'next month' < /aba/ 'month'

/yi-/ 'nominalization'

/swà/ 'new'

Phrases of this type are frequently paralleled by a complex noun in which the adjective combines directly with the preceding noun (see 2.4.2.3.1.2). Compare with the above:

/bichwinyichwi/ (dress=green) 'green dress'
/yisyidimi/ (sound=big) 'loud sound'

Such parallel constructions are not always present, however; there is no short form parallel to /3b2 yisw1/ 'next month'.

3.1.2.4 Combinations:

Both preceding and following attributes also occur in a single phrase.

/ngwa bichwł yinyichwł/ 'my green dress'

/lù jagwu yiphiphi/ (vehicle path nom=smooth=smooth)

'smooth road'

3.1.3 Coordinate substantive phrases:

A coordinate substantive phrase consists of two or more coordinate substantive heads, with or without modifiers. Coordinate phrases are of four types: additive, appositive, alternative, and distributive.

3.1.3.1 Additive phrases:

The heads of an additive substantive phrase collectively share the grammatical relationship of the phrase to other elements in the utterance. In such phrases the enumerative substantive particle /-kyī/ 'and' is optionally present after each head, except that when another particle is also present at the end of the phrase, it replaces /-kyī/ there.

'father and mother; parents'

/angà zàchwł dúa./ (buffalo orphan exit=nom.)

'There were (once) a buffalo and an orphan.'

/nwūkyī ngwākyī tàhù gyĩa./

(you=and I=and together go=nom.)

'You and I go together.'

/làhākyī àkhànyā ámyl jūa mahā./

(Lahu=and Akha=as=for daughter have=nom not=good.)

'For the Lahu and the Akha, having daughters isn't good.'

Appositive substantive phrases consist of two or more substantive heads, which, unlike those of an additive phrase, have a single referent. The first of two appositive heads states the referent, the second specifies or limits the first.

3.1.3.2 Appositive phrases:

^{8.} The Lahu, like the Akha, are a linguistically related hill tribe group.

a) Appositive phrases consisting of nouns are, in shape, the same as unmarked additive phrase, but the enumerative particle /-kyī/ 'and' does not occur in appositive phrases.

/azù lyīswū/ 'we Lisu'
/nwū mīlyīká/ 'you Americans'
/thā wàjwāwā/ (here hills=at) 'here in the hills'

b) Phrases with following attributive adjectival noun (see 3.1.2.3) alternate not only with single complex words, but also with appositive phrases in which the second noun is attributive to the bound noun $/-m\overline{a}/$ *unit, item*.

/bichwł yinyichwłama/ (dress nomegreen=partic=item)

the dress, the green one'

cf. /bichwł yinyichwł/ and /bichwłnyichwł/ green dress /yisya adamama/ (sound nomebig=item)

'a sound, a big one'

cf. /yisyà adama/ and /yisyàdama/ big sound

c) Longer phrases derived from a clause attributive to /-ma/ also occur appositive to a preceding noun.

/nwu pas alīka jūama/ (you ability how much have nomeone)
'you, one who has such great ability'

house which has three rooms

This construction is a common alternative to the direct modification of a noun (other than $/-m\bar{a}/)$ by a preceding clause. With the second example above, compare;

/hīn sākā jūamā/ (house three=room have=nom=item)

/saka jua hin/ (three=room have=nom-house) *three=room house*

d) The most common form of appositive phrase is that in which a noun - the thing counted - is specified as to amount by a following counter. Such phrases are counter phrases.

/aba thima/ (month one=unit) 'one month'

/pu nyitha/ (gun two=stick-like-things) 'two guns'

/makha thinyi/ (nighttime one=day) 'one night'

In a counter phrase, the counted noun determines the range of choice of classifier in the counter. Frequently a single noun is counted with several classifiers, and the general classifier /-ma/ 'unit, item' occurs with almost all nouns, even when another classifier is the usual form.

/jāmījū thìmā/ (rice=table one=item) 'one table'

/jāmījū thìkhwá/ (rice=table one=board) 'one table'

/jāmījū thìphà/ (rice=table one=implement) 'one table'

/nākhwū thìmā/ (nose one-item) 'one nose'

/nākhwū thìsà/ (nose one=round-thing) 'one nose'

/nākhwū thìthā/ (nose one=stick-like-thing) 'one nose'

/whichā thìthā/ (horn one=stick-like-thing) 'one (animal) horn'

/whichā thìchā/ (horn one=sharp-implement) 'one horn'

/whichā thìkhyö/ (horn one=member-of-a-pair) 'one horn'

/whichā thìphē/ (horn one=pair) 'a pair of horns'

/yī nylzū/ (they two=individuals) 'they two'

/yī thìmā/ (he one=unit) 'he alone'

e) Additive and appositive phrases without counter also occur as part of larger appositive phrases with counter. In such constructions, the range of choice of classifier is determined by the overlap in the ranges determined by each noun, or, in the case of additive phrases, by a classifier applicable to the combination of members.

Additive phrase plus counter:

/baba mama nyizu ~ thigyö/, etc.

(father mother two=individuals ~ one=pair)

'father and mother, the two of them;
father and mother as a couple'

/bichwi machi nyikhu ~ thitho/

(dress trousers two=cloth-items ~ one=suit)

'a dress and a pair of trousers; one suit of clothes'

In these two examples, each coordinate noun in the additive phrases determines the same range of classifiers as the other, while the combination of the two determines the classifiers /-gyo/ 'pair' or /-th6/ 'suit'.

When there is no overlap in the classifiers determined by members of an additive phrase, each member is counted separately.

/anga thima zachwi thizu/

(buffalo one=unit orphan one=individual)

'a buffalo and an orphan'

Appositive phrase plus counter:

/azu lyiswu thikhyo ~ thijł/, etc.

(we Lisu one=tribal-group ~ one=kind)

'we, the Lisu tribe; we, the Lisu [kind]'

/azù/ 'we' and /lyīswū/ 'Lisu' both determine the classifiers /khyō/ 'tribal group', /-jà/ or /-jù/ 'kind', or /-zū/ or /-wà/ 'individual'.

/tha wajwa thikhwawa ~ thigawa/, etc.

(here hills one=place=at) [both forms]

'here, at one place in the hills'

/tha/ 'here' determines the classifiers /-khwu/, /-ga/, or /-to/'place', while /wwwi/* 'hill'determines these three classifiers plus /-sa/ 'round thing' and /-ma/ 'unit, item'.

f) When a deictic occurs in a counter phrase, it follows the counted nown or nouns and compounds with the counter:

/j\family has third if \(\) (liquor this=one=kind)

"this kind of liquor"

/p\tilde{u} gw\tilde{o}nyith\tilde{o}/ (gun those=two=stick-like-things)

"those two gund"

3.1.3.3 Alternative phrases:

An alternative substantive phrase consists of two or more consecutive counters containing successively higher numbers and the same classifier, with or without a preceding counted noun. 9

When a counted noun is present, it is in apposition with each counter.

/sākhā lyīkhā/ (three=years four=years)

"three or four years"

/ma: nylsazu/ (you two=three=individuals) 'two or three
On this construction, see 2.4.1.1.3.

of you'

^{9.} Alternative expressions also occur with two numbers compounded with a single classifier to form a single word:

```
/thikapu sakhu lyikhu/ (hereafter three=years four=years)
              three or four years from now!
          /ābā thìmā nyìmā/ (month one=unit two=units)
              one or two months!
         3.1.3.4 Distributive phrases:
                  A distributive phrase consists of a reduplicated
counter containing the numeral /thi-/ 'one'.
          /thinyī thinyī jā jā/ (one=day one=day rice eat)
              'eat rice every day'
          /thihīn thihīn phasya: gyīangu-/
          (one=house one=house all go=nom=is=so.)
              '(He) is going to all the house, one by one.
          /thihwa thihwa la./ (one=time one=time come=nom.)
              '(He) comes every now and then.'
     3.1.4 Combinations:
            Some phrases include both attributive and coordinate
substantives, e.g.:
a) when two or more forms are attributive to a single substantive
head:
          /baba mama misa/ (father mother share)
               'father's and mother's share'
          /azu lyīswu yflyi/ (we Lisu customs)
               our Lisu customs
          /phama mwi hamwi yaphyi/ (Burma country Chinese=country opium)
               Burmese and Chinese opium
```

b) when one or more coordinate substantive heads in a phrase is modified. Where these phrases include a counter, the head of the attribute phrase determines the choice of classifier.

Additive phrases with modified head; /yi baba mama/ (his father mother) /yī bāba yī mimā/ (his father his mother) 'his father and mother; his parents' /phama mul hamul culland ha./ (Burma country Chinese=country circulate=come=item good=nom.) 'That (opium) which comes from Burma and China is good.' Appositive phrases with modified heads /nwu kyagwu/ (you dwell=place) 'your home' in: /jo nww kyagwwwa/ (there you dwell=place=at) 'there, where you live' /anyī acw≆/ 'cow's milk' in: /anyl acws thithwu/ (cow's milk one=can) 'a can of (condensed) milk' /lyīswū kyāgwū/ (Lisu dwell=place) 'Lisu dwelling place' in: /lyīswū kyāgwū thìkhwū/ (Lisu dwell=place one=place) 'a Lisu village; one place in a Lisu village' /bichwł yinyichwł/ (dress nomegreen) 'green dress' in: /bichwł yinyichwł thikhu/ (dress nom-green one-cloth-item)

In the first two examples with counter, the nouns /acwa/ 'milk; breast' and /kyagwu/ 'dwelling place' are preceded by attributive nouns; in the last example, the noun /bichwa/ 'dress' is modified by a following

one green dress.

noun derived from the adjective /nyichwł/ 'green'. In each case, the head determines the classifier, e.g. /acwł/ 'milk' is counted with a number of classifiers indicating amount: /-thwu/ 'can', /laks/ 'cup', etc., while /anyl/ 'cow' is counted with the general classifier />ml/ 'unit, item', or with /-bwh/ 'group' and the like. /kyagwu 'dwelling place' is counted with /-khwu/, /-gl/, or /-to/ 'place', while /lylswu/ 'Lisu' is counted with /-zu/ or /-wl/ 'individual', /-jł/ or /-jh/ 'kind' and the like. /blchwł/ 'dress' is counted with /-khu/ 'cloth item', while /ylnylchwł/ 'green thing' does not in itself determine any classifier.

3.2 The Verb Phrase.

A <u>verb phrase</u> is a sequence of verbs in construction, which cannot be separated, except in some cases by a negative particle, without altering their relationship. For example, in:

/yf ga gyïa./ (he allow go=nom.)

*He will let (me) go. 9

the sequence /gè gyī/ 'permit to go' is a phrase, since the insertion of any element between the verbs alters their relationship. If, for example, the general particle /-nyā/ 'as for' is inserted, the resultings

/yi ganya, gyia./ (he give=as=ior, go=nom.)

'If he gives (it), (I) will go.'

consists of two separate clauses, the first a primary topic 10 to the second.

^{10.} See section 4.4.2.3.

On the other hand, in:

/witha syst that (headdress wrap wind)

'wind on a headdress'

/syl/ 'wrap' and /the/ 'wind' form a phrase which can be separated by a negative particle. I can determine no difference in meaning between:

/witha sys matha/ and /witha masys tha/

'not wind on a headdress'

with the negative particle /ma-/ 'not' in either of two positions.

Compare with these examples:

/gyla bekyangu./ (go=nom intend=nom=is-so.)

'(I) intend to go.

The verb sequence /gyī/ 'go' and /bēkyã/ 'intend' is not a phrase since the two verbs are separated by the final particle /-a/ 'nominalization'. Here /gyīa/ 'to go' is the goal of /bēkyã/ 'intend'.

Verb phrases are simple, attribute, coordinate, or complementary.

All types of verb phrase occur both with and without verb stem

extensions and particles (see 2.7, 2.9, and 5.4).

3.2.1 Simple verb phrases:

A simple verb phrase consists of a single verb head, with or without accompanying stem extensions and/or particles.

/bya thima thikhwa go./

(sweets one=unit one=lump give.)

'(He'll) give a piece of candy to each (of you).'

```
/nwū hathe gwa. ngwū gwa - ngwa gwa - myisyī gwa./
(you first sing. you sing - I sing - brother-in-law sing.)
    'You sing first. You sing, (then) I'll sing, (and
        my) brother-in-law will sing.
/ngwa amyl juanya. swu hin-wa gyi./
(I daughter have=nom=as-for, other-people's house=to go.)
    'If I have a daughter, (she) will go to someone
        else's house. [when she gets married]
/nww amyiwa gyia./ (you fields=to go=nom.)
    "You are going to the fields."
/lyiswungu bua./ (Lisu=language write=nom.)
    '(You will) write in Lisu.'
/achahi makhwu majua, ngwa hwa./
(in-a-moment=further tobacco not=have=nom. I seek=nom.)
    "In a moment, if there's no tobacco, I'll (go) get (some)."
/ala gyīa?/ (where-to go=nom?)
    'Where are (you) going?' [ a common greeting]
/amyaji jua?/ (many=kinds have=nom?)
    'Are there many kinds?'
/kyahi./ (remain=further.)
    'Stay (a while) longer.'
/ngwa amyla magylhi./ (I field=to not=go=yet.)
    "I haven't gone to the fields yet."
/nwd magyl, yi malau./
(you not = go, he not = come = new = situation.)
    'If you don't go, then he won't come.'
```

```
/lachu amyazu mabua?/
         (persons how-many=individuals not=write=nom?)
              'Haven't (you) written down how many people there are?'
          /makhwa majupha?/ (tobacco not=have=probably?)
              'I guess there's no tobacco, is there?'
          /thawasyona./ (don:t=laugh=urging.)
              'Don't laugh.'
          /nwd maghawangune; phalangu./
          (you teach=to=must=is-so=emph. occidental=language)
              'You must teach (us), English that is.'
          /kasa taghai: , ylswathia kasa chwalia./
          (corn plant=actual=further, rainy-season=in corn
             rot=change-of-state=nom.)
              'And after (you) plant the corn, in the rainy
                  season the corn rots.
     3.2.2 Attribute verb phrases:
            Attribute verb phrases are of two types: those which
consist of an adjective preceded by an active verb, and, rarely,
those with a transitive verb preceded by an adjective.
         3:2:2:1 Active verb plus adjective:
```

When a phrase consists of an active verb followed by an adjective, the latter is head of the phrase. 11

a) Transitive verb plus adjective:

/sya hin/ (make difficult) 'hard to make; make badly'
/ja sa/ (eat easy) 'easy to eat; happily married'

^{11.} See the discussion of /ave hwa ja ha/ in section 1.2.

/sw ma/ (wipe faded) 'wiped off, wiped out'
/nyl byl/ (look-at pretty) 'good to look at; good looking'
/nyl bwl/ (look-at bored) 'tired of looking at'

b) Intransitive verb plus adjective:

/kyž hīn/ (dwell difficult) 'feeling ill; embarrassed'
/kyž bwū/ (dwell bored) 'tired of staying; bored'
/yo jū/ (sprout good) 'well sprouted'

Phrases of this type have movable negative, occurring either before the entire phrase or before the adjective, e.g.:

/syā mahīn/ ~ /masyā hīn/ 'not hard to make; not make badły'
/jà masā/ ~ /majà sā/ 'not easy to eat; not happily married'
/kyā mabwū/ ~ /makyā bwū/ 'not tired of staying; not bored'
3.2.2.2 Adjective plus transitive verb:

My data contain only two examples of this type of attribute verb phrase, both with the adjective /cht/ 'bad, wrong'.

Both are inseparable, and in both the transitive verb is head.

/chu hu/ (bad guide) 'mislead'

neg: /machu hu/ 'not mislead'

/chu hu/ (bad like) 'slander, defame'

neg: /machu hu/ 'not slander'

3.2.3 Coordinate verb phrases:

A coordinate verb phrase consists of a combination of verbs of the same form class or of an adjective and an intransitive.

A few such phrases are inseparable, but in most cases coordinate phrases have movable negative.

3.2.3.1 Coordinate phrases with movable negative:

a) Transitive plus transitive: /cwf gyo/ (pull stretch) 'pull and stretch' (as a rubber neg: /macwi gyo/ ~ /cwi magyo/ 'not pull and stretch' /cha gyl/ (wipe rub) 'rub, rub down' neg: /macha gyl/ ~ /cha magyl/ 'not rub' /witho sys tho/ (headdress wrap wind) 'wind en a headdress' neg: /masya tha/ ~ /sya matha/ 'not wind on' /bichwi machi to chi/ (dress trousers measure cut) 'make clothes' neg: /mate chł/ ~ /te machł/ 'not measure and cut' b) Intransitive plus intransitive: /jk du/ (coze exit) 'exude' neg: /majk du/ ~ /jk du/ 'not exude' /ta khyī/ (run flee) 'run away' neg: /mata khyī/ ~ /ta makhyī/ 'not run away' 3.2.3.2 Inseparable coordinate phrases: a) Transitive plus transitive: /lo nyi/ (roll-on crush) 'roll on and crush' neg: /malo nyi/ 'not roll on and crush' /apwū syl ja./ /thasyl ja./ (cucumber kill eat.) (don't=kill eat.)

'(Let's) split and eat the cucumber.' Don't split

and eat (it).

b) Intransitive plus intransitive:

/sane ngwa amyla magyl yilau./

(tomorrow I field=to not=go return=come=new-situation.)

'Tomorrow I won't go to the fields and come back.'

c) Adjective plus intransitives

/mya da/ (much remain) 'left over'

neg: /mamya da/ 'not left over'

3.2.4 Complementary verb phrases:

In a <u>separable verb phrase</u>, the negative particles /ma-/
'not' and /tha-/ 'don't' occur only before the last verb in the phrase.

Complementary werb phrases are inseparable or separable, but do not occur with movable negative.

3.2.4.1 Inseparable complementary phrases:

Certain active verbs occur preceding other verbs in inseparable complementary phrases. In some cases, there is a change of meaning and a loss of some of the functions which such an active verb has in other contexts. Such active verbs include:

/gà/ 'permit, allow' (elsewhere: 'give')

/nwu malanya, swu ne - maga la; 'thinwanya./

(you not=come=as-for, other-people you=with-respect-to - not=let come. one=emph=time=as-for.)

"If you don't come (back quickly), they won't let you come another time."

/mwu go gyīa?/ /mago gyī./

(you allow go=nom?) (not=allow go.)

'Will you let (me) go?' 'no.'

```
/yisya maha. maga gwa./ (sound not=good. not=let sing.)
              '(Your) voice isn't good.' (We) won't let (you) sing.'
          /aca nele go nanale; swu./
          (in-s-moment you to let-listen nomemph. other-person)
              'In a moment (we'll) let you listen, to him that is.'
In the clause /swa no mage 12/, above, where /ge/ means 'permit', it
has the goal /ne/ 'you'. But in other contexts where it means 'give'.
/ge/ also takes a second goal, as in: /swu ne phwu ge/ (they you=to
silver give) 'they give you money'. No second goal occurs with the
phrase /gè la/ 'permit to come', however; in this context that
function of /ge/ 'give' is lost.
     /khit/ '(do) on the sly, (do) stealthily' (elsewhere: 'steal')
          /khwu khyo/ (sneak speak) 'talk behind (semeone's) back,
                                           back-stab*
             neg: /makhwu khyo/ 'not back-stab'
          /khwh khyl/ (sneak flee) 'sneak away, flee stealthily'
             neg: /makhwù khyī/ 'not sneak away'
          /nwww yiphu khwu dawu./ (you picture sneak strike-did.)
              'You took the picture on the sly.'
     /wa/ 'get to, have the opportunity to' (elsewhere: 'get')
          /amī ngwā amyīa wā gyī yhla./
          (yesterday I field=to get-to go return=come=nom.)
              'Yesterday I was able to go to the fields and come
```

back again.

```
/amí gyī. amí yìlā. thìthéa: wā nānāulē./
    (quickly go. quickly return=come. one=moment=partic
          get-to listen=new-situation=emph.)
        'Go quickly. Come back quickly. In a moment (you)
            will get a chance to listen.
    /yike mawa wwi tela./
    (cigarettes noteget=to buy carry=come.)
        '(I) didn't get a chance to buy cigarettes and
                bring (them).
/fwu/ 'force, compel' (elsewhere: same)
    /fwu zwu/ (force take) 'extort, reb'
       neg: /mafwd swu/ 'not rob'
    /fwd kha/ (force have-intercourse) 'rape'
       neg: /mafwd khl/ 'not rape'
    /fwd gyl/ (force go) 'force to go'
       neg: /mefwd gyī/ 'not force to go'
/la/ 'come' (elsewhere: 'come; motion towards a location')
    /nwd aswi la tonyla?/
     (you what come look-at=nom?)
         'What have you come to look at?'
/gyl/ 'go' (elsewhere: 'go; motion away from a location')
     /lylswu thugha masaswa. Ila gyl saa; ngwanwu?/
     (Lisu writing not=know=emph. where go know=nom? we)
         '(We) don't know Lisu writing. Where do we go to learn (it)?
```

This use of /la/ and /gyl/ differs from that of the bound forms /-lk/ and /-yll in that the preceding position expresses purpose as well as motion, the following position motion only. Compare:

/ylku vwuyla./ 'go (somewhere) to buy cigarettes'
and /ylku gyl vwua./ 'go (in order) to buy cigarettes'.

3.2.4.2 Ambiguity of certain complementary phrases:

When one of the transitive verbs just illustrated is followed by another transitive, the construction is ambiguous. The first verb can be interpreted either as a complement to the second or as coordinate with it. For example:

/byà gà jà/

as a complementary phrase: (sweets permit eat)

allow to eat candy

as a coordinate phrase: (sweets give eat)

give candy to eat

/jā wā jà/

as a complementary phrase: (rice get-to eat)

'have a chance to eat'

as a coordinate phrase: (rice get eat)

'get rice to eat'

3.2.4.3 Separable complementary phrases:

A small group of intransitive verbs, which are immediately preceded by the negative particles, occur as the last member of a separable complementary verb phrases. With such phrases, the subject of the clause is the subject of both verbs, but the occurrence of a goal is determined by the preceding verb or verbs. For example, in /nww hanna jł pśa?/ (you elephant ride dare=nom?)

'Do you dare ride an elephant?', /nww/ 'you' is subject of both

/jł/ 'ride' and /pś/ 'dare', but /hanna/ 'elephant' is the goal of

/jł/ 'ride'. Examples of verbs which occur as last member of

```
separable complementary phrases are:
     /da/ 'can, physical ability'
          /magwa gwa da./ (song sing can=nom.)
              '(I) can sing songs.'
          /thi vwia: ho wa madau./
          (this=size=emph=partic=contrast get not=can=new-situation.)
              '(I) can't even get this much any more.'
          /yī jā madāu. yāphyīnyā ngwā jā madāu. būlā madāu./
          (work eat not=can=new-situation. opium=as-for I eat
             not-can-new-situation. full-come not-can-new-situation.)
              '(I) can't farm (it) and earn a living any more. With
                  opium I can't carn a living any more. (I) can't
                  get enough to est any more.
     /ps/ 'dare'
          /hanma ja psa?/ /ja maps./
          (elephant ride dare=nom?) (ride not=dare.)
              'Do (you) dare ride an elephant. 'No.'
          /yi lww maps./ (he struggle not=dare.)
              'He doesn't dare struggle.'
     /ju/ 'need to have to'
          /red ju/ (take need) 'need'
             neg: /zww majw/ 'not need'
          /yí myő jűa. lyïswüngù sű jűa./
          (he work have=nom. Lisu=language study must=nom.)
              *He has work (to do) (He) has to study Item. *
```

```
/m2/ 'definite, certain'
     /gyl mangu./ (go certain=nom=is-so.)
         '(I'm) definitely going.'
     /s5 mama./ (know not=certain.)
         '(I) don't know for sure.
/gwa/ 'finish'
     /nwd lylswungu chenyl Ebe chung sughes, su gwulle?/
     (you Lisu=language this-year months six=units study=actual=nom.
             study finish=change-of-state=nom?)
         'When you've studied Lisu for six months (mose) this
            year, (will) you have made a complete study?
     /st grd mediphi?/ (study finish notecan=probably.)
         '(I) don't think (I) can finish studying (everything).'
     /ngwa mwa yi magwulihio/
     (I land work not-finish-change-of-state=yet.)
         'I haven't finished working yet.'
/kwd/ 'know how'
     /yisya akhé hama gwa kwia./
     (sound very good=nom=item sing know-how=nom.)
         '(I) can sing with a very good voice.'
     /be makwi ngl?/ (say not=know-how is-so?)
         '(We) can't say it, can we?'
     /zanos: cz makwómi ili yla?/
     (children relate not=know-how=items how do=nom?)
         'What (do you) do about the things the children
                can't tell you?
```

```
/khwu/ 'ability; habitual action'
         /wuphami yiku akha chwi khwua./
         (uncle=old cigarettes very-much suck habitually=nom.)
             'Old Uncle really smokes a lot.'
         /lyīswī ghālè yī makhwīlē./
         (Lisu trade do not-canenda)
             '(We) Lisu don't know how to do business at all.'
    /ma/ 'succeed'
         /ga ma/ (follow succeed) "catch up with"
            neg: /ga mama/ 'not catch up with, can't catch up with'
          /amyl sa ma/ (daughter bear succeed) 'bear a daughter'
                                                  (successfully)
                  /sa mama/ 'not succeed in giving birth to'
        3.2.4.4 Combinations of complementary phrases:
                 Different types of complement combine into larger
complementary phrases. If both complements are inseparable, the
negative precedes the phrases
          /maga in tanyi/ (not-allow come look-at)
              'not allow to come and look at'
          /mawa gyl zwa/ (not=get-to go take)
              'not have the chance to go get (something)'
If both are separable, the negative precedes the last verb:
          /su gwu madI/ (study finish not=can) 'can't finish studying'
          /ga ma maps/ (follow succeed not=dare) 'not dare catch
                                                     up with
```

```
If separable and inseparable complements co-occur, the negative precedes the separable ones

/khwh khyl maps/ (sneak flee not=care) 'not dare sneak away'

/ll zwu madd/ (come take not=can) 'can't come to get (something)'

3.2.5 Combination of coordinate and complementary phrases:

Coordinate and complementary phrases also combine into

larger single phrases:

/cha gyl dd/ (wipe rub can) 'can rub down'

neg: /cha gyl madd/ 'can't rub down'

/witho sys tho kwda./ (headdress wrap wind know=how=nom.)
```

/with syst the kwis./ (headdress wrap wind know-how=nom.)

'(I) know how to put on a headdress.'

neg: /systhe makwi/ 'not know how to wrap and wind'

/wi vwi teli/ (get-to buy carry=come)

'get to buy and bring'

neg: /mawi vwi teli/ 'not get to buy and bring'

Chapter IV

The Clause

4.0 Introduction.

Clauses in Lisu are simple or complex. The <u>simple clause</u> consists of a verb phrase with or without substantive phrase attributes. In a <u>complex clause</u> at least one of the attributes is itself a clause. For example, the clause:

/amyl jua/ (daughters have=nom)

'(someone) has daughters'

is simple, but forms a part of a larger complex clause in:

/ampl jus maha./ (daughters have=nom not=good.)

'Having daughters isn't good.'

This sentence also illustrates the function of the verb phrase as head of the clause. The noun /amyl/ daughter(s) is goal to the transitive verb /jū/ have, but has no direct relationship to the adjective /hā/ 'good', while /jūa/ 'to have' (nominalized) is the subject of /hā/. If /amyl/is removed, there are still two clauses, one the subject of the other: /jūa mahā./ 'Having isn't good.' But the removal of /jūa/ results in a simple clause with /amyl/as subject of /hā/: /amyl mahā./ 'Daughters aren't good.'

^{1.} Goal and subject are basic clause elements described below in sections 4.1 and 4.2.1.1.

There are also two situations in Lisu where a clause is sometimes replaced by its verb phrase.
 in answer to a yes-or-no question:

4.1 The Basic Clause.

The basic clause, simple or complex, consists of a sequence of elements where order determines their function in the clause. The most common order (basic order) is: subject - -wa-phrase - (goal) - adverb - verb. The entire range of elements (i.e. including the goal) is applicable to clauses with transitive verb, adjective, or copula; however, a goal does not occur with intransitive verbs. The subject and goal have either substantive or verb heads; the -wa-phrase and the adverb have substantive heads only; 3 and the verb has verb heads only.4

with the verb phrase the only mandatory element in a clause, one or more of the preceding elements is usually lacking in actual utterances. There is, in fact, no single sentence in my data in which all the elements occur. Examples such as the following, however, can

[/]amyaja jua?/ (many=kinds have=nom?)

'Are there many kinds?'

Answers: /jua./ (have=nom.) 'Yes.'

or /maju./ (not=have.) 'Mo.'

²⁾ in a story-telling technique in which a sentence is summarized in the following one before the narrative is carried forward:

[/]yī nāpūwā byāmūsū chwāghā, dēyīu. dēyīu, dē dālīujā. dē dāyīa, mākhwā sādī pākhyō sābyā./

⁽his ears=in bee=wax stop-up=for, climb=go=new-situations climb=go=nom, climb can=change-of-state=new-situation=emph. climb can=go=nom, bamboo three=stands pacho three=clumps.)

^{*(}He) stopped up the other's ears with beeswax and (they) started to climb. (When they) climbed, (they found they) could indeed climb up now. (When they) were able to climb up (they found) three stands of bamboo and three clumps of pacho.

For one possible exception with /-wa/, see section 4.2.1.2, footnote

^{4.} Examples of substantives in these functions will be found in section 4.2.1, of verbs in section 4.4.2.

be combined to determine basic order:

```
-wa-phrase
                                                 adverb
     subject
                                     goal
                                                                verb
With transitive verbs:
                     thitswa
                                   lylswungù
                                                              súa:, .../
     /mwd
     (you
                  this=place=at Lisu=language
                                                           study=nom, ...)
               '(When) you study Lisu here, ...'
     /lyīswī
                                    thimals
                                                  TIT
                                                                pe3/
     (Lisu
                                this=item=as-for
                                                             say=nom?)
                                                  how
                'What do the Lisu call this?'
                   sākhù lyīkhùwā
                                                               mīdīz.
                                                   atyí
                3=years 4=years=in
                                                               forget=
                                                           new-situation.)
               SIn three or four years (we'll) have
                   forgotten (you) a little.
With intransitive verbs (no goal):
     /yſ
                                                                gyīa./
     (he
                                                               go=nom.)
                'He's going to the fields.'
     /ทพนี
                    thá wàjwwa
                                                               dē, .../
     (Aon
                 here=emph hills=at
                                                             climb, ...)
                'You've come up here into the hills, ...'
      /ngwa yia
                                                   taha
                                                             gyī yalangu./
                       ENVIVE
                                                 together go return=come=nom=
      (I he=as-for
                                                                is-so.)
```

```
verb
                                                 adverb
                    -wa-phrase
                                     goal
     subject
With adjectives:
                                                               maha.
                     thitawi
     /yaphy1
                                                            not=good.)
     mwiqo)
                  this=place=at
              'The opium here isn't good.'
                                                               / د تروعد
                                                  èria
     /ngwa nyima
                                                            not=pretty.)
     (my younger-sister
                                                  very
               'My younger sister is really ugly.'
                                                                satī./
                                   chumilé
     /ngwa
                                                            embarrassed.)
     (I
                                 person=old=
                               with respect to
               'I'm embarrassed towards older people.'
With copular verbs:
                                                                ngu./
                                  nwa anyi
      /ngwä ámyì
                                                                is。)
      (my daughter
                                your daughter
               'My daughter is your daughter.'
                                                   MI
                                                                ngE?/
      /milyiká
                                                                is?)
                                                   how
      (America
               'What is America like?'
                                                               manga. .../
                    likhyamyiwahi
                                                             not=is. ...)
                     forest=in=
                    related-focus
                'As I said before, (if it) is not in the forest, ...'
                                                              kaligwn./
      /vi hwa
                                     vihwähwä
      (her flesh
                                                           become=finish.)
                              partic=striped=striped
                'Her flesh became striped all over.'
```

The remarkably consistent order of these elements is one of the outstanding features of Lisu. In a sample of free conversation, the variation from basic order is just over twelve percent, while in the corpus of elicited sentences it is less than three percent, comprising twelve sentences out of 379. The great majority of the variant forms are examples of the extended basic clause (section 4.2.2) or of topic inversion, a deliberate rearrangement of elements which is discussed below in section 4.2.3.2. The few remaining cases appear to be examples either of lapse (in free conversation) or of reordering on the model of Thai sentences (in the elicited corpus).

4.2 The Simple Clause.

The clearest illustrations of Lisu clause structure are to be found in the simple clause, which will therefore be discussed in detail before going on to the complex clause.

4.2.1 The basic cimple clause:

The <u>basic simple clause</u> consists of a basic clause in which the elements preceding the verb phrase are all substantive phrases; other clause types are discussed in terms of variation or expansion from this base.

4.2.1.1 The subjects

The initial element in the basic clause is the subject; it is marked by order only.

```
/ngwāmed phālangu atyī sūyīa./5

(we occidental=language a-little study=go=nom.)

'We'll go study English a little.'

/nwū kūkū nwūlé gū dūa./

(your older-brother you=as-for lead exit=nom.)

'Your older brother will lead you out.'

/swū akhé syākyá./

(ether=people very-much miss=nom.)

'They'll miss (you) very much.'

/ngwã hīn sākā jūa./

(mu house three=rooms have=num.)

'My house has three rooms.'

/lyīswū thīmālé ālī bé?/

(Lisu this=item=as-for how say=nom?)

'What do the Lisu call this?'
```

4.2.1.2 The -wa-phrase:

The second element in the basic clause specifies.

the location, in place or time, of the action or situation described

by the verb phrase head. The class is marked not only by order, but

by the optional presence of the substantive particle /-wa/ 'to, at'.

It is filled with substantive phrases expressing time or place, with

^{5.} In the examples throughout this chapter, the position class under discussion is underlined.

the latter the more common. 6 The particle /-wa/ 'to, at' occurs very frequently with place expressions, but only rarely with time expressions:

a) Time expressions:

```
With /-wi/

/yinviwi hullanyi, cia./

(day=on correct=change-of-state=nom=as-for, rest=nom.)

'If it's right on a particular day, (we) rest.'

/nwu ilitowi soli, iswikhiwi soli - /

(you which=place=at born=come, what=year=in born=come=nom - )

'Where you were born, what year you were born in ...'

/sikhu lyikhuwi atyi midiu./

(three=years four=years=in a-little forget=new-situation.)

'In three or four years (we'll) forget (you) a little.'

Without /-wi/

/ngwi nyimi yigyiu./

(I today return=go=new-situation.)

'I'll go back today.'
```

There is also, I believe, one case of /-wa/ occurring with a clause in my data:

/ābàmé, gwā mòchā machāwā gyī nyītá./

(adoptive-father, there sun not=hot=at go sit down.)

'Adoptive Father, go sit over there where it's not hot.'

This is, however, a unique example in my data, and since it was said to me in the fields and is not on tape for rechecking, I am inclined to distrust it. It may have been a case of lapse, or I may simply have misheard /mecha machagudwa/ 'a place where the sun isn't hot', which is a common pattern elsewhere - see section 3.1.2.1.

^{6.} Time expressions also occur elsewhere in the clause, see below section 4.2.1.4 and 4.2.2.

```
/yſ Imāsa jān./
          (he now est=new-situation.)
              'He's eating new.'
          /ngwā amīthe āmyīa gyī yilāngū./
          (I yesterday=when field=to go return=come=nom=is-so.)
              "Yesterday I went to the fields and returned."
          /ngwa acais gwale./
          (I <u>in-e-moment=further</u> sing=nom=emph.)
              "I'll sing in just a moment."
b) Place expressions:
     With /-wa/
          /yí amyawa gyia./
          (he field=to go=nom.)
              "He's going to the fields."
          /nwu thá wajwiwa lyiswungh súa: - phwu amya gawale./
          (you here=emph hills=at Lisu=language study=nom -
                silver much give=get-to=emph.)
               When you come up here in the hills to study lisu,
                    (they) can give you a lot of money.
          /lecawa magna akhá séa./
           (Lastsa=at songs very-much know=nom.)
               'At Lastsa (they) really know (their) songs.'
```

```
/khyophe kyagwawa gyla, thiji gwa. aza caicawa
thiji gwa. awyla gyl, thiji gwa./
```

(<u>friend's dwell=place=to go=nom</u>, one=kind sing. <u>our village=at one=kind sing.</u> <u>field=to go</u>, one=kind sing.)

'(If we) go to a friend's place, (we) sing one kind (of song). In our willage (we) sing another kind. (When we) go to the fields, (we) sing a particular kind.

Without /-wa/

/Ebamé *jo gyī, mamī; nwa./

(adoptive-father therement go, not see. you)

'(When your) adoptive father goes far away (home),
you won't see him any more).'

/khakhya gyī kya, as u khakhya gyī kya./

(platform go stay, #4=vocative: platform go stay.)

'Go stay on the platform, Fourth Daughter. Go stay on the platform.'?

/ngwa hin ylgyin./ (I house return=go=new-situation.)

"I'm going home now."

/háswi thi li - mahiswi thi li; lù jāgwūwā./

(good=type here come - not=good=type here come. vehicle path=at)

'Good types (of things) come here, bad types come here, along the road.'

When both time and place expressions occur in one clause, the time expression precedes, and /-wa/, if present, follows the place expression:

^{7.} There is a /khākhyā/, or raised bamboo platform, outside almost every Lisu house. It is a place for such sedentary tasks as sewing, carving hoe handles, etc., or simply for sitting and talking.

/nww amithe amyiwa gyl yllango./

(you yesterday when field to go return come non question.)

Did you go to the fields and return yesterday?

/asu atha puhwa khyo katama dula; madula./

(<u>just-now</u> here speech speak put-in=be=item exit=come=nom. not=exit=come)

'What (we) have said into (the tape recorder) here just now, will (it) come out or not?'

On time expressions in other positions, see sections 4.2.1.4 and 4.2.2.

4.2.1.3 The goal:

the third element in the basic clause is the goal. This class occurs in clauses with transitive, adjectival, or copular verb head, but not with an intransitive verb head. With adjectives, the class is defined not only by order, but by the presence of the substantive particle /-16/ 'to, for, with respect to', which marks the focus of a sentence. In clauses with transitive or copular verb head, however, the goal class is defined only by its position, although /-16/ is also sometimes present.

a) Goal with adjective (/-le/ regularly present):

/ngwa chamble seta./

(I person=old=with-respect-to embarrassed.)

'I'm embarrassed towards older people.'

^{8.} Focus is discussed in the following chapter, section 5.3.

```
/nww wile ha./ (you he=for good=nom.)
'You're good for him.'
```

b) Goal with transitive verb (/=le/ facultatively present):

In classifying subgroups of transitive verbs, the type and number of goals occurring with each were discussed in detail in section 2.5.1.1, q.v. A few examples of ordinary transitives are recapitulated here.

Ordinary transitive with single goal:

/yi thughe bus. / (he letters write=nom.)

'He is writing.'

/lylswungd amyakha majule./

(Lisu=language many=words not=have=emph.)

'There are many words that Lisu doesn't have.'

/nwu phálapha - chumile khyöghakyana ali yia?/

(you occidental=man - person=eld=to speak=to=remain=items how do=nom?)

'What you were saying to the Westerner, the old man, what was it:all about?'

/nww 'tha wajwawa lylswungu sua, phwu amya: gowalo./

(you here=emph hills=at <u>Lisu=language</u> study=nom, <u>silver</u> much give=get-to=emph.)

'When you study Lisu here in the hills, (they) can give (you) a lot of money.'

Ordinary transitives with two goals:

/ngwl thighe yile gea./ (I book herto give=nom.)
'I gave the book to him.'

^{9.} Transitives with verb phrase geal are discussed under complex clauses, section 4.4.2.2, below.

```
/ne sudī atyi kea./10
          (you=to soda a-little put-in=nom.)
              '(I'll) put a little sods in (your cup) for you.
          /nwu yi babaha baba khwu, yi mama mama khwuwangu./
          (you his father=contrast father call, his mother
                 mother call=get-to=is-so.)
              'You can call his father "father" and his mother
c) Goal with copular verb (/-le/ rare):
          /nwu amyi ngwa amyi ngu. ngwa amyi nwu amyi ngu./
          (your daughter my daughter is. My daughter
                 your daughter is.)
              'Your daughter is my daughter. My daughter is
                      your daughter.
          /amasa yí aténé ka./
          (now she little is-like=nom.)
               'Now she's little.'
          /yî hwa yîhwahwa kaligwu./
          (her flesh partic=striped=striped become=complete.)
               'Her flesh became striped all over.'
           /ngwa thima ngune; yisya hama./
           (I one=unit be=emph. sound good=nom=unit)
Here the complex secondary topic /yisya hama / 'one with a good voice'
is appositive to /thim / 'one (unit)' which is in basic goal position.
10.
      /ne/ is a contraction of /mwile/; see section 2.5.1.1.1.
     footnote 47.
```

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

/ngwa myisyi nehe thi ngu./

(my brother-in-law you=as-for=contrast this is.)

'My brother-in-law is this (way) with respect to you also.'

Here, as with certain transitive verbs, there are two goals.

4.2.1.4 The adverb:

The fourth element in the basic clause is the adverb. It is marked only by order. Although only substantives act as adverbs, nouns derived from verbs are particularly common in this function.

a) Non-deverbative adverbs:

/yingù thìths khyöhì./

(language one=moment speak=further.)

'Say that once again.'

/nwikyI ngwikyI tahu gyia./

(you=and I=and together go.)

'You and I will go together.'

/lylswu nwu kanya thinwa gayl, jo phalangu su./

(Lisu you after one=time follow=go, there occidental=language study.)

'(If we) Lisu once go with you, (we'll) study English there (in America).'

/swu akhá syakya./

(other-people very-much miss=nom.)

'They'll miss (you) very much.'

```
/yinyiza mamu atha sa gu dula./
          (partic=younger-brother not=strike knife "so"
                   pall exit=come.)
              'The younger brother pulled out the magic
                    knife (with a) sooso (sound).'
b) Deverbative adverbs:
          /ngwanwu phalangu atyi suyia./
          (we occidental=language a-little study=go=nom.)
              'We'll go study English a little.'
     Derived from /tyf/ 'little, few' with the proclitic particle
     /a-/ (section 2.4.2.3.3b).
          /y1 ne pahwa toto khyogha./
          (he you=to speech backwards=backwards speak=to.)
              "He's telling you wrong way round."
     Derived from /t6/ 'contravene; be backwards, wreng' by
     reduplication (sections 2.4.2.2.3 and 2.10.2).11
           /tötö yīa; nwu./ (straight=straight do=nom. you)
               'Act properly. you.'
     Derived from /to/ 'straight' by reduplication.
           /swiswis dumi./ (slow=slow=partic drink=urging.)
               'Take your time drinking.' 'Drink slowly.'
      Derived from /swf/ 'slow' by reduplication, with the substantive
      particle /-a/ 'particularization' (section 4.3.5).
```

^{11.} This sentence is ambiguous. /tôtô/ can be considered either an adverb, as here, or an attribute to the preceding nouns /pùhwá tôtô/ 'mixed up speech'; see section 2.1.

The appearance of time expressions in the -wil-phrase to specify a point in time was described in section 4.2.1.2. Time expressions also occur as adverbs, in which case, however, they mark unspecified time or duration, e.g.:

Unspecifieds

/lylowd med kanya things gays, jo malings ed./

(Lisu you after one=time follow=go, there occidental=language study.)

'(If we) Lisu once go with you, (we'll) study English there (in America.)'

/lahaha chasanyī cangu./

(Lahu=contrast 10 + 3=days rest=nom=is=so.)

'But the Lahm take a day off (every) 13 days.'

Duration:

/nwu lyiswungu chinyi ibi chuni sughea, su gwalia?/

(you Lisu=language this-year months six-units study=actual=nom, study finish=change-of-state=nom?)

'If you study Lisu for six months (more) this year, (will you) finish studying (it all)?'

/ngwa chanyicha gyia./

(I ten=days=about go=nom.)

'I'm going for about ten days.'

4.2.1.5 The verb:

The last element in the basic clause is the <u>werb</u>. Only verb phrases occur in this function, which is marked not only by final position in the clause, but by the optional presence of verb stem extensions and verb particles (sections 2.7, 2.9, and 5.4.1).

```
/ngwanwù phalangù atyl suyla./
(we occidental=language a-little study=go=nom.)
    'We'll go study English a little.'
/aca yî bya ga ja./
(in-a-moment he sweets give eat.)
    "In a moment he'll give (you) candy to eat."
/guba land kya./ (that-side tiger dwell.)
    'There are tigers living over there.'
/makhwa majupha?/ (tobacco not=have=probably?)
    'I guess there's no tobacco, is there?'
/sand ngwa amyla gylin./
(tomerrow I field=to go=new-situation.)
    'Tomorrow I'll go to the fields.'
/akhá thakyilehu./
(very-much don't-defer-mutually.)
     *Don't defer to each other so much. *
/mwu gà gyĩa?/ /magà gyĩ./
(you allow go=nom?) (not=allow go.)
     'Will you let (me) go?' 'No.'
 /amī ngwē āmyīs wā gyī yalā./
 (yesterday I field=to get-to go return=come=nom.)
     'Yesterday I was able to go to the fields and
          come back again. 1
```

4.2.2 The extended basic clause:

Time expressions in the -wa-phrase specify a point in time (4.2.1.2); as adverbs they mark unspecified time or duration (4.2.1.4). Some time-specifying expressions also occur preceding the subject, where they have, as far as I can determine, approximately the same force as in the -wa-phrase. In fact, such expressions as 'today', 'yesterday', 'the other day', etc., more frequently precede than follow the subject. 12

When a time expression unmarked with substantive particle /-w\(\bar{z}\) 'to, at' precedes the subject of the clause, the resulting construction is an extended basic clause.

/nyind syalupha kya maha./

(this-morning Shalopha be not-good.)

'This morning Shalopha isn't feeling well.'

/sca yi necha gwillin./

(<u>in-a-moment</u> its medecine finish=change-of-state=new-situation。)

'In a moment its (battery) power will be finished.

/Imasa yí Iténé kã./

(now she small is-like.)

'Now she's small.

^{12.} In a representative sample of about 1200 sentences of free conversation, 32 sentences contain both time expression and subject; the latter precedes in two, the former in 30. In the corpus of elicited sentences, 49 contain both elements, with the subject preceding in 21, the time expression in 28.

/mikha thinyī and lwda; thi./ (nighttime one=day dog bark=nom. this) 'One night the dogs barked over here.' /ságā nwū ylgyīthenyā, puhwa khyo kwua./ (in-future you return-go-when-as-for, speech speak know-how=nom.) *Later on when you go back (ho me), (she ll) be able to talk. /Asu yí be, be madula./

(just-now he say, say not=exit=come.)

'Just now (when) he was saying (the names), (he) didn't say (that one).

4.2.3 Non-basic clauses:

Departures from basic clause order, with or without time expression extension, involve either the addition of outside elements or rearrangement of the basic elements. The former occurs in the isolative positions (section 4.2.3.1), the latter when a question word is present (4.2.3.3), while both types occur in the topic positions (4.2.3.2).

4.2.3.1 Isolatives:

Preceding and following all other elements in a clause are the isolatives of the are substantives optionally marked with the vocative particle /-n/ (see 4.3.4) or exclamations. Such elements are grammatically isolated from the clause in which they occur: their mesence does not affect the grammatical relationships of any other elements in the clause. However, they

are frequently linked to a clause phonologically when both clause and isolative fall under a single sentence intenation.

a) Exclamations:

/Ilu - thinylnyi yi atyis: hwili./13

(thank-goodness - these two days she a-little=partic recover=come=nom.)

'Fortunately, she's recovered a bit these last two days.'

/yaphyfayī yī ja, que, khathun./

(opium=field work eat, oh, take-a-loss.)

'(Trying to) earn a living raising opium, oh, (you) take a loss.'

/yaphyimyi yia, thikhu khwa, sakhaha mawa, 'ú./

(opium=field work=nom, one=year hoe=nom, three=tenths-joy= contrast not=get, oh=emph.)

'Raising opium, (you can) hoe for a year and not even get three tenths of a joy, oh!

b) Substantives:

/khákhyã gyī kyã, asiu: khákhyã gyī kyã./

(platform go stay, #4=vocative: platform go stay.)

'Go stay on the platform, Fourth Daughter. Go stay on the platform.'

/ámyla, no qólá hìn-wā jiphò thìfwū gyī zwū./

(<u>daughter=partic</u>, yonder Qala's house=at liquor one=bottle go take.)

'Eldest Daughter, go get a bottle of liquor at Qala's house.'

^{13.} The grammatical separateness of isolatives is indicated in the transcription either by an intenation marker, as here, or with a comma.

/meu dunk, myisyi: Abame, ami dunk./

(you drink=urging, brother-in-law: adoptive-father, quickly drink-urging.)

'You drink, Brother-in-law! Adoptive Father, drink up!'

c) Both:

/qT:q1, shohwin, nwd bichwh Ili koghongi?/

(hey=emph, orphan=vocative, you dress where put=ectual=is-a-case-of?)

'Hey, Orphan, where did you put the dress?'

4.2.3.2 Topics:

basic clause are the topics, which have either substantive or verb phrase heads. The preceding position is the primary topic, which presents subject matter about which the following basic clause provides or requests information. The following position is the secondary topic, which presents information recapitulating or clarifying the preceding basic clause, often as an afterthought.

A primary topic is defined:

a) sometimes by position alone: 15

/thicaic y f bu katangu./

(one=village he write put-in=stay=nom=is-so.)

'He has the whole village written down.'

^{14.} The latter are described below under complex clauses, section 4.4.2.3.

^{15.} A more detailed discussion is given below in section 4.2.3.2.1.

/thai medwa amosa yaphyi maha./

į

(Thai country=in now opium not=good.)

'In Thailand the opium isn't good now.'

/jipha thims - mww milyika ali oe; japhale?/

(<u>liquor this=item</u> - you Americans how say=nom? liquor=as-for)

'This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call (it), liquor I mean?'

b) sometimes by the presence of the general particle /-ny1/ 'as to, as for', which occurs only in the topic positions. 16

/yaphyinya ngwa ja madau./

(opinmese-for I est not-camenew-situation.)

"With opium, I can't make a living any more."

/ngwanwunya lava godwu maju./

(we=as-for salary give=mechanism not=have.)

'As for us, (we) have no way of getting a salary.'

/nahyannya yaphyinyi maylu./

(next-year=as-for opinm=fields not=work=new-situation.)

'As for next year, (I) won't grow opium any more.

c) and sometimes by a focus particle. 17 With the exception of isolatives, an initial phrase or non-main clause which is focal is also a topic. 18

^{16.} See also section 5.4.2.2.

^{17.} See section 5.3 for a full discussion.

^{18.} On isolatives, see the preceding section. The main clause is discussed in section 5.1.1, but cf. also the following footnote.

/syaldphahe kya nga?/

(Shalopha=contrast dwell=nom is-so?)

*But Shalopha is here, isn*t he?*

/ngwale gwa gwallu./

(I=as-for sing finish-change-of-state=new-situation.)

As for me, (I've) finished singing.

While secondary topics are sometimes also marked by the presence of /-nyz/ or focus markers, their defining characteristic is that they follow the verb phrase to which they are attributive. 19

(how downom? this type)

'What (do I) do, in that case?'

/jIpho thim - nw milyika Ili bo; jIpholo?/

(liquor this = item - you Americans how say=nom?

liquor = as - for)

'This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call

(it), liquor I mean?'

/dwwyia; beghanya, 'tinwa asu?/

(enter = go = nom? say = to = as - for, this = emph = time we)

20

are saying this time?

*Is (it) going in (the tape recorder), what we

^{19.} Thus, in the context of the sentence, a secondary topic follows the sentence intonation. That intenation is regularly associated with the main verb phrase in the sentence, while the secondary topic ends with a short syllable on a level pitch and without glottal stop. In the transcription, sentence intonation symbols mark the end of a sentence, but when a secondary topic is present, the phonological position of sentence intonation is indicated by a semi-colon following the main verb phrase.

^{20. /&#}x27;tfhwa azu/ 'this time we' is a secondary topic to the verb phrase head /beghanya/ 'as for saying'. But /beghanya/ is the head of a secondary topic to the main verb phrase /dwłyfa?/
'is it going in?'. See below, section 4.4.2.3b.

In addition, the secondary topic is usually marked by overall weakened stress and lowered pitch, sometimes to the extent that the entire topic is reduced to atonic syllables with low pitch (cf. section 1.6). Since such atonic sequences occur only in secondary topic position, they constitute another, facultative, marker of the class.

/lyiswungu butango; mwu thugha noma./

(Lisu=language write=stay=nom=question. your paper that=item)

"Is that written in Lisu, that paper of yours?"

/Ili gyī sáa; ngwanwu?/

į

(where to go know=nom? wa)

'Where to go to learn (it), us I mean?'

/dwłyla; beghanya, 'tihwa azu?/

(enter=go=nom? say=to=as=for, this=emph=time we)

"Is (it) going in (the tape recorder), what we are saying this time?"

In the rare cases when a secondary topic does not have overall reduced stress, it is focal and /-nya/ or a focus marker is present:

/ságā nwā yilā, thihwā gò yilā ngā; gàyīa, ngwānyā?/

(in-future you return-come=nom, one=time let return=come=nom is-so? follow=go=nom, I=as-for):

'In the future when you come back, (you'd) let (me) come back (too), wouldn't you, if I went along (with you) that is?'

4.2.3.2.1 Simple and complex topics:

topic is an element added to the basic clause, which has only the topic function described at the beginning of section 4.2.3.2. But a complex topic has in addition the function of one of the basic clause elements: subject, time or place expression, goal, or adverbe Only the verb phrase head does not shift; it is the constant center around which the other elements move.

Examples of simple topics are:

/yaphyinya ngwa ja madan./

(opium=as-for I eat not=can=new-situation.)

'With opium. I can't earn a living any more.'

/ya pacewa yiphwe alima jua, alima to ja./

(they plain=at price whichever=item have=nom, whichever=item plant eat=nom.)

'As for them [the Thai], whatever brings a price down on the plain, (I'll) plant it to earn a living.'

/Lyaswungu butango; nwu thugha nome./

(Lisu=language write=stay=question. your paper that=item)

'Is (it) written in Lisu, that paper of yours?'

/nwu amyl misa hwa telawale; rathaba./

(your daughter's share seek carry=come=get-to=emph.government)

You can bring your daughter's share (of money), from the government.

When a rearrangement of basic order takes place in which an element is shifted from its basic position to one of the topic positions, the result is a complex topic. Since, with a shift to secondary topic position, a basic element follows its verb phrase head, position alone is sufficient to mark such topics. But with primary topics, position alone is a sufficient marker only when a shift from basic position is evident from the order of the elements, as when a goal precedes a subject, or an adverb precedes a goal, etc. Where elements can occur initially without topic function, they are topics only if specifically marked with /-nyx/ or a focus particle (of. above, sections 4.2.3.2b-c), Since the subject and initial time expressions occupy the first position in, respectively, the basic and extended basic clause, it follows that a complex primary topic containing one of these elements is regularly marked with a particle.

a) Subject topics:

```
/ngwanwunya lava godwu maju./

(we=as-for salary give=mechanism not=have.)

'As for us, (we) have no way of getting a salary.'

/syaluphaha kya nga?/

(Shalopha=contrast dwell is-so?)

'But Shalopha is in, isn't he?'

/ala gyī saa; ngwanwu?/

(where-to go know=nom? we)

'Where to go to learn (it), us I mean?'
```

```
/abamé "jo gyī, mamū; nwu./

(adoptive-father there=emph go, not=see. you)

'(When your) adoptive father goes far away (home),
you won't see (him any more).
```

b) Time expression topics:

```
/nahyannya yaphyinyi mayiu./

(next-year=as-for opium=fields not=werk=new-situation.)

As for next year, (I) won't grow opium any more.'

/sánènya ngwa magyiu./

(tomorrow=as-for I not=go=new-situation.)

'Tomarrow I won't go.'

/kèsā tēghēi:, yìswèthīa kèsā chwèlia./

(corn plant=actual=further, rainy-season=in corn rot=change-of-state=nom.)
```

'And after (you) plant the corn, in the rainy season the corn rots.'

In the last example, even without /-ny%/or a focus marker, the time word /ylswath]/ 'rainy season' is marked as a topic by its co-occurrence with the substantive particle /-wa/ 'to, at' before the subject, /kasa/ 'corn'. The basic -wa-phrase position is after the subject; only time expressions unaccompanied by /-wa/ precede the subject without topic function (cf. section 4.2.2).

/'qui, akhá dwłja hīun; chinyī./

(oh=emph, very=much think difficult=new-situation. this-year)

'Oh, it's really painful to think about, this year.'

```
/anga zachwa dua: gwothe./
          (buffalo orphans exit=nom. that=when)
              'There were a buffalo and (two) orphans, back then.
c) Place expression topics:
          /thai mulua ampsa yaphyi maha./
          (Thai country=in new opium:not=good.)
              "In Thailand the opium isn't good now."
          (path lower-side=at=contrast dung-beetle=hole one=hole.)
              'And on the lower side of the road (there was)
                     a dung-beetle hole.'
          /nwu mo pilawune; tha./
          (your son-in-law arrive=come=has=emph. here)
              Your son-in-law has arrived here.
          /'aswi lichu la nga: lù jagwuwa?/
          (whatever=emphapersons come=nom is-so? vehicle path=on)
              'All sorts of people come, don't they, along the road?'
d) Goal topics:
          /thicaics yf bu katangu./
          (one=willage he write put-in=stay=nom=is-so.)
              "He has the whole village written down."
          /jiphe thims - nww milyiks ali be; jiphele?/
          (liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom?
                    liquor=as-for)
               This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call
                    (it), liquor I mean?
```

```
/lwdphami di twulauju; zachwa nylswas: 16./
         (dragon=male=old request rise=come=new-situation=emph.
                  orphans two=relatives=to)
              The dragon asked to (be allowed) to get up,
                  (asked) of the two orphans that is.
          /ư gwối thìphè nyỗ chwã jàwūjù; pàhīhō./
          (ch there! one=instant pinch heat eat=did=emph.
                 crab=contrast)
              'oh, there! Suddenly (he) grabbed and cooked
                  and ate (him), the crab too, that is.
e) Adverb topics (rare):
          /thìphè yí wíchī swighěa./
          (onc-instant his horn twist-to-nom.)
              'All at once (he) twisted his [the dragon's] horn.'
          /yí phylsyl thìphylsyl pố të ylgylajù; 'kállèvi./
          (her leg one=leg put-on-shoulder carry return=go=nom=emph.
                    sticking-out=fashion=emph)
              (He) carried one of her legs back on his shoulder,
                     sticking out (front and back).
     Complex topics sometimes consist of only a part of a phrase,
the remainder of which appears in its basic positions
          bya thima thikhwa go./
```

ï

(sweets one=unit one=lump give.)

'(He'll) give a piece of candy to each (of you).'

Here /byà/ 'sweets' is a primary topic, removed from its basic

position immediately preceding its counter /thìkhwá/ 'one lump'.

The entire phrase is goal of /g>/ 'give'.

/sāsa áphwamasa gwūlī pīyla./

(three=fruits pumpkin=fruit finish=change=of-state arrive=go=nom.)

'(They) reached the stage when three pumpkins had been finished off.'

/sīsì/ 'three fruits; three round things' is the counter for /aphwłmēsi/ 'pumpkin' and would normally follow it, the whole forming an appositive phrase which is the goal of /gwu/ 'finish'.

Rearranged as here, /sīsì/ is a primary topic.

/gwothlhin dahl; yaphyi chwlaz./

(that=one=house remains=yet. opium suck=unit)

"There's still that house, the opium smoker's."

Here the phrase /yaphyi chwamz/ 'opium smoking one'21 is attributive to the /hin/ 'house' of /gwothihin/ 'that house', the subject of /dz/ 'remain.'

A variation of this situation is the repetition, exactly or with slight modification, in secondary topic position of a phrase which has already appeard as a primary topic or in basic position.

/ngwā khyì thìlwùthwiamā jà gwillu; ngwā khỳì./

(my manure onestrough=partic=item eat finish= change-of-state=new-situation. my manure)

'A whole troughful of my manure has been eaten up (by your pigs), my manure I say.

/lice Imasi thikyilumi chibadu; licedimi./

(peppers now one=kilo=unit ten=baht=emph. peppers=large)

Peppers are now ten baht a kilo, large peppers that is.

^{21. /}yaphyi chwi 'smoke opium' is a clause modifying the noun head /-mi/ 'unit, item'; see section 3.1.2.1.

/mwu phalangu ngwamwu masala; phala thugha./

(your occidental=language we not=know=emph.occidental writing)

'As for your Emglish, we don't know (it), Emglish writing that is.'

/jipha thimi - nwi milyika ili be; jiphale?/

(liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom? liquor=as-for)

This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call (it), liquor I mean?

The last three examples above illustrate the occurrence of both primary and secondary topics in one utterance. There are also sometimes two or more primary or secondary topics in one utterance:

/azd lylswu majunya, yingu khyönya, séle ngl?/

(we Lisu not=have=as-for, language speak=as-for, know=emph is-so?)

'Although we Lisu don't have (any money), (if we) spoke (your) language, (we'd) know how (to make some), wouldn't we?"

/'thinwanya nobe thij} yiama, kasa ta./

(this=emph=time=as-for that=side one=kind do=nom=item, corn plant.)

'This time, (the way) they do over there, (I'll) plant corn.'

/kya maha; jagwu yikhawa talwuwa./

(dwell not=good. path side=at road=at)

'It's not good to live by the side of the road, the main road.'

4.2.3.3 Clause order with question words:

A variant of topic arrangement of basic order occurs when one of the seven Lisu question words is present in a clause. 22 That word, or its phrase, carries the function in a given utterance of some one of the basic position classes, yet regularly precedes the verb phrase head. That is, the question phrase, whether subject, goal, or another element, occurs immediately before the verb phrase rather than following the usual order for its class.

Question subject:

- 1) /mww ylgylama aba amyama daha./
 - (you return=go=nom=item months how-many=units remain=further.)
 - 'How many more months are left (before)
 your return (home)?'
- 2) /gwöthihlanma ama kya?/

(that=one=house=partic=item who dwellmnom?)

'Who lives in that house?'

3) /thima and be?/ (this=item who say=nom?)

Who said that?

```
/ama/ 'who?'
/amya/ 'how much?, how many?'
/aswa/ 'what?'
/ata/ 'when?'
/ata/ 'where?'
/ata/ 'how?; which?'
/ala/ 'where to?'
See section 2.4.2.3.3e.
```

Question time expression:

Ī

- 4) /yi áthá lã?/ (he when come=nom?)

 When is he coming?
- 5) /nwu <u>Tlithe</u> gyia?/ (you <u>which=when</u> go=nom?)

 When are you going?
- 6) /nww thithinin <u>sthe</u> syswange./

 (you this=one=house <u>when</u> make=did=question.)

 When did you build this house?

Question place expressions

- 7) /nyimi nwu alitawa gyia?/ (today you which=place=to go=nom?)
 Where are you going today?
- 8) /jā ālītáwā jā?/
 (rice which=place=at eat=nom?)

 Where (shall we) eat?
- 9) / TIE gyl séa; ngwanwu?/
 (where-to go know=nom? we)
 'Where to go to learn (it), us I mean?'

Question Goal:

- 10) /mwm amasa aswa syakya?/

 (you now what make=be=nom?)

 'What are you making now?'
- 11) /amyā jūa?/ (how-much have=nom?)

 How much do (you) have?

12) /lachu amyazu jua massa?/

(persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)

'Don't (you) know how many people there are?'

Question adverb:

13) /nww ja <u>all</u> too?/ (you rice how plant=nom?)
"How do you plant rice?"

'What do the Lisu call this?'

14) /lyiswi thimale all be?/
(Lisu this=item=as-for how say=nom?)

In many cases - e.g. 1-3, 6, and 8 above - the interrogative position shift produces a clause with one or more primary topics, the question phrase and the werb head forming the basic clause. But a question expression often calls for no rearrangement, in which case, nevertheless, a complex topic sometimes appears independently of the question, e.g.:

/jEphè thims - nww milyika ali be; jiphèle?/

(liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom?
liquor=as-for)

'This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call (it), liquor I mean?'

where /all/ 'how' is an adverb in the basic position, but the goal /jEpha/ 'liquor' appears in both primary and secondary topic positions.

In the anser to a question, all elements preceding the question word are commonly omitted. If such elements do appear in the answer, however, the order is that of the question:

```
Question: /jE Elitave jE?/ (rice which=place=at eat=nom?)
                   'Where (shall we) eat?
               /(ja) thitawa ja./ ([rice] this=place=at eat=nom.)
     Answers
                    '(We'll) eat here.'
    Question: /lylswa thimale all be?/
               (Lisu this=item=as-for how say=nom?)
                    'What do the Lisu call this?'
               /(lyīswā thīmālé) jā bé./
    Answer
               ([Lisu this=item=as-for] rice say=nom.)
                    '[The Lisu] call [this] rice.'
    When a question word occurs in a statement rather than a question,
the question order obtains, but the question word has indefinite, not
interrogative, force.
          /a makya./ (whoever=emph not=dwell.)
              'No one's there.'
          /né ama ali yila, ngwanwu jau./
          (you to whoever however do come, we help-new-situation.)
              'Whatever anyone does to you, we'll help.'
          /SIE gyla?/ /E'láis magylu./
          (where-to go=nom?) (wherever=emph not=go=new-situation.)
              *Where are (you) going? * (I'm) not going anywhere now.
          /nwu aswł yla?/ /à swł mayl./
          (you what do=nom?) (whatever=emph not=do.)
```

'What are you doing?' 'Nothing at all.'

5

/makhwu a'swf gwu mada; jo./

(tobacco whatever emph finish not can there)

'There's more tobacco than we can possibly finish, over there.'

/ya pachawa yiphwa alima jua, alima to ja./

(they plain=at price whichever=item have=nom, whichever=item plant eat=nom.)

'As for them [the Thai], whatever brings a price down on the plain, (I'll) plant it to earn a living.'

4.3 Substantive Particles.

Within the clause, the relationships between the elementa, although inherent in their order, are frequently given more specificity with particles. While verb and general particles mark not only these relationships but also structures extending over an entire clause or between clauses, the substantive particles specify only intra-clause relationships.²³

Of the five substantive particles, /-wa/ 'to, at, /-le/ 'to, for, with respect to', and /-kyi/ 'enumerative; and' occur in the basic clause or with topics; /-u/ 'vocative' occurs with isolatives; and /-a/ 'particularization' occurs with any element.

4.3.1 /-wa/ 'to, at, in'

The particle /-wa/ marks the second basic element in the elause, specifying a point in time or space. 24

^{23.} Accordingly: verb and general particles are discussed in the following chapter, 'The Sentence'. For the definitions of the particles and their subclasses see section 2.9.

^{24.} On the occurrence of /-wa/ with a clause, see section 4.2.1.2, footnote 6.

```
/nwa 'tha wajwawa de, lylswangù sa./
(you here-emph hills-to climb, Lisu-language study.)
    'You've come up here in the hills to study Lisu.'
/thi aufuning siphakhwiwa kaa, da nga?/
(this being-high-high-at bowl-inside-at put-in-nom,
    '(We) can put this up high in the bowl, can't we?'
/amyI thitawa ngu.
(field this=place=at is.)
    'The field is here.'
/vi amviwa gwia./ (he field=to go=nom.)
    'He's going to the fields.'
/lyīswū jo nwū kyāgwūwā gyīa, phwū majū./
(Lisu there you dwell=place=to go=nom, silver not=have.)
    'If (we) Lisu go to your country, (we) won't have
               any money.
/khyophe kyagwawa gyia, thiji gwa. azu ciiciwa thiji
      gwā. āmyīwā gyī, thìjà gwā./
(friends dwell=place=to go=nom, one=kind sing.
     our village=at one=kind sing. field=to go,
     one=kind sing.)
    "If (we) go to a friend's village, (we) sing one kind
        (of song). In our village (we) sing one kind. If
        (we) go to the fields, (we) sing one kind.
/sākhù lyīkhùwā atyi mīdīu./
(three=years four=years=in a-little forget=new-situation.)
     'In three or four years (we'll) have forgotten
            (you) a little.
```

```
/nwū Ilītowā səlI. aswakhuwā səlā - /
          (you which-place-at born-come, whatayear-in born-come-nom - )
              'Where you were born and what year you were born in ... '
     In rapid speech, /-wa/ is frequently reduced to /-a/, in which
case it forms a diphthong with the vowel of the preceding syllable.
          /amyla/ from /amylwa/ to the field, at the field
          /mwaa/ from /mwawa/ 'in the country, to the country'
     4.3.2 /-16/ 'to, for, with reference to, with respect to'
            The particle /-16/ is a focus particle (see 5.3); a
substantive with which this particle occurs is focal, i.e. is singled
out for the listener's special attention.
          /ngwālá gwā gwūlīu./
          (I=as-for sing finish=change-of-state=new-situation.)
              'As for me, (I've) finished singing.'
          /jipha thima - nww milyika ali be; jiphale?/
          (liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom?
                     liquor=as-for)
              This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call
                     (it), liquor I mean?
          /tanwu la sylangu; yilé./
           (police come kill=nom=is-so. they=as-for)
               'The police would come and kill them.'
           /nwa phalapha - chumile khyoghekyama ali yia?/
           (you occidental=man - person=old=to speak=to=be=items
                  how do=nom?)
               'What you were saying to the Westerner, the old man,
                     what was it all about?
```

```
/swale maha./

(other-people=with-respect-to not=correct.)

'It's not proper towards others.'

/ngwa chamble satu./

(I person=old=with-respect-to embarrassed.)

'I'm embarrassed towards older people.'

/zamas:le gwaghas./

(women=to sing=to=nom.)

'(He) sings to women.'

/ngwa thugha yfle ga tonyia./

(I book he=to let look-at=nom.)

'I showed nim the book.'

/zama akhe mabyimale - yisya maha./

(woman very not=pretty=unit=to - sound not=good.)

'To a weman who isn't very pretty, (one's) voice (need) not be good.'
```

In rapid speech, /-16/ is frequently reduced to /-4/, in which case it combines to form a diphthong with preceding high tone syllables but remains a separate syllable following syllables with other tones.

/yia/ from /yilé/ *with respect to him, them?

/bayia/ from /bayilé/ *with respect to the Thai*

4.3.3 /-kyi/ *enumeration; and*

The particle /-kyl/ occurs with each coordinate member of an additive substantive phrase (section 3.1.3.1), except that /-kyl/ drops after the last member when another particle occurs

there.

```
/mwukyI ngwakyI tahu gyia./

(you=and I=and together go=nom.)

'You and I will go together.'

/babakyI mamakyI ja ga jangu./

(father=and mother=and rice give est=no=is=sc.)

'(Her) father and mother feed (her).'

/lahakyI akhanya amyi jua maha./

(Lahu=and Akha=as=for daughters have=nom not=good.)

'For the Lahu and the Akha (it's) not good to have daughters.'

4.3.4 /-u/ 'vocative'
```

The particle /-u/ occurs only with substantives in isolative position. It normally forms the offglide of a diphthong with the vowel of the substantive's last syllable and has the tone of that syllable. However, occasionally the particle itself is emphatically stressed, in which case it forms a separate syllable.

```
/kdu!/ (older-brother=vocative=emphi)

'Brother!' (attracting his attention when he is present)

/ami du, abaméu!/

(quickly drink, adoptive-father=vocative=emph!)

'Drink up, Adoptive Father!'

/a:lin:, ami mela! gylu!/

(#2-child=vocative=emph. quickly carry-on-back=come! go=new-situation!)

'Second Daughter, bring (him) quickly! Go on!'
```

/ha mahana, yī bwuu, yaphyinya, naiphau!/

(good=nom not=good=contrast, work bored=new-situation, boss=man=vocative=emph!)

'Whether (it's) good or not, (I'm) tired of growing (it), opium I mean, Boss Man!'

cf. /naiphau/ without emphatic stress or abrupt intenstion.

4.3.5 /-a/ 'particularisation'

Substantives occurring with the particle /-a/ have normal or emphatic stress; with the latter falling pitch /:/ is regularly present, with the former /:/ is facultative.

a) With non-emphatic stress:

/amyla ala səla, atá ca, atá kya nanyiadu./

(daughter=partic where-to born=come, where move, where dwell, ask=nom=emph.)

'(He's) asking where you daughter was born, what places (you've) moved to, and where (you've) lived.'

/amosa thanya maso. thinya nyinya gwadwu maju./

(now here=as-for not=know. one=day=partic two=days=partic sing=knowledge not=have.)

'Now here (people) don't know (songs). There aren't (people who) know how to sing for even one or two days.'

/ngwā thìthás tổnyīs./

(I one=moment=partic look-at=nom.)

'I'll look at (this) just for a moment.'

```
/jāphò ālījšanā./ /thīthìjšanā. jāphò swaswa thìjša ngū./
         (liquor which=kind=partic=item.) (this=one=kind=partic=item.
             liquor red=red one=kind=partic is.)
              'Which kind of liquor?' 'This kind. It's the
                     red kind.
          /thichama aches amyanyi jus?/
          (one-weeksitem nom-realspartic how-many-days have-nom?)
              'Actually, just how many days are there in (your) week?'
b) With emphatic stress and falling pitch:
          /thi vwúsiho wa madau./
          (this=size=partic=emph=contrast get not=can=new-situation.)
              'Now (we) can't get even this much.'
          /thi physim, chayî thichakhwa wa dua./
          (one=rupee=partic=emph=item, tea one=pot get drink=nom.)
             '(They) get one rupee and get to drink one pot of
                  tea. [speaking of the bride price among the Akha]
          /kāhā áthīthe pīyīa, a'myas sau./
          (but=contrast this=when arrive=go=nom, nom=much=partic=emph
                 know=new-sitation.)
               But when that time comes, (you'll) know a lot.
          /ngwanwd amylnya attyla: ngahl./
          (our daughter-as-for a-little-partic-emph is-still.)
               '(She's) still our daughter a little bit.'
           /nyi'nyia:nya yakhyiphya ngwahyan chuhyannya piyiu./
           (little=little=partic=emph=as-for rupees five=hundred
                six=hundred=as-for reach=co=new=situation.)
               'If (we get) only a <u>little</u>, it'll come to five
                     or six hundred rupees
```

4.4 Attributive Clauses.

An attributive clause is marked by the absence of sentence intonation; such clauses occur with intonation patterns undistinguised from those of substantive phrases. They function either as part of substantive phrases, modifying a following substantive head, or as subject, goal, or topic in a larger clause, in which case they are directly attributive to the verb phrase of the latter. The second type of construction is a complex clause.

4.4.1 Attributive clauses within the phrase:

An attributive clause precedes a substantive it modifies. The verb phrase of the clause forms a word with a bound noun head or a phrase with a free substantive head, 25 and the whole acts as a substantive phrase in any larger construction. In such clauses the verb is optionally followed by a verb stem extension (2.7) and/or the final particle /-a/ (4.5). No other elements separate the verb from the following substantive head.

/sake jua hin/ (three=room have=nom house)
'three=room house'

/jipha du magwa/ (liquor drink song)

'drinking song'

/sichi chadwu/ (teeth rub=mechanism)

'toothbrush'

^{25.} See sections 2.4.2.3.1 and 3.1.2.1.

```
/thughè súswū amyāzū jūa?/

(book study=persons how-many=individuals have=nom?)

'How many students are there?'

/mwū ylgyIamā ābā amyāmā dāhè./

(you return=go=nom=item months how-many=units remain=still.)

'How many more months are left (before) your return (home)?'

/ngwā dwājātāmānyā gyīz bēkyāngū./

(I consider=be=item=as=for go=nom intend=nom=is=so.)

'After thinking it over, (I) plan to go.'

/ngwā thughè sūkyā thlefa:mā yī pīlāngū./

(I book study=be one=moment=partic=item he arrive=come=nom=is=so.)

'Just when I was studying, he arrived.'

/ngwā kyāmyò kyāgwāwā gyī jāgwū masé./

(I monkey dwell=place=to go path not=know.)
```

"I don't know the way to where the monkeys live."

In the last example the attributive clause /kyanyo kyanyo kyanyo

Although such as the above are frequent, most commonly a clause - particularly if lengthy - is not directly attributed to a substantive. Rather, the bound noun /-mz/ 'unit, item' replaces the substantive as head to the attributive clause, and the resulting phrase follows

the first substantive and is appositive to it. That is: not 'a very pretty girl', but 'a girl, a very pretty one'.26

/chumi muanya, yisya mahama gwa./

(person=old see=nom=as-for, sound not=good=item sing.)

'If (you) see someone who's old, (you can) sing with a sound that's poor.'

/zama akha mabyima yisya maha./

(woman very not=pretty=unit sound not=good.)

'(To) a woman who's not very pretty, (your)
voice (need) not be good.'

/wiphami, gwothinyi ja bichwi jaghoma ya: mabé?/

(uncle=old, that=one=day rice insects est=actual=item they not=say=nom?)

'Old Uncle, the other day didn't they say (anything about) the rice the insects have eaten?'

/lyiswinya akhá sáasma wa./

(Lisu=as-for very-much know=nom=units get=nom.)

'Among the Lisu, (you) get individuals who know a lot (of songs).'

In the last example, /akhá séa: mã/ 'ones who know a lot' is appositive to /lyīswū/ 'Lisu', even though the latter is shifted into primary topic position.

4.4.2 Complex clauses:

Substantives with a clause attribute occur as any element except an isolative within a larger clause. But clauses without a substantive head appear only as subject, goal, or topic.

^{26.} See also the examples in sections 3.1.3.2b-c.

4.4.2.1 Clause subjects:

A clause occurs as subject only with an adjectival verb phrase head or with the copula {ng2} 'is, is a case of '. Here, as with clauses modifying substantives, only verb stem extensions and/or nominalizing particle /-a/ follow the verb in the attributive clause, but the latter is regularly present with final tone in positive clauses before {ng2}.27

With adjective head:

/ngwã zàno ne nethwia chúa./

(my children you=as-for marry=nom bad=nom.)

"For my children to marry you (would) be bad."

/lahakyī akhanya amyl jūs mahā./

(Lahu-and Akha-as-for daughters have=nom not=good.)

For the Lahu and the Akha it's not good to have daughters.

/ngwā thā kyā muswin./

(I here dwell=nom long=new-situation.)

"I've lived here a long time now."

/maci mwiwa yaphyi chwi akhé ha./

(Burma country=in opium suck very good=nom.)

'In Burma, opium smoking is really good.

With the copula {nga}:

/ácá yí byà gà jăngū./

(in-a-moment he sweets give eat=nom=is-so.)

'In a moment he'll give (you) candy to eat.

^{27.} See also section 4.5 on the nominalization and 2.5.4.3 on {nga}.

```
/ngwl mahingu./ (I ill-nom-yet-is-so.)
    'I'm still sick.'
/nww Imyla gylango./
(you field-to go-nom-question.)
    'Are you going to the fields?'
/atyi mahaliningwa./
(a-little not=recover=change-of-state=yet=question.)
    'Hasn't (he) gotten any better at all yet?'
/amyī tha da nga; manga./
 (field here be-located=nom is-so. not=is-so)
     "Is the field here or not?"
 /nwu amyl tha kya nga?/
 (your daughter here dwell=nom is-so?)
     'Your daughter lives here, right?'
 /yí Ibamé nöz ngī?/
 (she adoptive-father desire=nom is-so?)
     'She wanted an adoptive father, didn't she?'
4.4.2.2 Clause goals:
```

clauses fill the goal position with a limited number of transitive verbs representing semantic areas related to the senses, i.e. knowing, saying, hearing, seeing, and the like. Utterances with clause goal differ from those with substantive goal in that a clause goal regularly appears in primary topic position if any other substantive plainting also present. Again, the attributive verb is followed in its phrase only by verb stem

```
extension and/or /-a/ 'nominalization'.28
          /gyīs bēkyāngū./ (go=nom intend=nom=is-so.)
              "I intend to go."
          /alili būghās: vwinyis./
          (which=fashion write=actual=nom read=see=nom.)
              'Try reading out what's written down."
          /lachu amyazu jua maséa?/
          (persons how-many-individuals have=nom not=know?)
              'Don't (you) know how many people there are?'
          /phama mod hamed collama ha besweingu./
          (Burma country Chinese-country circulate-come=item
               good=nom say=nom=emph=is-so.)
               *(He) is saying that (opium) that comes from
                   Burma and China is good. '
           /nwū myš jūs ngwā sásngū./
           (you work have=nom I know=nom=is-so.)
               "I know you have work (to do)."
           /yisya ha maha ngwa nananyia./
           (sound good=nom not=good I listen=see=nom.)
               'I'll listen and see if (your) voice is good or not.
           /thī bē, azù alī nga né beghawa nga?/
           (this say, we how is you=to say=to=get-to is-so?)
               'Saying this, (I) can tell you how it is with
                      us, right?
```

^{28.} The substantive particle /-16/ 'to, for, with respect to', which is so frequent with substantive goals (section 4.2.1.3), does not, of course, occur with goals having a verb phrase head.

The verb /be/ 'say, tell' frequently takes a clause goal while itself occurring in an attributive clause; in such cases /be/ has the specialized meaning 'speaking of; if it is a case of'.

/maha bei, Azd mawa. ha bei, Azd zano./

É

(not=good say=nom, we teach=must. Good=nom say=nom, our child.)

'If (she's) bad, we must teach (her). If (she's) good, (she's) our child.' [i.e. we both receive credit]

/myidù jua be: . Zzù tàhù myidù ngu./

(reputation have=nom say=nom, our together reputation is.)

'If (our daughter) has a good reputation, (it's also) our joint reputation.

/ságð fwu jà fwu duahð, yí zágwu hväyla bé, nwu thitéswāwā kyawa; ámyl kyagwuwā./

- (in-future benefit eat benefit drink=nom=contrast, she husband find=go=nom say=nom, you this=side=at dwell=get-to. daughter dwell=place=at)
 - "In the future when benefits are gained (at the wedding ceremony), that is when she gets a husband, you can live here, in your daughter's home."
- /āmā lyīswū zànö né ābàmé cághāngū bényā, ságā nwū ámyì jūahì, ngwā zà zwū madā./
- (now Lisu child you=as-for adoptive-father relate= actual=is-so say=nom=as-for, in-future you daughter have=nom=further, my son take not=can.)
 - 'Now, since it's the case that (my) Lisu child is related to you as adoptive father, in the future, if you have a daughter, my son can't marry (her).

4.4.2.3 Clause topics:

The great majority of attributive clauses occur neither modifying substantives nor as subject or goal, but as topics. Subject and goal clauses sometimes occur as complex topics:

/nathwianya chúa./

[complex topic]

(marry=nom=as-for bad=nom.)

"As for marrying, (it would) be bad."

cf. /ngwā zano ne nethwia chia./

[subject]

(my child you=as-for marry=nom bad=nom.)

"For my child to marry you (would) be bad."

/nwū myö jūs ngwā séangū./

[complex topic]

(you work have=nom I know=nom=is-so.)

"I know you have work (to do)."

cf. /lachu amyazu jua maséa?/

[goal]

(persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)

"Don't you know haw many people there are?"
But most clause topics are simple, i.e. any of the basic clause
elements can occur without affecting the relationship between the
attributive clause and the verb phrase which it modifies.

In topic clauses, not only verb stem extensions and the nominalizing particle /-a/, but also, facultatively, several other particles follow the verb(s). In fact. in their occurrence with clauses, the general particles /-nyā/ 'as for', /-hā/ 'contrastive focus', and /-hf(nyī)/ 'related focus' are limited to topic

position.²⁹ Thus these three particles are facultative markers of topic clauses.

a) Primary topics:

/magwa magwa, bya maga ja./

(song not=sing, sweets not=give eat.)

*If (you) don't sing a song, (he) won't give (you) candy to eat.

/yí thùghà majū, la mada./

(they paper_not=have, come not=can.)

"If they don't have a permit, (they) can't come."

/nwu tha wajwawa dela, lyiswungu su./

(you here hills=to climb=come, Lisu=language study.)

'You've come up here to the hills to study Lisu.'

/lyīswū nwū kanya thìhwa gàyī, jo phalàngù sū./

(<u>Lisu you after one=time follow=go</u>, there occidental=language study.)

'If (we) Lisu once go with you, (we'll) study English there (in America).'

/sākhù lyīkhù pīyīa, mīdīulē./

(three=years four=years arrive=go=nom, forget=change-of-state=new-situation=emph.)

'Three or four years from now (they) will have forgotten (you).

/nwd ylgylnyd, maylldu./

(you return=go=as-for, not=return=come=new-situation.)

'If you go back (home). (you won't come back (here) any more.'

^{29.} The particles are discussed individually in section 5.4.2. As general particles, all three also occur with substantives, but, while /-nyā/ is limited to topics in all constructions, both /-hā/ and /-hf(nyī)/ also appear in other positions with substantives.

```
/yia mulinya, beghaa./
          (he=as-for see=change-of-state=as-for, say=to=nom.)
              'If (I) see him. (I'll) tell (him).'
          /yaphyi switchi, swihwaliu./
          (opium sow=stay=contrast, die=change-of-state=new-situation.)
              "And when the opium is sown, it dies."
          /mahan lyTha, mawa jau./
          (rain rain=contrast, not=get eat=new-situation.)
              'And when it rains, (you) can't earn a living.'
          /tona, tonyī ha. khyona, khyonyon./
          (look-contrast, look-at good-nom. smell-contrast,
                small-bad=nom.)
              "For looking, (it's) fine. For smelling, (it) stinks."
b) Secondary topics:
          /nwū kanya gaylale; phwū majūjū./
          (you after follow=go=nom=emph. money not=have=have)
              '(We'll) go along with you, (since we) don't
                    have any money.
          /manga, 'qu's, ngwa ja mada; yaphyimyi yia./
          (not=so, oh=emph, I eat not=can. opium=field work=nom)
              Otherwise, on I can't make a living raising opium.
          /yî baba yî mama dea; ngwakhe bejalia./
          (her father her mother beat=nom. my=words
               hear=change-of-state=nom)
               Her father and mother will beat (her). when
                    (they) hear my words.*
```

```
/thìfwd ngwa gyi vwu telaghe; yí gwa peanya./
         (one=bottle I go buy carry=come=for. he sing dare=nom=as-for)
             "I'll go buy a bottle (of liquor) and bring (it)
                  for (him), if he dares sing.
         /dwłyia; beghanya, tihwa azu?/
         (enter=go=nom? say=to=as-for, this=emph=time we)
              'Is (it) going in (the tape recorder), what we're
                     saying this time?
          /ságā nwū yìlā, thìhwā gà yìlā ngā; gàyīa, ngwānyā?/
          (in-future you return-come, onestime allow return=come=nom
               is-so? follow=go=nom, I=as-for)
              'In the future when you come back, (you'll) let
                    (me) come back again, won't you, if I go
                    along (with you)?
    When there is more than one topic clause in a sentence, one or
more precedes the head verb phrase, but, in my data, no more than
one follows it.
          /gyīghēa, chwāyī, yìlāngūnē./
          (go=actual=nom, visit=go, return=come=nom=is-so=emph.)
              'After (we) go. (we'll) go around and visit and then
                      come back.
          /yaphyimyi yia, thikhu khwa, sakhaha mawa, 'a./
          (opium=field work=nom, one=year hoe=nom, three=tenths-joy=
                contrast not=get. oh=emph.)
              Raising opium, in one year's cultivation (you)
                 don't even get three tenths of a joy, oh!
          /azù lyīswū majūnyā, yíngù khyönyā, səlē ngī?/
          (we Lisu not=have=as-for, language speak=as-for,
                know=emph is-so?)
              'Though we Lisu don't have (any money), if (wa)
                  spoke (your) language, (we'd) know how (to
                  make some), wouldn't we?
```

/saga nww ylla, thihwa ga ylla nga; gayaa, ngwanya?/

(in-future you return=come, one=time allow return=come=nom is-so? follow=go=nom, I=as-for)

"In the future when you come back, (you'll) let (me) come back again, won't you, if I go along (with you)?"

/manga, 'qui, ngwa ja mada; yaphyimyi yia./

(not=so, oh=emph, I eat not=can. opium=field work=nom)

'Otherwise, oh I can't make a living raising opium.'

4.5 Nominalization.

When a verb is nominalized with one of the proclitic particles /yf-/ or /a-/ (sections 2.4.2.3.3 and 3.1.2.3) or with reduplication (2.10.2), it loses its ability to function as the head of a clause. However, an entire clause can be nominalized by marking its verb head with a morpheme which is represented sometimes with final tone (cf. 1.6.2.2), sometimes with final particle /-a/ (cf. 5.4.1.2), and sometimes with a combination of the two.³⁰ This is clause nominalization.

4.5.1 The forms:

The great majority of verbs occur with both final tone and /-a/, separately or in combination depending on the syntactic environment. Such verbs show alternations of the types:

Basic	With final tone and /-a/
/su/ 'study'	/súa/ 'to study'
/gg=/ *go*	/gyta/ 1+0 go1
/dè/ 'beat'	/dša/ "to beat"

^{30.} I presume there are varying degrees of explicitness in the different realizations, but I do not know the language well enough to define the difference in meaning explicitly.

However, neither diphthongs with low vowel and /a/ offglide nor triphthongs occur in Lisu. Thus, with verbs having nuclear low vowel or diphthong, clause nominalization is represented only with final tone, e.g.:

Basic tone

/be/ 'say'

/ha/ 'good'

/pai/ 'put'

/pai/ 'to put'

With verbs having basic high-level or mid-rising tone, basic and final tone coincide. Most of these occur with /-a/:

Without /-a/

/sé/ 'know' /séa/ 'to know'

/phī/ 'flick (with a finger)' /phīa/ 'to flick'

/kya/ 'dwell' /t6/ 'contravene; be wrong'

But those with nuclear low vowel or diphthong do not, e.g.s

In either case, a verb is considered to have final tone only in these syntactic environments where final tone is regularly present with verbs of the first two types above. Thus, with verbs like the last two, the presence of clause nominalization is marked only by the syntactic environment.

4.5.2 The function:

In many environments the nominalizing function of this morpheme is not clearly demonstrable. The following are examples of it in environments where that function is clear:

```
/nww swia mahau./

(you twist=nom not=good=new-situation.)

"Your twisting (it) isn't good."

cf. /nww swi maha./ (you twist not=good.)

"You're twisting (it) badly."

/nww yia maha./ (you do=nom not=good.)

"It's not good for you to do that."

cf. /nww yi maha./ (you do not=good.)

"You're doing (it) badly."
```

In these pairs there is a clear difference in meaning between the forms with /=c/ and final tone and those without. In the first of each pair, the initial clause is nominalized and acts as subject of a following adjective, while in the second of each pair, the verb forms part of a larger verb phrase.

```
/lachu amyazu jua massa?/

(persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)

*Don*t you know how many people there are?*

/gyīa bēkyāngū./ (go=nom intend=nom=is-so.)

*I intend to go.*
```

In these two cases, there are no parallel expressions without /-a/ (but the first has /-a/ with basic tone); clauses with positive verbs which are the goal of verbs of speaking, hearing, and the like are regularly nominalized.

/gyīa bēkyāngū./ (go=nom intend=nom=is-so.)

'I intend to go.'

/aci byā gð jängū./

(in-a-moment sweets give eat=nom=is-so.)

'In a moment (he'll) give (you) candy to eat.'

cf. /thāhān mangā. tānwā ngūphá?/

(soldiers not=be. police be=probably?)

'(They) are not soldiers. (They) are police, I think.'

In the first two of these sentences, the nominalized clauses act as subject of the copula /ngu/ 'is, is so' in the same way as the nouns in the last example.

In all three sets of examples, the verb forms with /-s/ and/or final tone appear in typically substantive positions.

In other environments the nominalizing function of the morpheme is not clear. Aside from those listed above, the only environment in which it is regularly present is with verbs occurring with interrogative intonation (see 1.11.3).31

^{31.} One of the most common environments in which the morpheme appears is in a main verb phrase (as in several of the examples above), which has the somewhat unsettling effect of making many Lisu sentences substantives. There is an interesting parallel in Lisu's neighbor and relative, Burmese, where a main verb phrase ends with one of a class of final particles. (The terms used here are those of W. C. Cornyn in his Outline of Burmese Grammar, Language Supplement, 20:4 (1944). The examples are from the Outline or Cornyn's Spoken Burmese, ISA, 1945.) These include /-t5/ 'actuality' and /-m2/ 'potentiality', both with low level tone. When a verb phrase is attributive to a noun head, however, the former precedes and the tone of the final particle changes to short falling: /-te./ or /-me./, as in:

4.5.3 The environments:

a) In a few environments, nominalization is regularly present, i.e.:

In the Lisu citation form of a verb: 32

/s52/ 'to know' basic form: /s5/ 'know'
/syfa/ 'to be wide' /syī/ 'wide'
/khyfa/ 'to flae' /khyf/ 'flee'
/gyfa/ 'to go' /gyf/ 'go'
/j\f2/ 'to ride' /j\f2/ 'ride'

With a verb, positive or negative, which occurs with interrogative intonation (1.11.3 and 5.2.3):

/amyaji jwa?/ (many=kinds have=mem?) Basic: /jw/

'Are there many kinds?'

/kaun:de. lu/ (good=actual person) 'good person' cf. /lu kaun:de/ '(the) person is good' /thwa:me. ywa/ (go=potential village) '(the) village to which (they) will go' cf. /ywa-gou thwa:me/ 'will go to the village' Both position and tone shift exactly parallel those of such nouns as /thu/ 'he' and /qein/ 'house' in attribution, e.g.: /thu. mei hswei/ his friend* cf. /thu thwasde/ 'he goes' /qein. hyin/ (house lord) 'landlord' cf. /qein kaun:de/ '(the) house is good' Compare also the rare usage: /mahtu-yin, khamya: hyi.de mahyi.de-gou be. ne lou? thi.hnain-male:/ (not=answer=if, you present=actual not=present=actual= goal how do know=can=potential=question.) 'If you don't answer, how can (I) know whether you are present or not? in which a verb phrase ending in the final particle /-te/ is followed by the particle /-kou/ 'goal, object', one of a group of particles which define the class of nonne:

32. See section 1.6.2.2, footnote 43. Each of the environments mentioned here is discussed elsewhere from the point of view of word, phrase, or clause structure or function. The sections relevant to each are indicated in parentheses in each subheading below.

```
Basic: /sé/
         /lachu amyazu jua masaa?/
         (persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)
             *Don*t (you) know how many people there are?
                                                 Besic: /yī/
         /zānös: cā makwūmā ālī yīs?/
         (children relate not=know-how=items how do=nom?)
             'What (do you) do (about) things the children
                     can't tell (you)?
         /thīmā ālī you?/ (this=item how use=nom?) Basic: /yo/
             'How (do you) use this?'
         /nwū gyīa; āmēsa?/ (you go=nom? now) Basic: /gyī/
              'Are you going, now?'
In positive statements which are subject of the copula {nga} 'is,
is so, is a case of (2.5.4.2):
          /nwū myo jūs ngwā sásngū./
                                                 Basic: /sá/
          (you work have=nom I know=nom=is-so.)
              "I know you have work (to do)."
          /aca bya ga jangu./
                                                  Basic: /jt/
          (in-a-moment sweets give eat=nom=is-so.)
              'In a moment (he'll) give (you) candy to eat.'
          /ngwā telikhyonyā jūangūne./
                                                   Basic: /jū/
          (my direction=as-for have=nom=is-so=emph.)
              'On my side there is indeed.'
          /phwu hwa te yila nga?/
                                                   Basic: /yila/
          (cilver seek carry return-come-nom is-so?)
              '(You'll) get money and bring it back, won't you?'
```

```
Basic: /nö/
        /yī bāba nēa, ābamé nēa ngī?/
         (she father desire=nom, adoptive-father desire=nom is-so?)
             "She wanted a father, an adoptive father, right?"
                                                    Basic: /gyī/
         /nwu amyla gyiango./
         (you field=to go=nom=question.)
             'Are you going to the fields?'
    In a positive statement which is the goal of a transitive verb:
    (4.4.2.2):
                                                    Basic: /gyī/
         /gyīa bēkyāngū./
         (go=nom intend=nom=is=so.)
             "I intend to go."
         /phana muh hòmuh culama ha beswhngu./ Basic: /ha/
         (Burma country Chinese=country circulate=come=item
             good=nom say=nom=emph=is-so.)
             '(He) is saying that (opium) that comes from
                  Burma and China is good.
                                                    Basic: /jū/
         /myida jua be:, Zzu tahu myidu ngu./
         (reputation have=nom say=nom. our together reputation is.)
             'If (our daughter) has a good reputation, (it's
                   also) our joint reputation.
b) Nominalization is regularly absent - i.e. /-a/ is lacking and
    a verb has basic tones
    With all but the last of a sequence of verbs in one phrase:
          /la tonyi/ (come look-at) 'come to see'
             citation form: /18/
          /gyī sá/ (go know) 'go to learn'
            citation form: /gyīa/
```

```
/dula/ (exit=come) 'come out'
       citation forms /dua/
    /jà sā/ (eat easy) 'happily married'
       citation form: /ja/
     /yīkū mawā vwū tēlā/ (cigarettes not=get-to buy carry=come)
         'didn't have a chance to buy cigarettes and bring (them)'
       citation forms: /wa/, /wwwa/, /te/
From an adjective, nominalized or not, attributive to a preceding
noun head (2.4.2.3.1.2a and 3.1.2.3):
     /lane/ (big-cat=black) 'black panther'
        citation form: /né/
     /anaswi/ (dog=yellow) 'yellow dog'
        citation form: /swaz/
     /chumi/ (person=old) 'old person'
        citation form: /mua/
     /jlpha swiswi/ (liquor red=red) 'red liquor'
        citation form: /swła/
     /bichwł yinyichwł/ (dress nomegreen) 'green dress'
        citation form: /nyichwia/
From a negative statement or imperative (1.11.1.2, 5.2.1,
and 5.2.2):
     /yi magyi./ (he not go.)
         'He's not going.'
        citation forms /gyla/
```

```
/atyl wa ja mada./ (a-little get eat not=can.)
        '(We) can't get even a little to eat.'
       citation forms /d4/
    /magwa magwa, bya maga ja./
    (song not-sing, sweets not-give eat.)
         'If (you) don't sing a song, (he) won't give (you)
                  candy to eat.
       citation forms: /gwa/, gea/, /ja/
     /thayi./ (don't do.)
         'Don't do (that).'
       citation form: /yla/
From abrupt imperatives (1.11.2 and 5.2.2b):
     /gyll/ 'gol'
        citation form: /gyīa/
     /thay11/ (don t=do1) Cut that out!
        citation form: /yia/
From main verb phrases with stem extension (2.7 and 5.1.1):
     /chāmà lã pīyla, yiphwāphwā - thìfwā gàwā./
     (person=old come=nom arrive=go=nom, partic=white=white -
            one=bottle give=did.)
         When the old man came, (he) gave (us) a bottle
                of home brew.
        citation form: /gša/
     /yí kyã nganya, ngwa beghawa./
     (he dwell-is-semes-for, I say-to-complete.)
          "If he had been (there), I would have told (him)."
        citation form: /beghea/
```

```
/sányī ámyl macwikhyïa, azù jaghaa33, yi khyï ylla,
       lyighawa: yiphwa./
    (in-future daughter not-capable=nom, we eat=actual=nom,
       she flee return=come=nom, give-back=to=must. price)
         *Later on if (our) daughter isn't capable. (what) we ve
            received, if she runs away and comes home, (we)
            have to give back. the (bride) price that is.
        citation forms /lyighaa/
     /magyīcúa./34 (not=go=have-ever.)
         '(I've) never gome (there).'
        citation form: /gyīa/
From the verb phrases of coordinate clauses (5.1.1.3):
     /haswi tha la. mahaswi tha la; lù jagwuwa./
     (good=nom=type here come, not=good=type here come.
               vehicle road=at)
         'Good types (of things) come here, bad types come
              here, along the road.
        citation forms /la/
      /zamalé mama thì ji gwa. zamalé mamu thì ji gwawa./
     (woman=young see=nom=unit one=kind sing, woman=young
            not=see one=kind sing=must.)
         One who sees a girl (must) sing one kind (of song);
             if (you) don't see a girl, (you) must sing another kind.'
        citation form: /gwa/
```

^{33.} As a stem extension, /-gha/ 'actuality' does not occur with nominalization in a main clause. Here in an attributive clause, however, final particle /-a/ is (facultatively) present.

^{34.} The /a/ with /-cua/ is not the final particle but a part of the stem extension.

```
/kàsa tā - lách tā - nổ tā - 'qú:, swhmyīswhcfa:
                tā jà, no swi./
          (corn plant - peppers plant - sesame plant - oh=emph,
             all-kinds plant eat, sesame sow.)
              '(I'll) plant corn, (I'll) plant peppers, (I'll)
                 plant sesame, oh (I'll) plant all sorts of
                 things to est. (I'll) sow sesame.
             citation forms: /téa/, /jk/, /swia/
c) Nominalization is facultatively present with verb phrases in
    other environments, e.g.;
     With positive statements and imperatives (1.11.1.1, 5.2.1,
     and 5.2.2);
        With nominalization
          /tha amya: kya, satúa./
          (here many stay, embarrassed=nom.)
              'With a lot (of people) here, I'm embarrassed.
          /ngwa thughu yile gas./ (I book he=to give=nom.)
               'I gave him the book.'
          /magwa gwanyia./ (song sing=try=nom.)
               'Try singing a song.'
        Without nominalization
           /ngwa chumulé satu./
          (I person=old=with-respect-to embarrassed.)
               *(I'm) embarrassed towards older people.*
           /bya thing thinked go./ (sweets one-unit one-lump give.)
               '(He'll) give a piece of candy to each (of you).
```

```
/ami du. swiswie du./
    (quickly drink. slow=slow=partic drink.)
         'Drink up. Take your time drinking.'
In attributive clauses (4.4):
  With nominalization
     /saka jua hin/ (three=room have=nom house)
        *three-room house*
        basic form: /jū/
     /thugha budwu/ (letter write=nom=implement)
         'writing implement'
        basic form /bu/
     /lahakyī akhanyā amyl jūs mahā./
     (Lahu=and Akha=as=for daughters have=nom not=good.)
         'For the Lahu and the Akha it's not good to
               have daughters.'
        basic form: /ju/
     /sākhù lyīkhù pīyīa, mīdīulē./
     (three=years four=years arrive=go=nom, forget=
             new-situation=emph.)
         Three or four years (from now they) will have
             forgotten (you). *
        basic form:
                    \TyIq\
   Without nominalization
     /j≅phè du mègwa/ (liquor drink song)
         'drinking song'
        citation form: /dua/
```

```
/phwwdapha/ (silver=beat=man)
        'silversmith'
       citation form, /d3a/
    /mac = mulwa yaphyi chwl akho ha./
    (Burma country=in opium suck very good=nom.)
         'In Burma opium smoking is really good.'
       citation form /chwia/
    /lyīswū nwū kanya thìhwa gàyī, jo phalàngù sū./
    (Lisu you after one=time follow=go, there
         occidental=language study.)
         'If (we) Lisu once go with you, (we'll) study
              English there (in America).
       citation form: /gayla/
Before other post-verbal particles:
  With nominalization
     /yîha atyî yì, ngwaha yiu./
     (He=contrast a-little drunk, I=contrast drunk=new-situation.)
         He was a little drunk, (and) I got drunk.
        Basic forms /yl/ (as in the first clause)
     /nathwianya, chúa./ (marry=nom=as-for, bad=nom.)
         'If (they) marry, (it's) bad.'
        Basic form: /nathwd/
     /amf dua: ma./ (quickly drink=nom=urging.)
         'Drink up.
        Basic form: /du/
```

```
Without nominalization

/yaphyi switahi, swihwaliu./

(opium sow=be=contrast, die=change-of-state=new-situation.)

'And when the opium is sown, (it) dies.'

citation form: /swihwalia/

/ābā thìmā nyìmā ami lānyā, akhi syakyalē./

(months one=unit two=units quickly come=as-for, very-much miss=nom=emph.)

'If (you) come back quickly, in a month or two, (we'll) still miss (you) very much.'

citation form: /lã/

/ami dūmā./ (quickly drink=urging.)

'Drink up.' (less polite than /ami dūa:mā./)

citation form: /dūa/
```

In some environments, nominalization is represented, whenever possible by both final tone and /-a/. For example, verbs under interrogative intonation regularly have final tone, and /-a/ is present with all verbs except those with which it is phonologically prohibited. In other environments, however, nominalization is represented by one of the two elements independently of the other, toes:

```
/thughè budwu/ (letter write=nom=mechanism)

'writing implement'

Here /bu/ is nominalized with final tone only; compare the basic

form /bu/ and the nominalized form in:

/yf thughè bua./ (he letters write=nom.)

'He is writing.'
```

```
However, in:
```

/alīlī bū kātá vwinyīa./

(which=fashion write put-in=be read=see=nom.)

'Try reading out what's written down.'

the verb phrase /vwinyia/ is nominalized with /-a/ only; compare the basic form /vwinyi/ and the nominalized form in:

/magwa gwanyia./ (song sing=try=nom.)

'Try singing a song.'

Chapter V

The Sentence

5.0 Introduction.

In section 1.0 the sentence was defined as a sequence of syllables which co-occurs with one of three sentence intonations: declarative, interrogative, or abrupt. Within this category, there are two major interlocking classifications, the first subdividing according to whether the sentence intonation falls on a verb phrase, a substantive phrase, or an exchamation, the second according to the occurrence of question words or of certain particles with particular intonations.

5.1 Major and Minor Sentences.

When the sentence intonation falls on a verb phrase head, the result is a <u>major sentence</u>; when it falls on a substantive phrase or on an exclamation the result is a minor sentence.

5.1.1 The major sentence:

A major sentence thus contains at least one clause.

A clause whose head coincides with sentence intonation is a main clause. If a sentence contains a second clause which is not attributive, that and the main clause are coordinate, and the sentence is compound.

5.1.1.1 Non-compound major sentences:

```
a) Without attributive clauses:
          /ngwanwù phalàngù atyl suyla./
          (we occidental=language a-little study=go=nom.)
              'We'll go study English a little.'
          /yí ne půhwá tóto khyogha./
          (he you=to speech backwards=backwards speak=to.)
              "He's telling you wrong way round."
          /khakhya gyl kya, asiu!/
          (platform go stay, #4=vocative!)
              'Go stay on the platform, Fourth Daughter.'
          /thai mrawa amasa yaphyi maha./
          (Thai country=in now opium not=good.)
               'In Thailand the opium isn't good now.'
          /nwū ámyl ngwã ámyl ngū. ngwã ámyl nwū ámyl ngū./
          (your daughter my daughter is. my daughter
                  your daughter is.)
               Your daughter is my daughter. My daughter is
                      your daughter. *
          /ala gyī sáa; ngwanwu?/
          (where-to go know=nom? we)
               'Where to go to learn (it), us I mean?
           /jipha thima - nww milyika ali be; jiphale?/
           (liquor this=item - you Americans how say=nom?
                    liquor=as-for)
               This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call
                     (it), liquor I mean?
```

```
b) With attributive clauses:
          /ngwa zano ne nethwia chia./
          (my child you=as-for marry=nom bad=nom.)
              "For my child to marry you (would) be bad. "
          /aca yi bya ga jangu./
          (in-a-moment he sweets give eat=nom=is-so.)
               'In a moment he'll give (you) candy to eat.
          /nwu amyl tha kya nga?/
          (your daughter here dwell=nom is-so?)
               Your daughter lives here, right?
          /lachu amyasu jua maséa?/
          (persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)
               Don't (you) know how many people there are?
          /magwa magwa, bya maga ja./
          (song not=sing, sweets not=give eat.
               'if (you) don't sing (a song), (he) won't give
                      (you) candy to eat.
           /nww ylgywnys, mayllsu./
           (you return=go=as-for, not=return=come=new-situation.)
               'If you go back (home), (you) won't come back
                    (here) any more.
           /yí baba máma děa; ngwakha bejalia./
           (her father mother beat=nom. my=words hear=
                    change-of-state=nom.)
               "Wor father and mother will heat (her), when
                     (they) hear my words.
```

```
/dwlyla; beghenya, 'tihwa azu?/

(enter=go=nom? say=to=as-for, this=emph=time we)

'Is (it) going in (the tape recorder) when
we speak this time?'
```

5.1.1.2 Compound sentences:

In my data, coordinate clauses are regularly simple i.e. do not contain an attributive clause - and clause nominalization
is lacking.

/nwu yi babaha baba khwu, yi mama mama khwuwangu./

(you his father=contrast father call, his mother mother call=get-to=is-so.)

'You can call his father "father" and his mother "mother".'

/zamale muama thija gwa, zamale mamu thija gwawa./

(woman=young see=nom=unit one=kind sing, woman=young not=see one=kind sing=must.)

One who sees a girl (must) sing one kind (of song); if (you) don't see a girl, (you) must sing another kind.

/haswl tha la. mahaswl tha la: lu jagwurd./

(good=nom=type here come, not=good=type here come. vehicle path=at)

'Good types (of things) come here, bad types come here, along the road.'

A sequence of more than two coordinate clauses is further characterized by an unusually slow rate of delivery and, frequently, by suspensive intonation after each clause, e.g.:

/kàsā tā - lách tā - nổ tā - 'qú:, swhmyīswhcha:
tā jà, nổ swh./

(corn plant - peppers plant - sesame plant - oh=emph, all-kinds plant eat, sesame sow.)

'(I'll) plant corn, (I'll) plant peppers, (I'll) plant sesame, oh (I'll) plant all sorts of things to eat, (I'll) sow sesame.'

5.1.2 The minor sentence:

Minor sentences are of two types. Those which consist entirely of isolatives - i.e. exclamations or vocatives - are isolative sentences. All other minor sentences are reductions from major sentences.

5.1.2.1 Isolative sentences:

Exclamations

/qfi/ 'Say, what is this?'

(surprise at an event contrary to one's expectations)

/qō./ 'Oh, I see.'

(comprehension, at last)

/'qán./ 'Oh no.'

(denial of another's statement)

/á'lá./ 'Ooooooh!'

(extreme pain)

/ā'lá./ 'Look at that, will you!'

(both indicative of surprise, wonder, amazement)

/qon'qon-yai/ 'You don't say!'

Vocatives:

```
/alfu!/ (#4-child=vocative!)

'Fourth Child!' (attracting his attention when he is present)

/'kuu./ (older-brother=vocative=>mph.)

'Brother!' (calling from a distance)

/amyla./ (eldest-daughter=partic.)

'Eldest Daughter!'

5.1.2.2 Reductions:
```

A reduction is a major sentence minus its verb head. For many reductions, the verb which would complete them is specified in a preceding major sentence where it appears as head, e.g.:

/yimyö ālī bé?/ /làchūdàmā./l

(name how say=nom?) (person=big.)

'What's (his) name?' 'Big Man.'

/yi yàphyi lā tönyīa./ /ālītáwā. yàphyi ālīmā./

(they opium come look-at=nom.) (which=place=at.opium which=item.)

'They came to look at opium.' 'Where? Which opium?'

/ámyla, no qôlá hīn-wā jāphò thìfwū gyī zwū./

/jāphò ālījāamā./ /thīthìjāamā./

(daughter=partic, yonder Qola's house=at liquor one=bottle go take.) (liquor which=kind=partic=item.)

(this=one=kind=partic=item.)

Daughter, go get a bottle of liquor there at Qela's house. 'What kind of liquor?' 'This kind.'

^{1.} In this section, that werb is underlined in preceding sentences which is tacit in the following reductions.

- /haphangunya khyintyi bele; khyintyi khyinma.
 lyiswungunya abame amame./
- (Chinese=man=language=as=for *chinti* say=nom=emph.

 chinti *chinma* Lisu=language=as-for
 adoptive-father adoptive-mother.)
 - 'In Chinese (it's) called "chinti", "chinti" and "chinma". As for Lisu, (it's called) adoptive father and adoptive mother.
- /j=phò thima nwa milyika ali be; j=phòle?/
 'Liquor.' /gwo sudanya?/
- (liquor this=item you Americans how say=nom? liquor=as-for) 'Liquor.' (there soda=as-for?)
 - 'This stuff liquor, what do you Americans call (it), liquor I mean?' 'Liquor.' 'How about (that stuff) soda there?'
- /kùsw<u>¥amā no məməpha hyankhədwù khyïamā hanphwū thinyī khyïa.</u>
 hanphwū nyinyīthənya hwathwupha hyankhədwùwa./
- (year=renew=nom=item yonder priest=man's house-yard dance= nom=item moon=white one=day dance=nom. moon=white two=lays=when=as-for headman's house-yard=at.)
 - *Celebrating the New Year, the dancing at the priest's yard was on the first day of the full moon. On the second day of the full moon (it was) in the headman's yard.
- /swłma swłhan ngu. amasa kuswł aba nga? kuswł aba thima qáyī, sahan, lyihan, ngwahan, chuhan, swłhan./
- (Seven=units seven=month <u>is</u> now year=renew month is-so? year=renew month one=unit 2nd-month, three=month, four=month, five=month, six=month, seven=month.)
 - *Seven will be the Seventh Month (of the lunar year).

 Now (it's) New Year's Month, isn't it? New Year's

 Month (is) one Two Month, Three Month, Four

 Month, Five Month, Six Month, Seven Month.

Where the verb which would complete a reduction is not specified in a preceding major sentence, it is the copula /ngu/'is, is so, is a case of'.

/lyīswū yflyì thī jūa. zano azù tahù zano./

(Lisu custom this have=nom. child our together child.)

'This is the Lisu custom. The child (is) ours together.'

/mahā bei, āzù máwá. hā bei, āzù zànö./

'If (she's) not good, we must teach (her). If (she's) good, (she is) our child.'

/baba mama thilia: kaliu ngi? ala gyiaha, tahu./

(father mother the-same=partic become=mew-situation is-so? wherever-to go=nom=contrast, together.)

"(You) have become just like a parent, you see? Wherever (you) go, (we will be) together."

/nwū thītéswīwā kyāwa; amyì kyagwūwa. lyīswū yſlyì jūa. nwū amyì./

(you this=side=at dwell=get-to. daughter dwell=place=at Lisu custom have=nom. your daughter.)

'You can live here, in your daughter's home. It's the Lisu custom. (She is) your daughter.'

/ngu/ reductions which contain both subject (or subject topic) and goal are equational sentences.

/ngwa sanoho nwu zano ngu. nwu zano ngwa zano./

(my child=contrast your child is. Your child my child.)

'My child is your child. Your child (is) mine.

```
/suda phalangu ngu./ /suda phalangu. gwothinyi yi bengune./
(soda occidental=language is.) (soda occidental=language.
   that=one=day he say=nom=is-so=emph.)
    '(The word) "soda" is English.' '"Soda" (is)
        English. The other day he said (so).
/thiphya chaba./ (one=coin ten=baht.)
    'One (rupee) coin (is) ten baht.'
/ngwajwi hin siphile./
(I=emph house master=emph.)
    "I (am) the householder (here)."
/yi mama misanya acwaphwa./
(her mother's share=as-for breast=price.)
    'As for her mother's share (of the bride price),
       (it's) the "breast price".
/hamphwu thinyi lwunyi. nyimiha lwunyi chisanyi./
(moon=white one=day dragon=day. today=contrast
        dragon=day 10+3=day.)
```

'The first day of the full moon (was) Dragon Day.

And today (is) Dragon Day, the 13th day. *2

5.2 Statements, Imperatives, and Questions.

While all Lisu sentences are either major or minor, most also fall into one of the categories: statement, imperative, or question.

Major sentences divide according to the negative particle and the intonations which occur with the main verb phrase, i.e.:

^{2.} The List week has 12 days.

	Intonation	Negative particle
Imperative	\ / ! /	{ /tha-/ 'don't'
Statement	\{ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	\[/ma-/ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
Question	} /3/) max-/ 1100

Minor sentences do not occur as imperatives. They are positive only and are divided into statements and questions according to intonation and the presence or absence of a question word, i.e.:

	Question Word	Intonation
Statement Question	lacking facultative	\[\langle \la

Isolative sentences, however, do not readily fit even these two categories; they are minor sentences pure and simple.

5.2.1 Statements:

Statements occur with declarative or abrupt, but not interrogative, intonation. The negative major statement is formed with /ma-/ 'not'3, and all final, secondary, and - with minor sentences also - general particles except /-ma/ 'hortatory' and /-pha?/ 'uncertainty, probability' appear in the head phrase.

With the exception of /-du/ 'strong emphasis', the emphatic particles - secondary and general with major sentences, general only with minor - occur only in statements and are thus facultative markers of the class.

^{3.} Particles mentioned throughout this section are discussed individually in section 5.4.

^{4.} Which also occurs in imperatives.

5.2.1.1 Major statements:

a) With declarative intonation: Positive /ngwã hĩn sãkã jũa./ (my house three=rooms have=nom.) 'My house has three rooms.' /yisya ha maha ngwa nananyia./ (sound good=nom not=good I listen=see=nom.) "I'll listen and see if (your) voice is good or not." /yihā atyi yì, ngwāhā yǐu./ (he=contrast a-little drunk, I=contrast drunk=new-situation.) "He was a little drunk, (and) I got drunk." /ngwanwu amylnya atyia: ngahl./ (our daughter-as-for a-little-partic is=still.) '(She) is still our daughter a little bit.' /aba thima nyima syakyale./ (months one=unit two=units miss=nom=emph.) '(They) will miss (you) for a month or two. /yi ne medu. / (he you=as-for carry-on-back=emph.) "He "ll carry you on his back." Negative /yaphyi thītawā mahā./ (opium this=place=at not=good.)

'The opium here isn't good.'

```
/nwu magyī, yī malāu./
         (you not=go, he not=come=new-situation.)
              "If you don't go, then he won't come."
         /ngwā āmyīa mawā gyīhi./
         (I field=to not=get-to go=yet.)
              "I haven't had a chance to go to the fields yet."
          /nwū phalangu ngwanwu masale; phala thugha./
          (your occidental=language we not=know=emph.
                      occidental writing)
              'Your English we don't know at all, English writing
                        that is.
          /ngwā gwā makwūlū./
          (I sing not=know-how=emph.)
              "I don't know how to sing at all."
          /yí mámāhā yílé madaswa./
          (his mother=contrast he=as-for not=beat=emph.)
              'His mother just doesn't beat him.'
b) With abrupt intonations
     Positive
          /gyīangū!/ (go=nom=is-so=emph!)
              'Of course (I'll) gol'
          /makhwu majupha?/ /jualu!/
          (tobacco not=have=probably?) (have=nom=emph!)
              "I guess there's no tobacco, is there?" 'Sure there is."
```

```
Negative
          /magy11/ (not=go=emph1)
              '(No, I) won't go!
          /maséwil/ (not=know=emph!)
              '(I) haven't the slightest idea.
         5.2.1.2 Minor statements:
a) With declarative intonation:
          /yimyö alī be?/ /lachūdama./
          (name how say=nom?) (person=big.)
              'What's (his) name?' 'Big Man.'
          /jEpha Wiljeams./ /thithljeams./
          (liquor which=kind=partic=item.) (this=one=kind=
                   partic=item.)
              "Which kind of liquor?" 'This kind."
          /hanphwu nyinyithènya hwathwupha hyankhèdwuwa./
          (moon=white two=days=when=as-for headman's yard=at.)
              *On the second day of the full moon (we danced)
                    in the headman's yard.
          /nww yi abamele./ (you her adoptive-father=emph.)
              'You (are) her adoptive father.
          /lyīswūnyā lécanyā thitwū ngwahyāndu./
           (Lisu=as-for Letsa=as-for one=thousand five=hundred=emph.)
               'With the Lisu, say at Lastsa, (a bride price is)
                     1500 (rupees). •5
```

^{5.} About \$750. This is an exaggeration; the highest price actually paid, to my knowledge, was \$500, still no small amount for any hill tribesman.

/ngwājwà hīn sãphàlē./

(I=emph house master=emph.)

• I (am) the housholder (here).•

b) With abrupt intonation:

/ana; yf:/ (dog=emph: he)
'That son-of-a-bitch:'

5.2.2 Imperatives:

Imperatives are regularly major sentences, which, like statements, occur only with declarative or abrupt intonation. The negative, however, is formed with /thâ-/ 'don't', which occurs only in imperative sentences, as does the secondary particle /-mâ/ 'urging.' These two particles are thus facultative markers of the class of imperatives. Of the other particles, only the finals plus secondary particle /-hì/ 'still, yet, further' and general particle /-dù/ 'strong emphasis, abruptness' appear in imperative verb phrases.

a) With declarative intonation:

Positive

/atyia: gè./ (a-little=partic give.)

'Give (him) just a little.'

/ami dūmà./ (quickly drink=urging.)

'Drink up.'

/ngwānwùlé masyàkyā, nwū ámyì atyi chwīlāmà./

(we=as-for not=miss, your daughter a-little
 visit=como=urging.)

'If (you) don't miss us, (at least) come visit
 your daughter a bit.'

^{6.} On overlap between statements and imperatives, see below, section 5.2.4.

```
/kyāhi./ (stay=further.)
             'Stay (a while) longer.'
         /amí gwa kadù./
         (quickly sing put-in=emph.)
             *Hurry up and sing into (the tape recorder). *
    Negative:
         /nwu ylgyi, amaza: thakya./
          (you return=go, long don't=stay.)
              'When you go back (home), don't stay long.'
          /akhá thakyílehu./
          (very-much don't=defer=mmtually.)
              'Don't defer to each other so much.'
          /thawasyoma./ (don't=laugh=urging.)
              'Don't laugh.'
          /thagyThi./ (don*t=go=yet.)
              *Don*t go yst.*
b) With abrupt intonation:
     Positive:
          /khyī!/ (flee=emph!)
              "Get out of here."
          /zanoa:, asya "tu kyai/
          (children=partic, sound quiet=emph remain:)
               *Children, be absolutely quiet!*
```

Negatives

/thay1:/ (don't=do=emph:)

'Cut that out!'

/thaswidul!/ (don't=twist=emph!)

'Don't twist (them) I said!'

5.2.3 Questions:

Questions have declarative or interrogative intonation. The former occurs in restricted circumstances in questions (see below), while the latter appears with questions only, and is thus a facultative marker of the class. The negative major question is formed with /m2-/ 'not'; of the other particles, the final particle /-a/ plus secondary particle /-h1/ 'still, yet, further' and the general particle /-ph2?/ 'uncertainty, probability' occur in the verb phrase head. /-ph2?/ also occurs with a noun phrase in minor questions. Since /-ph2?/ is regularly accompanied by interrogative intonation, it occurs only in questions.

5.2.3.1 Major questions:

a) With interrogative intonation:

Positive:

/amyaja jua?/ (many=kinds have=nom?)

"Are there many kinds?"

/zanoa: ca makwuma ali yia?/

(children=partic relate not=know-how=items how do=nom?)

"What (do you) do about the things the children can't tell (you)?"

```
/ví baba noa. abamé noa ngi?/
         (she father desire=nom, adoptive-father desire=nom is-so?)
              'She wanted a father, an adoptive father, right?'
         /dulapha?/ (exit=come=nom=probably?)
              "I bet it "ll come out."
          /tanwi ngupha?/ (police are=probably?)
              "I think they're police, aren't they?"
    Negative:
          /nwww maja?/ (you not=eat=nom?)
              'Won't you eat (any)?'
          /lachu amyazu jua massa?/
          (persons how-many=individuals have=nom not=know=nom?)
              *Don*t (you) know how many people there are?*
          /makhwu majupha?/ (tobacco not=have=probably?)
              "I guess there's no tobacco, is there?"
          /nì tyiamaha masughai: phá?/
          (spirit pray=nom=item=contrast not=study=actual=yet=probably?)
              *But I bet (you) haven t studied spirit prayer
                    (language) yet, have you?
b) With declarative intonation:
    Major questions have declarative intonation:
       With the allomorphs /ngo/ and /ngwa/ of the copula {nga} 'is,
       is so, is a case of (see 2.5.4.3):
          /mus sayle griengs./
          (you field=to go=nom=question.)
               'Are you going to the fields?'
```

```
/lviswingù būtángo./
  (Lisu=language write=be=nom=question.)
       "Is (it) written in Lisu?"
   /nww nahlngwa./ (you ill=yet=question.)
       'Are you still sick?'
   /atyi mahālīhingwā./
   (a-little not=recover=change-of-state=yet=question.)
       'Hasn't (he) recovered even a little yet?"
When the secondary particle /-hi/ 'still, yet, further' is
the final element of a sentence: 7
   /mww nehla/ (you ill-yeta)
       'Are you still sick?' (cf. the second example above)
   /nwd ylgyfama aba amyama dahe./
   (you return=go=nom=item months how-many=units remain=further.)
       'How many more months are left (before) your
              return (home)2*
```

In an <u>alternative question</u>. This is a construction which forms a yes-or-no question with a positive verb phrase immediately followed by its negative. Declarative intonation regularly occurs with the positive phrase, while the negative phrase acts as a secondary topic (see 4.2.3.2).

^{7.} On the overlapping of this type of question with statements and imperatives, see section 5.2.4. The forms of the particle /-hi/are discussed in section 5.4.1.3.

^{8.} That is, the negative phrase has reduced stress, often being atonic throughout. Like other topic clauses, such phrases sometimes have the final particle /-a/ even though they are negative; cf. section 4.5.3b.

```
/dīlīa: madīlīhì./
(recover=change-of-state=nom. not=recover=change-of-state=
    'Has (he) rocovered yet or not?'
/sane mwu amyla gyl yhla; magyl yhla./
(tomorrow you field=to go return=come=nom. not=go
     return=come)
    'Will you go out to the fields and back tomorrow
            or not?*
/asu atha puhwa khyea dula; madula./
(just-now here speech speak=nom exit=come=nom.
       not=exit=come)
    *Cur speaking here just now, will (it) come out (of the tape recorder) or not?*
/mīlyīka magwā thinyī nyinyī gwadwū jūa; majua./
(America songs one=day two=days sing=knowledge have=nom.
           not=have=nom)
     'In America are there (people who) know enough songs
            to sing for one or two days?
```

5.2.3.2 Minor questions:

The great majority of minor questions contain a question word (section 2.4.2.3.3c), in which case the sentence has either declarative or interrogative intonation. In the rare cases when no question word is present, interrogative intonation is regular.

a) Without question word (interrogative intonation only): /guo endanya?/ (there soda-as-for?) 'How about (that stuff) soda there?'

/alītawa ma pīyīu; mògwa? zamāle mògwa? jiphò dū mògwa?/

(which=place=to teach arrive=go=new-situation? songs girl=young songs? liquor drink songs?)

What point has (he) reached in teaching (you) songs? Courting songs? Drinking songs?

b) With question word (declarative or interrogative intonation):

/ama?/ Who?

/j\pha alīj\ama./ (liquor which=kind=partic=item.)

'What kind of liquor?'

/alītawa. yaphyi alīma./

(which=place=at. opium which=item.)

'Where? Which opium?'

5.2.4 Overlappings

In certain constructions there is no distinction between some contain of these categories. In a positive utterance with declarative intonation, for example, there is no necessary phonological distinction between a statement and an imperative. A sentence such as:

/tha la./ (here come.)

serves equally well as a statement:

'(He) is coming here.'

or as an imperative:

Come here.

In some cases all three categories take the same form, e.g. when the secondary particle /-hi/ 'still, yet, further' is the last element of an utterance. The sentence:

/kyāhi./ (stay=still.) or (stay=further.)

can serve as the question:

'Are (they) stillhere?'

as the answer:

'(Yes, they) are still here.

or as an imperative:

*Stay (a while) longer.

In such cases, only social or linguistic context outside the sentence determines the category to which it belongs.

5.3 Focus.

The focus of an utterance is the element or elements toward which the listener's attention is primarily directed by the speaker. Every utterance in Lisu has at least one focal element; this is most commonly the head of the utterance, but any element can be singled out and made focal through the use of particles, more prominent stress, or a combination of these.

5.3.1 Focus through particles:

The substantive particle /-16/ 'to, for, with respect to' plus a number of emphatic general and secondary particles mark the forms with which they occur as focal in an utterance. A few illustrations are given here; detailed discussion of each particle is given in sections 4.3.2 (/-16/) and 5.4 (secondary and general particles).

/ngwā thùghà yílé gǎa./
(I book he=to give=nom.)

'I gave the book to him.'

^{9.} A common polite formula to a departing guest.

```
/ngwale gwa gwuliu./
    (I=as-for sing finish=change-of-state=new-situation.)
        'As for me. (I've) finished singing.'
    /nwu zano ngwa nethwuahe chua./
    (your child me marry=nom=contrast bad=nom.)
        *For your child to marry me (would) be bad.
    /athī yīghāhinyī, yiswi gwayīa./
    (this do-actual-related-focus, nom-new sing-go-nom.)
        'And when (you) have done that, (you can)
             sing another one.
    /yi ne medh./ (he you=as-for carry-on-back=emph.)
        'He'll carry you on his back.'
    /ābā thìmā nyìmā syakyalē./
    (months one=unit two=units miss=nom=emph.)
        For a month or two (they) will really miss(you)
    /athī yīghā, lawi!/
    (this do=actual, come=nom=emph!)
         'After (I've) done that, of course (I'll) come."
    /ngwa gwa makwillu./
    (I sing not=know-how=emph.)
         "I don't know how to sing at all."
5.3.2 Focus through stress:
     /swiswia: kaa. du nga?/
     (clow-clow-pertio-camph put-in-nom, drink is-so?)
         'Take your time pouring and drinking, won't you?'
```

/azù 'tà'hù ngune./

(we together emph are emph.)

"We're really together."

/ā"li yī manā, kā nā; ngwanwuhe./

(how emph do not can, put in can. we contrast)

"There was nothing we could do but put (some liquor) in (our cups)."

Stress is a stronger focus marker than the particles. When focal particles and emphatic stress occur with different elements of one sentence, the effect of the particle is decreased, and primary focus is marked by the stress. In the last example, for instance, although /-ha/ is a focus marker, the focus of the sentence is on /-uli/ with its exaggerated emphatic stress. The effect of /-ha/ is further weakened by its occurrence under weak stress in a secondary topic.

5.4 Verb and General Particles. 10

The function of general particles in substantive phrases, like that of substantive particles, is limited to phrase relationships within the clause (cf. section 4.3). But the function of general particles in verb phrases and that of verb particles extends to the entire clause of which the verb phrase is head. In some instances this function also extends between clauses. For example the general particle /-hə/ contrastive focus marks a clause with which it occurs both as topic and as focal with respect to the main clause.

^{10.} These are defined in section 2.9, q.v.

5.4.1 Verb particles:

Particles which occur only in verb phrases are of three types: negative, final, and secondary.

5.4.1.1 Negative particles:

A verb is negated with one of two negative particles which precede it: /ma-/ "not" with statements and questions, and /tha-/ "don't with imperatives. In the verb phrase the negative particles are initial or internal, fixed or movable, according to the construction of the particular phrase (see sections 3.2.2 if.).

/ma_/ *not *

/m2-/ has low tone when under normal or emphatic stress, but in all but a tiny number of utterances it is atonic.

/magy1!/ (not=go=emph!)

'(No, I) won't go!

/nwū magyī, yí malāu./

(you not=go, he not=come=new-situation.)

'If you don't go, then he won't come.

/ngwā āmyīa magyīu./

(I field=to not=go=new-situation.)

"I won't go to the fields again."

/makhwi majupha?/ (tobacco not=have=probably?)

"I guess there's no tobacco, is there?"

^{11. /}tha-/ 'don't', on the other hand, does not appear atonic in my data.

```
/nwu phalangu ngwanwu masale; phala thugha./
    (your occidental=language we not=know=emph.
            occidental writing)
        Your English we don't know at all, English
                writing that is.
    /gwa mada./ (sing not=can.)
        '(I) can't sing.'
    /zanoa; ca makwima ali yia?/
    (children relate not=know-how=items how do=nom?)
         What (do you) do about the things the children
                can't tell (you)?
    /lyiswi ghālè yī makhwūlē./
    (Lisu trade do not=can=emph.)
         '(We) Lisu can't do business.'
/tha-/ 'don't'
     /nwu ylgyl. amaza: thakya./
     (you return=go, long-time don't=stay.)
         'When you go back (home), don't stay long.'
     /nww ngwa kanya thagaylas./
     (you I after don't=follow=go=nom.)
         Don't follow me.'; Don't go with me.
     /nwu amyla thagylha./
     (you field=to don't=go=yet.)
         'Don't go to the fields yet.'
     /akho thakyflaha./
     (very-much don't=defer=mutually.)
         Don't defer to each other so much.
```

/thawasyoma./ (don't=laugh=urging.)

'Don't laugh.'

/thayī!/ (don't=do=emph!)

'Cut it out!'; 'Don't fool around.'

5.4.1.2 Final particles:

A final particle marks the end of verbal elements - including verb stem extensions (see 2.7) - in a verb phrase, occurring after these elements but before other particles (see the following sections).

/-a/ *clause nominalization*

Final particle /-a/ occurs in statements, imperatives, and questions as one realization of the morpheme 'clause nominalization', which is also represented with final tone or with a combination of the two. This morpheme is discussed in detail in section 4.5, q.v.

/-u/ 'change of state, new situation'

The particle /-u/ appears only in main verb phrases of statements and imperatives in my data. While it precedes other particles, it does not occur with verb stem extensions, as /-a/ does, but follows verbs directly. /-u/ has no inherent tone but takes that of the preceding verb, whether basic or final, unless it is under emphatic stress (see the last example below).

/sākhù lÿīkhùwā atyī mīdīu./

(three=years four=years=in a-little forget=new-situation.)

'In three or four years (they'll) have forgotten

(you) a little.'

```
/yîhā atyî yì, ngwāhā yǐu./
(he=as-for a-little drunk, I=contrast drunk=new-situation.)
    'He was a little drunk, (and) I got drunk.'
/yaphyi switaha, swihwaliu./
(opium sow=be=contrast, die=change-of-state=new-situation.)12
    'And when the opium is sown, (it) dies.'
/ylgyīghāa, ābā thìmā nylmā kyā, yllāu./
(return=go=actual=nom, months one=unit two=units dwell,
            return=come=new-situation.)
    'After (you) go back (home), stay a month or two
         and come back again.
/yaphyi massa./ (opium not=sou=new-situetion.)
    *(I) won't so opium any more.*
/mala v. nwa malau./13
(not=come=new-situation=emph. you not=come=new-situation.)
    '(You) won't come (back) any more. You won't
            come (back) again.
```

5.4.1.3 Secondary particles:

Secondary particles, individually or in combination, follow verbs and, if present, stem extensions and/or final particles in the verb phrase. Among secondary particles, only /-hl/ 'still, yet, further' occurs in attributive clauses; all occur in main clauses.

^{12.} On the auxiliary verb /-11/ 'change of state' and its connection with /-u/, see section 2.5.5.1, footnote 59.

^{13:} The high tone with the particle in the first sentence is associated with the emphtaic stress; see section 1.6.2.1.

^{14.} However, secondary particle /-g2/ 'mild emphasis' regularly follows the general particle /-15 ~ -n5/ 'mild emphasis'; see the end of this section and the beginning of section 5.4.2.1.

```
/-hi, -hè, -hà/ 'still, yet, further'
```

In my data, the allomorph /-hè/ occurs in questions, negative statements, and imperatives, /-hà/ in negative statements and imperatives. Both occur only in main clauses as the final element in an utterance. The allomorph /-hì/ is far more common than either /-hè/ or /-hà/, occurring in all forms of verb phrase; in questions, negative statements, and imperatives it is in free variation with /-hè/ and /-hà/. It appears in both main and attributive phrases, and with following particles as well as finally.

```
/-hì/:

/kyāhì./ (dwell:_yet.)

(He) is still here.'; 'Stay (a while) longer.'

/ngwā āmyīa magyīhì./

(I field=to not=go=yet.)

'I haven't gone to the fields yet.'

/ngwānwù ámylnyā atyfa: ngāhì./

(our daughter a-little=partic is-still.)

'(She) is still our daughter a little bit.'

/ngwā nāhìngū./ (I ill=nom=still=is-so.)

'I'm still sick.'

/nwū nāhì./ (you ill=nom=still.)

'You are still sick.'; 'Are you still sick?'
```

```
/dīlīa; madīlīhì./
(recover=change-of-state=nom. not=recover=
           change-of-state=yet)
    'Has (he) recovered yet or not?'
/thagyThi./ (don't=go=yet.)
    'Don't go yet.'
/ságə nwu ámyl juahl, ngwa za zwu mada./
(in-future you daughter have=nom=further, my son
        take not=can.)
    'In the future, if you have a daughter, my son
            can't marry her.
/mua, nyisahwa miwahi./
(weed=nom. two=three=times weed=must=further.)
    'As for weeding, you still have to weed two
         or three more times.
/kasa taghahi, yiswathia kasa chwalia./
(corn plant=actual=further, rainy-season=in corn
       rot=change-of-state=nom.)
    'And then when (you) plant corn, it rots in the
             rainv season.
/kyāhingwā./ (dwell=still=question.)
    'Is (he) still here?
/nì tyiamana masugnanipha?/
(spirit pray=nom=item=contrast not=study=actual=yet=
              probably?)
     'But I bet (you) haven't studied spirit prayer (language)
            yet, have you?
```

In rapid speech, /-hì/ is frequently reduced to /-i/, in which case it combines to form a diphthong with the vowel of the preceding syllable, usually with falling pitch. For example, compare with

```
the sentences above:
               /kasa taghai: / 'and after (you) plant corn'
               /masughai:pha?/ 'probably haven't studied yet'
        /-he/:
          /kyāhè./ (dwell=still.)
               'Is (he) still here?'
          /nwu ylgylama aba amyama dahè./
          (you return=go=nom=item months how-many=units remain=further.)
               'How many more months are left (before) your
                    return home?
           /nwd amyla gylwd, magyl yllahd./
           (you field=to go=have. not=go return=come=yet.)
               'Have you been to the fields and back yet?'
           /nww mawagyThè./ (you not=get-to go=yet.)
               'You haven't gone yet.'
           /thagyThe./ (don t=go=yet.)
               'Don't go yet.'
         /-ha/:
           /ngwa amasa magyTha./
           (I now not=go=yet.)
               'As of now I haven't gone yet.
           /amyīa gyīa:hà./ (field=to go=nom=further.)
               'Go on to the fields.'
           /thagyana./ (don't-go-yet.)
               'Don't go yet.'
```

```
/-ma/ 'hortatory, urging'
           The particle /-ma/ occurs with imperatives only. Its
presence softens an imperative to give it a sense of urging rather
than command. It is regularly sentence final.
          /ami dumi. (quickly drink=urging.)
              inink up.
          /ami dua: ma./ (quickly drink=nom=urging.)
              *Drink up. * (politer than the first)
          /nwi yigyighaa, aba thinyima tha yilama./
          (you return=go=actual=nom, months one=two=units
                here return=come=urging.)
              *After you go back (home) come back here in
                    a month or two.
          /ngwanwulé masyakya, nwu amyl atyl chwalama./
          (we=as-for not=miss, your daughter a-little
               visit=come=urging.)
              *Even if (you) don't miss us, (at least) come and
                   visit your daughter a bit.
     /-lu/ 'strong emphasis'
            /-lu/ occurs in statements only, frequently with
emphatic stress and abrupt intonation.
          /kahinyi yi kwici thikhwi thwiali./
          (but=related-focus her skin one=place thick=nom=emph.)
              But even so in some ways she's really thick-skinned.
          /ngwa gwa makwilu./ (I sing not=know-how=emph.)
             "I don't know how to sing at all."
```

```
/ami 'yia. nananyiswialu!/
         (quickly do=nom=emph. listen=want=nom=emph!)
              *Do (it) quickly! (We) want to listen (to the
                     tape recording)!
          /makhwu majupha?/ /jualu!/
          (tobacco not=have=probably?) (have=nom=emph!)
              "I guess there's no tobacco, is there?"
     /-wil/ 'abrupt emphasis'
             /-wis/ occurs only in statements with abrupt
intonation. It is regularly sentence final.
          /Sthi yigha, lawis/
          (this do=actual, come=nom=emph!)
              'When (I've) done that, of course (I'll) come.'
          /masswil/ (not=know=emphl)
              '(I) haven't the slightest idea.'
     /-ga/ 'mild emphasis'
            Secondary particle /-ga/ occurs only in statements
after the emphatic general particle /-le ~ -ne/ 'mild emphasis'
(see 5.4.2.1), where it serves to soften the force of the latter.
/-ga/ is sentence final only.
          /gwama. ngwa phu kwulega./
          (sing=urging. I reply know-how=emph=mild.)
              '(You) sing, and I'll sing in reply.
          /ngwa thi betia, dulega./
          (I this say=keep=nom, enough=emph=mild.)
              'When I've said this, enough (said).'
```

/gyīghēa, chwayī, yllangunega./

(go=actual=nom, visit=go, return=come=nom=is-so=emph=mild.)

'After (you) go back (home) and visited (a while), (you'll) come right back.'

/yi baba yi mama caghaangunega./

(their father their mother relate=to=nom=is-so=emph=mild.)

'Their parents tell (him) of course.'

5.4.2 General particles:

General particles, which occur with both substantives and verbs, are of three types: final, internal, or mixed, according to the position of the phrase with which they occur, i.e.:

	With Substantives	With Verbs
Final	sentence final	in main clauses
Internal	in non-final phrases	in attributive clauses
Mixed	both sentence final and internal	in main clauses

5.4.2.1 Final general particles:

A final general particle occurs as the last element in a minor sentence. With verbs, these particles occur only in the main verb phrase but are sometimes followed by secondary verb particles.

/-le ~ -ne/ 'mild emphasis'

This particle occurs only in statements; it is either sentence final or followed by secondary particle /-ga/ (5.4.1.3). The allomorph /-ne/ follows /ngu/ *is, is a case of * when the latter has a verb phrase subject. Elsewhere, including after

^{15.} Compare section 2.5.4.3. The allomorph /-ne/ thus does not occur with substantives.

```
/ngu/ with substantive subject, /-le/ occurs. After general
particle /-swł/ 'emphasis', /-le/ is regularly atonic.
  /-le/ with verbs:
          /aba thima nyima syakyale./
          (months one=unit two=units miss=nom=emph.)
              'For a month or two (they'll) really miss (you).
          /sākhù lyīkhù pīyīa, mīdīulē. akhá masyakyāulē./
          (three=years four=years reach=go=nom, forget=new-situation=
                 emph. very-much not=miss=new-situation=emph.)
              'After three or four years (they'll) forget (you).
                   (They) won't miss (you) very much any more.
          /nwww phalangu ngwanwu masale./
          (your occidental=language we not=know=emph.)
              Your English we don't know at all.
          /nww kanya gaywale./
          (you after follow=go=nom=emph.)
              '(I'll) go with you.
          /atyl gawala. (a-little give-must-emph.)
              '(I) really must give (you) a little.'
          /azu lyīswu majunya, yingu khyönya, sələ ngī?/
          (we Lisu not=have=as-for, language speak=as-for,
                know=emph is-so?)
               'Although we Lisu don't have (any money), if (we)
                    spoke (your) language, (we'd) know how (to
                    make some), wouldn't we?
          /nule./ (correct=emph.)
               'That's right.'
          /ngule./ (is-so=emph.)
               'That's right.'
```

```
/ngwa thi betia, dulega./
       (I this say=keep=nom, enough=emph=mild.)
           'When I have said this, enough (said).'
       /thīhwā nwū amyl ngūlē./
       (this=time your daughter is=emph.)
            'Now (she) is your daughter.'
       /yflyl beswile./ (custom say=emph=emph.)
            '(It's our) custom, (I) say.'
/-le/ with substantives:
        /nwu yi at at a gwawale./
        (you her adoptive-father-emph. you sing-must-emph.)
            'You're her adoptive father. You must sing.'
        /ngwājwi hīn sīphalē./
        (I=emph house master=emph.)
            "I (am) the householder (here)."
/-ne/:
        /gwothinyī yí bengune./
        (that=one=day he say=nom=is-so=emph.)
            'The other day he said (so).'
```

```
/ngwã temkhyonyā jũangūnē. ne majūlē./
         (my side=as-for have=nom=is-so=emph. you=as-for
                   not=have=emph.)
             'On my side there is indeed, but for you there isn't.'
         /yí baba yí máma caghaangunaga./
         (their father their mother relate=to=nom=is-so=emph=mild.)
              'Their parents tell (him), of course.'
          /gyīghēa, chwāyī, yìlangunega./
          (go=actual=nom, visit=go, return=come=is-so=emph=mild.)
              'After (you) go back (home) and visit (a while),
                   (you'll) come right back.
    /-du/ 'strong emphasis, abruptness'
            /-du/ is the only general particle which occurs with
imperatives as well as with statements. With the former, it forms
abrupt commands.
        With verbs:
          /yí né mědů./
          (he you=as-for carry-on-back=emph.)
              "He'll carry you on his back."
          /ami gwa kadu./
          (quickly sing put-in=emph.)
              'Hurry up and into (the tape recorder).'
          /thaswidul/ (don't=twist=emph!)
              Don't twist (them), I said!
```

```
With substantives:
         /lyīswūnyā lécanyā thitwū ngwahyāndù./
         (Lisu-as-for Lastsa-as-for one=thousand five=hundred=emph.)
             'With the Lisu, (at) Lastsa for instance, (a bride
                   price is) 1500 (rupees).
          /lácł amasa thikyílúma chłbadů; lácłdama./
          (peppers now one=kilo=unit ten=baht=emph. peppers=large)
              'Peppers are now ten baht a kilo, large peppers that is.'
    /-phá?/ 'uncertainty, probability'
             Since /-pha?/ is regularly accompanied by interrogative
intonation, it occurs only in questions. With this particle a
speaker absolves himself of responsibility for the truth or accuracy
of a statement. With both substantives and verbs /-pha?/ occurs
sentence final only.
        With verbs:
          /dulapha?/ (exit=come=nom=probably?)
              *(I think) it *11 probably come out (of the tape
                      recorder).
          /makhwu majupha?/ (tobacco not=have=probably?)
              "I guess there's no tobacco, is there?"
          /ni tylamaha masughai:pha?/
          (spirit pray=nom=item=contrast not=study=actual=yet=
                    probably?)
              "I bet (you) haven't studied spirit prayer (language)
                    yet, have you?
```

```
/tanwu ngupha?/ (police are=probably?)

'They're probably police.'

/mangapha?/ (not=so=probably?)

'That's not so, is it?'

With substantives (rare):

/nyikhu lachupha?/ (nikhom people=probably?)

'It must be Nikhom people.'16

5.4.2.2 Internal general particles:
```

An <u>internal general particle</u> occurs with substantives which are not sentence final, unless as secondary topic, and with verbs in attributive clauses.

/-nya/ 'as for' (general topic)

/-nya/ occurs with substantive or clause topics only.

It marks a topic as being of general nature, i.e. either of broad coverage, as 'we Lisu', or of general condition within a narrow area, as 'I don't smoke' or 'he's Lisu'.

With verbs:

```
/nathwianya chia./ (marry=nom=as-for bad=nom.)

'If (they) marry, (it's) bad.'

/pùhwa khyöanya, dwłyia; 'tinwa?/

(speech speak=nom=as-for, enter=gc=nom? this=emph=time)

'When (we) speak, is (it) going in (the tape recorder) this time?'
```

^{16.} The Thai word /nikhom/ means 'settlement'. Here it refers to the Thai Government's Hill Tribe Development Settlement near the Lisu village.

```
/aba thìma nyìma amí lanya, akhá syàkyale./
 (months one=unit two=units quickly come=as-for,
        very-much miss=nom=emph.)
     'If (you) come back quickly, in a month or two,
            (we'll) still miss (you) very much.
 /nwu malanya, swu né - magala; 'thinwanya./
 (you not=come=as-for, other-people you=as-for -
        not allow come. one=emph=time=as-for)
      'If you don't come (quickly), they won't let
            you come, another time that is.
  /azù lyIswu majunya, yingù khyönya, séle ngī?/
  (we Lisu not=have=as-for, language speak=as-for,
        know=emph is-so?)
      'Although we Lisu don't have (any money), if (we)
          spoke (your) language, (we'd) know how (to
          make some), wouldn't we?
  /ságè nwũ yìgyĩathènyā, pùhwá khyổ kwúa./
  (in-future you return-go-nom-when-as-for, speech
        speak know-how=nom.)
      'In the future when you go back (home), (she'll)
           be able to talk.
With substantives:
  /ngwanwunya lava godwu maju./
  (we=as=for salary give=mechanism not=have.)
      'As for us (Lisu), (we) have no way of getting
           a salary.
  /haphanya mawala nga; thitawa?/
  (Chinese=man=as-for not=get-to=come is-so? this=place=to)
      'Chinese can't come, can they, here I mean?'
```

```
/yaphyinya ngwa ja madau./
         (opium=as-for I eat not=can=new-situation.)
             'With opium I can't sarn a living any more.'
          /lyīswū mògwānyā akhá gwā hian./
          (Lisu songs=as-for very sing difficult=nom.)
              'As for Lisu songs. (they're) very hard to sing.
     /-ha/ 'contrasting, particularizing, or limiting focus'
            /-ha/ occurs internally with both substantive and verb
phrases. In contrast to /-nya/. it particularizes some element of
an utterance, frequently contrasting it with earlier subject matter
(e.g. 'He's going, but I'm not.'). The limiting function of /-h5/
is most clearly shown in combination with a counter and anegative
verb, where the particle means 'not even' (cf. the third example
with substantives below).
        With verbs:
          /zagwū hwayīaha, nwū ata kya, thùgha fwuwahi; ne./
          (husband find-go-nom-contrast. you wherever dwell,
              letter release=must=further. you=to)
              And when (she) gets a husband, wherever you are
                  living, (we) must send a letter to you.
```

(your country return=go=nom=contrast, paper well write carry=come, tomorrow next-day you return=come=nom=contrast, your daughter is.)

/nwu mwi yigyuaha, thùgha cùcu bu tela, sane wanyu

nwū yllāhā. nwū ámyl ngū./

'And when you go back to your country, if (you) keep writing steadily, in the future when you come back, (she'll) still be your daughter.'

```
/nwu zano ngwa nethwushe, chua./
 (your child me marry=nom=contrast, bad=nom.)
     But for your child to marry me (would be) bad.
 /yīhā, akhá yīsá./
 (work=contrast, very-much work=hard.)
     'And as for working (it), (opium) is very hard to work.
 /yí abamé makyaha, maphyole./
 (her adoptive-father not-dwell-contrast, not-become-emph.)
      'If her adoptive father hadn't been (here),
           (she) wouldn't have lived.
  /gháthèha, mwà maba, maha./
  (score=when=contrast, weather not=clear, not=good.)
      'And when (we) score (the opium pods), if the
           weather isn't clear (it's) not good.
With substantives:
  /lyīswunguhā lyīswu thugha masaswaa./
  (Lisu=language=contrast Lisu letters not=know=emph.)
      But as to Lisu, (we) don't know Lisu writing at allo'
  /ābā thìmā nyìmāhē amī lānyā, akhé syakyalē./
  (months one=unit two=units=contrast quickly come=as-for,
         very-much miss=nom=emph.)
      'If (you) come back quickly, in a month or two,
            (we'll) still miss (you) very much.
  /thikhunya ngwa yaphyi sakhaha mawa./
  (one=year=as-for I opium three=tenths-joy=contrast not=get.)
      "In one year I don't even get three joys of opium."
```

```
/ávè nā - ághá nā - áswìhē langu. mahā./
    (pigs ill - chickens ill - whatever-contrast come=nom-is-so.
                  not=good.)
        'The pigs get sick, the chickens get sick, all sorts
             of things happen (here). (It's) not good.
    /thinyī kwama, sawa lyīwahā thī vwúa: - thìkháchia wángū./
    (one=day collect=item, three=people four=people=contrast
          this=much=emph - one=tenth-joy=approximately
          get=nom=is-so.)
         'In one day's collecting (of opium), even three or
           four people get only this much, about one tenth
           of a joy.
/-hf(nyi)/ 'subject matter related to the preceding discussion'
            (marks focus)
  With verbs:
     /syl jahi, syl jama./
     (kill eat=related-focus, kill eat=urging.)
         'As to killing and eating (it), go ahead.'
     /mww yī gwūlīhi, khyīyia./
     (land work finish=change-of-state=related-focus.
            dance=go=nom.)
         And when (I've) finished working, (I'll) go
               dancing. 1
     /athī behinyī, gwā ka./
     (this say=related-focus, sing put-in.)
         'Then, when (you've) said that, sing into
                (the tape recorder).
     /Sthi yighahinyi, yicum gwayia:/
     (this do=actual=related-focus, nom=new sing=go=nom.)
         "And when (you've) done that, sing another one."
```

```
With substantives:
```

```
/alī ngaha, thī gwawaswingu. swuhi gwawu./
(however is=contrast, this sing=must=emph=is-so.
   other-person=related-focus sing=did.)
    But no matter what. (you) must sing now. He sang.
/līkhyāmyīwāhi mangā, magwā./
(forest=land=at=related-focus not=is, not=sing.)
    'If (we) aren't in the forest, (I) won't sing."
       [after a discussion of possible locations]
/nww thikhuhi thihwa wa dea./
(you one=year=related-focus one=time get-to strike=nom.)
    "You only have a chance to take (pictures of opium
        harvesting) once a year. [after a discussion
        of other picture taking]
/nwū amēsahí amyīa gyīango./
(you now=related-focus field=to go=nom=question.)
     'Are you going to the fields now?'
/ngwa alahi magyi./
(I wherever-to-related-focus not-go.)
     '(No.) I'm not going anywhere.'
5.4.2.3 Mixed general particles:
```

A mixed general particle occurs both internally and finally with substantive phrases, but only in main verb phrases. The members of this class are the two emphatic particles /-sw²(a)/ and /-jw²/.

/-swł(a)/ 'emphasis'

This particle occurs in statements only. With verbs it is independent of /-jw\(\frac{1}{2}\), but after a substantive it appears only

in combination with /-jw²/. When /-sw²/ is sentence final, the following /a/ is facultatively present; when there is a following particle, /a/ is regularly absent. As with /-leg²/ and /-neg²/ (see 5.4.1.3), the addition of a second emphatic particle softens rather than strengthens the emphasis.

```
With verbs:
  /sākhù lyīkhù lāswła./
  (three=years four=years come=nom=emph.)
      '(You're) coming back in three or four years?!'
  /athī wasyoaswa./
  (this laugh=nom=emph.)
      'This (guy) will laugh.' (if I sing)
  /lylswungdha. lylswu thugha masaswa./
  (Lisu=language=contrast, Lisu letters not=know=emph.)
      But as to Lisu. (we) don't know Lisu writing at all.
  /yi mamaha yilé madaswa./
  (his mother=contrast he=as-for not=beat=emph.)
      *But his mother just doesn't beat him. *
  /atyí sakhů lyakhů yllaswajwa./
  (a-little three=years four=years return=come=nom=emph=emph.)
      '(You'll) come back in only three or four years.'
```

^{17.} This is not final particle /-a/, which precedes /-swł(a)/ (cf. the second example), but a part of the general particle itself.

```
/wā dūlīnyā, akhá gwā kwúswingu./18
         (get-to drink=change-of-state=as-for, very-much sing
              know-how=nom=emph=is-so.)
             'If (I) get to drink (some liquor), I can
                    really sing.
         /yilyl beswile./ (partic=custom say=emph=emph.)
             '(It's our) custom, (I) say.'
       With substantives:
         /thīmā nwūghaswijwi./
         (this=item your=possession=emph=emph.)
              'This is yours.'
         /kā ngwā khylswłjwł hū phyo kylangune./
         (connective my feces=emph=emph iron become=cause=nom=
                  is-so=emph.)
              'Well, these feces of mine, (I'm) going to turn
                       (them) into iron.
     /-jwl/ 'emphasis'
             Unlike /-swl(a)/. /-jwl/ occurs independently with
substantives, as well as in combinations. However, with verbs it
appears in my data only after secondary particle /-hi/ 'still,
yet, further', and after /-swł/. It occurs in statements only
and is less common than /-swal(a)/.
        With verbs:
          /léca gyī, hīn hwāhljwa, āzù za jūahā, ngā?/
          (Lætsa go, house seek=further=emph, we son
                nave=nom=contrast, is-so?)
              'If we have a son, (he can) go to Lætsa and
                  find a wife, right?
```

^{18.} Like /-le/ (5.4.2.1), the copula /ngu/ 'is, is so' is atonic following /-swł/.

```
/behé mangāhljwł./

(bæhæ not=is=yet=emph.)

'That's not really bæhæ.' [a kind of song]

With substantives:

/ngwājwł hīn sšphâlē./

(I=emph house master=emph.)

'I (am) the householder (here).'

/mègwājwł ālīhē gwāghèchwǐu./

(song=emph however=contrast sing=to=fitting=new-situation.)

'As to a song, anything will do.'
```

5.4.3 Particle combinations:

charts, which include substantive, as well as verb and general particles. In each chart, an item in one column occurs with any item in a following column which is on the same line or lower, unless they are separated by a horizontal line. Items in one column do not co-occur unless one of them is relisted in a following column. With respect to any given particle, items to its right are optional, those to its left are mandatory. For example, in a main verb phrase the particle /-a/ is not necessarily followed by other particles, but /-g²/ is necessarily preceded by /-lē/ or by /-angūnē/.

5.4.3.1 Particles with substantives:

a) Sentence final:

Substantive + 1ē

dù

phá?

u

a

b) Internal:

Substantive + ϕ^{19}

a

wa nya

hā

hi(nyī)

16

kyī

jw≟

รพ±ิjพ±ิ

u

5.4.3.2 Particles with verbs:

a) In attributive clauses:

 $verb + (stem extension) + \emptyset$

ø

4

hi(nyī) nyā

hā

^{19.} In these charts, ∅ indicates lack of a particle, not a zero particle.

b) In main clauses: 20

Without final particle:

^{20.} Allomorphs /ngu/, /ngo/ and /ngwa/ of the copula {nga} 'is, is so' are included in the charts because of their close interrelationship with the particles; cf. section 2.5.4.3.

^{21.} Atonic alternants of /-le/ 'emphasis' and /ngu/ 'is so' following /-sw±/; see sections 5.4.2.1 and 5.4.2.3, footnote 18.

With final particle:

H TIME PAROLOGO				
Verb + (stem extension) + a		ngū	nē	gà
		ngō		
		swł(a)	le ²¹	
			ngu ²¹	
			jw l	
		hì	ngū	
			jwł	
			phá?	
			ngwã	
		mà		
		dù		
		1 ū		
		w11		
υ	ı	18		

phá?

Appendices

Sample Text and Analysis

On the following pages is presented a paragraph from a conversation between the author and his "adoptive brother" /álwűphà/ 'Sixth Son'.

The text is presented first as a unified whole, with the English translation on the facing page (Appendix A). It is then presented a second time, with the parts of each sentence individually identified, as in the body of the dissertation. For most sentences there is also included a detailed grammatical analysis; this analysis is omitted only when a sentence represents a virtual repetition of a structure already illustrated.

Appendix A

The Running Text

Álwűpha:

/màgwā amā mághða? hwāthwúphà mághða ngī? ālītáwā má pīyīu; màgwā? zàmālé màgwā? jāphà dū màgwā? màgwā a'myá; jà jũalē. ū, a'myá; jà jũa. khyöphē kyāgwūwā gyīa, thì jà gwā. āzù cáicàkhwùwā thì jà gwā. āmyīa gyī, thì jà gwā. jāphà dūa, thì jà gwā. chūhān khwū jà gwā thì jà. wúdwà thờ gwā thì jà. "u, amyá jà jũa. thì hwã bēnyīghàa. yísyà há mahā ngwā nānānyía. lyīswū màgwānyā akhá gwā híam. a'myá; jà jũa. bēhé bényā, yísyà nyốnyốa: kã. zàmālé mūamā thì jà gwā, zàmālé mamī thì jà gwāwá. zàmālé mūanyā, yísyà akhá hámā gwāwálē. chūmù mūanyā, yísyà mahā. akhá nö madìmā mūanyā, yísyà mahā. akhá nö

Appendix A

The Translation

Alwupha:

What point has his teaching reached, with songs that is? Courting songs? Drinking songs? There are lots of different kinds of songs; oh, lots of kinds. If we go to a friend's willage, we sing one kind. In our own village we sing one kind. When we go to the fields, we sing one kind. When we drink liquor we sing one kind. Singing to call a personal spirit to eat is one kind. Singing at a wedding is one kind. Oh, there are many kinds. Try singing once. I'll listen and see if your voice is good or not. As for Lisu songs, they're very hard to sing. There are lots of kinds. If you're speaking of bashae, the sound is soft. One who sees a young girl must sing one kind; you must sing another way when you don't see a girl. When you see a young girl, you must sing with your best voice. If you see an old person, you can sing with a poor voice. If you see someone you don't really desire, you sing to her with a bad voice.

Appendix B

The Analysis

There follows a detailed analysis of the text of Appendix A.

Each sentence is first given with a morpheme-by-morpheme translation;

the morphemes are then identified as to form class and the structure

of the sentence is built up through its phrases and clauses. At

each stage of the structural analysis, reference is made to the

section or sections in the body of the dissertation where the form

or structure in question is discussed. When a sentence represents

a virtual repetition of a structural type already illustrated, the

translation is given with a reference to the earlier illustration.

```
1) Who's teaching you songs?
   (song[s]
                                     ?)
              who teach =to =nom
                                     ?/
   /mògwā amā
                      má -ghð -2
                            (c)
      (a)
               (b)
                                      (d)
a) goal; 4.2.1.3(b). complex topic; 4.2.3.2.1(d)
       /magwa/ 'song(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
b) subject; 4.2.1.1
        /ama/ 'who?'; question noun; 2.4.2.3.3c
c) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /ma/ 'teach'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
        /-gha/ 'to, for, for the benifit of'; bound complement; 2.5.1.3
            /magha/ 'teach to'; complementary verb compound; 2.5.1.3
        /°/ low rising tone; l.6. final tone; l.6.2.2
        /-a/ final particle; 5.4.1.2
            /=a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5
           /maghaa/ 'to teach to'
Interrogative clause; 4.2.3.3
d) /?/ interrogative intonation; 1.11.3
Major question; 5.1.1(a) and 5.2.3(1)
```

```
2) 'The headman's teaching you, right?'
                   teach=to=nom is-so?)
    (leader= =man
    /hwathwu--pha
                       má-ghð-a
                                    ngī?/
                          (b)
                                    (c)
          (a)
    a) subject; 4.2.1.1
            /hwathwu-/ 'leader'; bound noun, apparently derived
                           from /hwa/ 'win', and thus complex
                            (2.4.2.3), but /-thwu/ is unexplained
            /-pha/ 'man'; bound simple noun; 2.6.2
                /hwathwipha/ 'headman'; compound noun; 2.4.2.2.1
    b) worb; 4.2.1.5
            /maghaa/ 'to teach to'; see sentence #1, (c)
    Subject; 4.4.2.1
        /hwathwipha maghaa/ 'the headman teaches'; simple basic
                            clause; 4.1 and 4.2
c) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /ngī?/ 'isn't it so?'; allomorph of the copula {ngā}
                            (2.5.4.3), regularly with /?/
                            interrogative intonation (1.11.3)
```

Major question; $5 \cdot 1 \cdot 1(b)$ and $5 \cdot 2 \cdot 3(1)$

```
3) 'What point has his teaching reached, with songs that is?'
                                                   ? song[s])
    (which =place =to teach arrive =go =new
        -tá -wā má pī -yī -u;
                                                  màgwā?/
                                                      (c)(d)
a) wa-phrase (place); 4.2.1.2(b)
       /ali/ 'how?, which?'; question noun; 2.4.2.3.3c
       /-ta/ 'place'; classifier derived from the verb /ta/
                       be at (a place); 2.4.1.2(3)
            /alītá-/ 'which place?'; interrogative counter; 2.6.1;
                       this is a bound form which appears only in
                       combination with /-wa/
        /-wa/ 'to, at'; substantive particle; 4.3(1)
           /alitawa/ 'where?'; simple substantive phrase; 3.1.1
b) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /ma/ 'teach'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
        /pī/ 'reach, arrive'; intransitive verb; 2.5.1.2
        /-yī/ 'motion away from, go'; bound allomorph of /gyī/ 'go';
                       intransitive verb; 2.5.1.2
            /plyi/ 'arrive going'; complementary verb compound; 2.5.1.3
            /ma plyl/ 'teach up to (a point)'; complementary verb
                       phrase; 3.2.4
        /~/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5. mid rising tone; 1.6.
                       final tono; 1.6.2.2
        /-u/ 'new situation'; final particle; 5.4.1.2
            /ma piyiu/ 'to have reached a point in teaching'
```

c) goal; 4.2.1.3(b), complex secondary topic; 4.2.3.2(ld)

/magwa/ 'song(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)

Simple topic clause; 4.2.3.2

- d) /?/ interrogative intonation; 1.11.3

 occurs with the verb phrase; 4.2.3.2, footnote 19

 Major question; 5.1.1(a) and 5.2.3(1)
- 4) *Courting songs?*

 (woman =young song[s] ?)

 /zama -le magwa ?/

 (a) (b) (c)
- a) /zama/ 'woman, wife'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)

 /lé/ 'young'; adjective; 2.5.2

 /zamalé/ 'girl'; complex noun; 2.4.2.3(1.2)
- b) /magwa/ 'song(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)

 /zamale magwa/ 'courting song(s)'; attribute substantive

 phrase; 3.1.2(1)
- c) /?/ interrogative intonation; l.ll.3
 Minor question; 5.l.2 and 5.2.3.2(a)

```
5) 'Drinking songs?'
   (liquor drink song[s] ?)
   /j¥phè dū mègwã
                              3/
        (a)
                      (b) (c)
a) Goal; 4.2.1.3
       /j\ph\adapha/ 'liquor'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
   verb; 4.2.1.5
       /du/ 'drink'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
   /j\piph\dalla dal/ 'drink liquor'; simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
b) m = \sqrt{s} 'song(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
       /j=ph3 du magwa/ 'drinking song(s)'; attribute substantive
                        phrase; 3.1.2(1)
c) /?/ interrogative intonation; 1.11.3
Minor question; 5.1.2 and 5.2.3.2(a)
6) 'There are lots of different kinds of songs.'
    (song[s] nom= emph= many =kind[s] have =nom =emph
                                                           •)
    / mògwā a- ' myá: -j²
                                    <u>jữ -a -15</u>
                  (a)
                                               (b)
                                                          (c)
```

```
a) goal; 4.2.1.3
        /magwa/ 'song(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
        /a-/ 'nominalization'; proclitic particle; 2.4.2.3.3(b)
        /mya/ 'much, many'; adjective; 2.5.2
            /amya/ 'much, many'; complex noun; 2.4.2.3.3(b); with
                    shift to / / high tone in the nominalized form
        -j\frac{1}{2} 'kind(s)'; classifier; 2.4.1.2(1)
            /amyaji/ 'many kinds'; counter; 2.4.1 and 2.6.1
        /*/ emphatic stress; 1.10.3
        /1/ falling pitch; 1.7. association with emphatic stress; 1.7
            /a'mya', j}/ 'many kinds'
            /magwa a'mya: jl/ 'many kinds of songs'; counter phrase;
                              3.1.3.2(d)
b) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /j\overline{u}/ 'have'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
        /~/ mid rising tone; 1.6. final tone; 1.6.2.2
         /-a/ final particle: 5.4.1.2
             /~a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5
         /-13/ 'mild amphasis'; final general particle; 5.4.2(1)
             /juale/ 'to have indeed'; simple verb phrase; 3.2(1)
Simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
c) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(1)
Major statement; 5.1.1(a) and 5.2.1(1)
```

```
7) 'Oh, there are lots of kinds.'
   (oh, many=emph=kinds have=nom.)
   /ū .
         a'mya:j≟
                     jūa ?/
Isolative; 4.2.3.1(a)
   /u/ 'oh'; exclamation; 2.3
Otherwise, see sentence #6
8) 'If we go to a friend's village, we sing one kind.'
   (friend[s] dwell =place =to go =nom, one= =kind sing .)
   /khyophe kya -gwu -wa gyl -a , thì- -jà gwa ./
                                           (c) (d)
               (a)
                                 (b)
   a) wa-phrase (place); 4.2.1.2(b)
           subject: 4.2.1.1
```

/khyöphe kyagwuwa/ 'to a friend's village'

```
b) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /gyī/ 'go'; intransitive verb; 2.5.1.2
           /-a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5. final particle; 5.4.1.2
                /gyīa/ 'to go'; simple verb phrase; 3.2(1)
   Primary topic; 4.4.2.3(a)
       /khyophe kyagwuwa gyla,/ 'going to a friend's village';
                                basic clause; 4.1
c) goal; 4.2.1.3
        /thi-/ 'one'; numeral; 2.4.1.1
       -j\frac{1}{2} 'kind(s)'; classifier; 2.4.1.2(1)
            /thljl/ 'one kind'; counter; 2.4.1
d) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
Complex clause: 4.4.2(3)
e) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(l)
Major statement; 5.1.1(b) and 5.2.1(1)
```

```
9) 'In our own village we sing one kind.'
                                         sing •)
   (our village =interior =at one=kind
    /azù cáicɨ -khwù -wā thìjɨ gwā ./
               (a)
                                 (b) (c) (d)
a) wa-phrase (place); 4.2.1.2(b)
       /azu/ 'we'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
       /caic = / 'village' (ditto)
           /azù caic / 'our village'; attribute substantive phrase;
                                      3.1.2(1)
        /-khwu/ 'interior'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
           /azù caicikhwù/ 'the interior of our village';
                           attribute substantive phrase; 3.1.2.2
       /-wa/ 'to, at'; substantive particle; 4.3(1)
           /azù caicikhwùwa/ 'in our village'
b) goal; 4.2.1.3
        /thiji/ 'one kind'; see sentence #8(c)
c) verb: 4.2.1.5
        /gwa/ 'sing'; see sentence #8(d)
Simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
d) /./ declarative intonation; 1.11.1(1)
Major statement; 5.1.1(a) and 5.2.1(1)
```

```
10) 'When we go to the fields, we sing one kind.'

(field =to go, one=kind sing.)

/amyī -wā gyī, thìjł gwā./

/amyī/ 'field(s)'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)

Otherwise, see sentence #8
```

ll) 'When we drink liquor, we sing one kind.'

(liquor drink=nom, one=kind sing.)

/j=phe du -2 , thlj= gwa./

See sentences #5 and #6

12) 'Singing to call a personal spirit to eat is one kind.'

(personal-spirit call eat sing one=kind .)

/ chūhān khwū jà gwā thìjì ./

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)

a) goal; 4.2.1.3

'chuhan' 'personal spirit'; noun; /chu-/ is possibly

from /lachu/ 'person', /-han/ possibly the

poetic form for 'moon' - in which case the

noun is compound (2.4.2.2.1) - but this is

speculative

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

```
b) verb; 4.2.1.5
               /khwu/ 'call'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
              /jà/ 'eat';
                                   (ditto)
                   /khwū jà/ 'call to eat'; complementary verb
                              phrase; 3.2.4(1)
       goal: 4.4.2.2
           /chuhan khwu ja/ 'call a spirit to eat'; simple basic
                            clause; 4.1 and 4.2
   c) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(2)
   Subject; 4.4.2.1
       /chuhān khwu jà gwā/ 'sing to call a spirit to eat';
                             complex clause; 4.4(2.2)
d) goal; 4.2.1.3(c)
       /thljl/ 'one kind'; see sentence #8
e) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(1)
Equational sentence: 5.1.2.2
```

```
13) 'Singing at a wedding is one kind.'
    (head
             bow
                    sing one=kind.)
    /widwl tho gwa thijl ./
      (a)
           (b) (c)
       a) goal; 4.2.1.3(b)
               /widwl/ 'head'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
       b) verb; 4.2.1.5
               /tho/ 'bow'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
       Goal; 4.4.2.2
           /widwi tho/ 'get married' (from the bowing down before
                       the spirits during the ceremony); simple
                       basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
   c) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /gwa/ 'sing'
Etc., as in sentence #12
14) Oh, there are lots of kinds.
     (exaggerated-emph= oh, many=kinds have=nom.)
                       u, amyaji jua ./
/*/ exaggerated emphatic stress; 1.10.4
Otherwise, see sentence #6
```

```
15) 'Try singing once.'
     (one= =time say =try =to =nom .)
     /thì- -hwã bē -nyī -ghè -a
         (a)
                           (b)
                                     (c)
a) Adverb: 4.2.1.4(a)
        /thi-/ 'one'; numeral; 2.4.1.1
        /-hwa/ 'time'; classifier; 2.4.1.2(1)
            /thihwa/ 'one time; counter; 2.4.1
b) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /be/ 'say, tell'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(2)
        /-nyī/ 'try, try out, test'; auxiliary verb; 2.5.5
            /benyi/ 'try saying'; inseparable auxiliary compound;
                                   2.5.5.1
        /-gha/ 'to, for, for the benefit of'; bound complement; 2.5.1.3
            /be nyighe/ 'try saying to (someone)'; complementary
                         verb compound; 2.5.1.3
        /-a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5. final particle; 5.4.1.2
Simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
c) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(1)
Imperative; 5 \cdot 1 \cdot 1(a) and 5 \cdot 2(2)
```

```
16) "I'll listen and see if your voice is good or not."
    (partic= =sound good=nom not= good I listen =test =nom
                                                                 •)
    / yi- -sya
                       há ma- hā ngwā nānā -nyí -a
                                                                 •/
                       (b) (c) (d)
                                                   (e)
                                                                (f)
   a) subject; 4.2.1.1
           /yf-/ 'particularization'; proclitic particle; 2.4.2.3.3(a)
           /-sya/ 'sound voice'; bound simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
               /yisya/ 'sound voice'; complex noun; 2.4.2.3.3a
   b) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /ha/ 'good'; adjective; 2.5.2
           /°/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5. final tone; 1.6.2.2.
                        high level tone; 1.6
               /ha/ 'to be good'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1
    c) secondary topic; 4.4.2.3 and 5.2.3.1b
           /ma-/ atonic form of /ma-/ 'not'; negative particle;
                                             5.4.1.1
            /ha/ 'good'; adjective; 2.5.2
               /maha/ 'not good'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1
    Goal; 4.4.2.2
        /yisya ha maha/ 'is the sound good or not?'; alternative
                        question; 5.2.3.1b
d) subject; 4.2.1.1
```

/ngwa/ 'I'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)

```
e) verb; 4.2.1.5

/nana/ 'listen'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(2)

/-nyi/ 'try, try out, test'; auxiliary verb; 2.5.5

/nananyi/ 'listen and see'; inseparable auxiliary

compound; 2.5.5.1

/'/ high tone; 1.6. final tone; 1.6.2.2

/-a/ final particle; 5.4.1.2

/-a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5

/nananyia/ 'to listen and see'; simple verb phrase;

3.2.1

Complex clause; 4.2(2.2)

f) /-/ declarative intonation; 1.11.1(1)

Major statement; 5.1.1(b) and 5.2(1.1a)
```

```
17) 'As for Lisu songs, they're very hard to sing.'
                                         sing difficult =nom
               song[s] =as-for
     (Lisu
                                very
     /lyīswū
               magwa -nya
                                  akhá
                                          gwa
                                                 hin
                                                                •/
               (a)
                                   (b)
                                                  (c)
                                                               (d)
a) goal; 4.2.1.3. complex primary topic; 4.2.3.2(ld)
        /lyīswu/ 'Lisu'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
        /magwa/ 'song(s)' (ditto)
            /lyīswū magwā/ 'Lisu song(s)'; attribute substantive
                            phrase; 3.1.2(1)
        /-nya/ 'as for', topic marker; internal general particle;
                                        5.4.2.2
            /lyīswū magwānyā/ 'as for Lisu songs'
b) adverb; 4.2.1.4
        /akhé/ 'very, very much'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
c) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
        /hīn/ 'ngly; difficult'; adjective; 2.5.2
            /gwa hin/ 'hard to sing'; attribute verb phrase; 3.2.2(1)
        /// high level tone; l.6. final tone; l.6.2.2
        /-a/ final particle; 5.4.1.2
            /-a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5
            /gwa hian/ 'to be hard to sing'; simple verb phrase;
                                              3.2.1
Topic clause; 4.2.3.2(b)
d) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(l)
Major statement; 5 \cdot 1 \cdot 1(a) and 5 \cdot 2 \cdot 1(1a)
```

```
18) 'There are many kinds.'
    (many=emph=kinds have=nom.)
    / a'mya: j\u00e4 j\u00fca ./
See sentence #6
19) 'If you're speaking of bæhæ, the sound is soft.'
     (bæhæ say=nom =as-for, sound short=short =partic is-like .)
             bé -nyā , yísyà nyố-nyố -a:
                                                               •/
     /behé
                                                       kã
      (a)
                 (b) (c)
                                        (d)
                                                  (e)
                                                              (f)
    a) goal; 4.2.1.3
           /behé/ (a kind of song); simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
    b) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /be/ 'say, tell'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(2)
           /// 'clause nominalization'; 4.5. high level tone; 1.6.
```

final tone; 1.6.2.2

/be/ 'to say'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1

/behé be/ 'saying bæhæ'; simple basic clause;

4.1 and 4.2

/-nya/ 'as for', topic marker; internal general particle; 5.4.2.2 Primary topic; 4.4(2.3a)

/behé bénya/ 'if (one is) speaking of bæhæ'

c) subject; 4.2.1.1

/yisya/ 'sound'; see sentence #16(a)

```
d) goal; 4.2.1.3(c)

/nyő/ 'short; soft (of sound)'; adjective; 2.5.2

/nyőnyő/ 'shortness; softness'; compound noun derived

from a verb by reduplication; 2.4.2.2.3 and

2.10.2

/-a/ 'particularization'; substantive particle; 4.3(5)

/:/ falling pitch; 1.7. association with substantive

particle /-a/; 4.3.5

/nyőnyőa;/ 'softness'; simple substantive phrase; 3.1.1

e) verb; 4.2.1.5

/kã/ 'is like'; copular verb; 2.5.4.1

Complex clause; 4.2(2.3a)

f) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.1(1)

Major statement; 5.1.1(b) and 5.2.1.1(a)
```

20) *One who sees a young girl must sing one kind; you sing another kind when you don't see a girl.

 (woman=young see =nom =unit one=kind sing, woman=young

 / zàmālé mū -z -mā thìjà gwā, zàmālé

 (a)
 (b)
 (c)
 (d)

 not= see one=kind sing =must .)

 ma- mū thìjà gwā -wá ./
 ./

 (e)
 (f)
 (g)
 (h)
 (i)

```
a) subject; 4.2.1.1
        goal; 4.2.1.3
            /zamalé/ 'girl': see sentence #4(a)
        verb; 4.2.1.5
            /mi/ 'see'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
            /~/ mid rising tone; 1.6. final tone; 1.6.2.2
            /-a/ final particle; 5.4.1.2
                /=a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5
                /mua/ to see'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1
        simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
            /zamalé mua/ 'seeing a girl'
        /-ma/ 'unit, item'; bound simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
            /zamalé muama/ 'one who sees a girl'; attribute
                            substantive phrase; 3.1.2(1)
b) goal; 4.2.1.3
        /thij1/ 'one kind'; see sentence #8(c)
c) verb: 4.2.1.5
        gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
Basic clause; 4.1
      d) goal: 4.2.1.3
              /zamalé/ 'girl'; see sentence #4(a)
      e) verb; 4.2.1.5
              /ma-/ 'not'; see sentence #16(c)
              /m\overline{u}/ 'see'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
                  /mamu/ 'not see'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1
```

```
Simple primary topic; 4.4.2(3a)
        /zamalé mamu/ 'not seeing a girl'; simple basic clause;
                                           4.1 and 4.2
f) goal; 4.2.1.3
        /thlj1/ 'one kind'; see sentence #8(c)
g) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
Complex clause; 4.4(2.3a)
h) /-wa/ 'must; get to'; verb stem extension; 2.7(2)
        /gwawa/ 'must sing, can sing'; simple verb phrase; 3.2.1
i) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(l)
Compound major statement; 5.1.1(2) and 5.2.1(1a)
21)
     'When you see a young girl, you must sing with your best voice.'
     (woman=young see=nom=as-for, voice very good=nom =item
     / zamālé mūanyā
                                , yísy<u>à</u> akhá
                                                  há
                                                         _m<u>ā</u>
                (a)
                                              (b)
          sing =must =emph .)
           gwā -wá -lē ./
                 (c)
                             (d)
a) Simple primary topic; 4.4.2(3a)
        /zamelé mus/ 'Seeing a girl'; see sentence #20(a)
        /-nya/ 'as for', topic marker; internal general particle; 5.4.2.2
```

/zaməle muanya/ 'as for seeing a girl'

```
b) adverb; 4.2.1.4
        /yisya/ 'sound, voice'; see sentence #16(a)
        adverb; 4.2.1.4
            /akhá/ 'very, very much'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
        verb; 4.2.1.5
            /ha/ 'to be good'; see sentence #16(b)
        simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
            /akhá há/ 'to be very good'
        /-ma/ 'unit, item'; bound simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
            /akhá háma/ 'one which is very good'; attribute
                         substantive phrase; 3.1.2(1)
            /yisyà akhá hámā/ 'voice, a very good one'; appositive
                               phrase; 3.1.3.2(c) and 4.4.1
c) verb; 4.2.1.5
        /gwawa/ 'must sing'; see sentence #20(h)
        /-le/ 'mild emphasis'; final general particle; 5.4.2.1
            /gwawale/ 'must really sing'
Complex clause; 4.4.1 and 4.4.2(3a)
d) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(l)
Major statement; 5.1.1(a) and 5.2.1(la)
```

22) 'If you see an old person, your voice need not be good.' (person= old see=nom=as-for, voice not=good , yisy<u>à</u> / chū- mù mūanyā (a) (b) (c) a) Simple primary topic; 4.4.2(3a) /chu-/ 'person'; bound allomorph of /lachu/ 'person'; simple noun; 2.4.2(1)/mi/ 'old (of animates)'; adjective; 2.5.2 /chumi/ 'old person'; complex noun; 2.4.2.3(1.2a) /chumi muanya/ 'as for seeing an old person'; see sentence #21(a) b) Main clause; 5.1.1 /yisya maha/ 'voice is not good'; see sentence #16(a, c) Complex clause; 4.2(2.3a) c) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(1) Major statement; $5 \cdot 1 \cdot 1(a)$ and $5 \cdot 2 \cdot 1(1a)$ 23) 'If you see someone you don't really desire, you sing to her with a bad voice. (very-much desire not= request =unit see=nom=as-for, nö / akhá ma- dì -mā muanya (a) voice notegoodaitem sing ato anomais-so .) yisy<u>à</u> mahāmā $gw\overline{a} = gh\overline{\partial} - a - ng\overline{u}$./ (b) (c) (d) (e)

```
a) simple primary topic; 4.2(2.3a)
       goal; 4.2.1.3
            adverb: 4.2.1.4
                /akhá/ 'very, very much'; simple ncun; 2.4.2(1)
            verb; 4.2.1.5
                /no/ 'desire'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
                /dl/ 'request'; transitive verb; (same)
                    /no di/ 'want' (a girl as one's wife);
                             coordinate verb phrase; 3.2.3
                /ma-/ 'not'; see sentence #16(c)
                    /no madi/ 'not want'; with movable negative;
                                           3.2.3.la
    simple basic clause; 4.1 and 4.2
        /akhá nö madì/ 'not want very much'
    /-ma/ 'unit, item'; bound simple noun; 2.4.2(1)
        /akhá no madima/ 'one not really wanted'; attribute
                          substantive phrase; 3.1.2(1)
    /akhá no madima muanya/ 'as for seeing one (you) don't
                             really want; see sentence #21(a)
b) adverb; 4.2.1.4
    /yisya mahama/ 'a voice which isn't good'; see sentence #21(b)
```

```
c) verb; 4.2.1.5
           /gwa/ 'sing'; transitive verb; 2.5.1.1(1)
           /-gha/ 'to, for, for the benefit of'; bound complement;
                                                  2.5.1.3
               /gwagha/ 'sing to, sing for'; complementary verb
                         compound; 2.5.1.3
           /*/ low rising tone; 1.6. final tone; 1.6.2.2
           /-a/ final particle; 5.4.1.2
               /=a/ 'clause nominalization'; 4.5
               /gwaghaa/ 'to sing to, sing for'
   Subject: 4.4.2.1
       /akhá nö madimā mūnyā, yísya mahāmā gwaghða/
              'as for seeing one (you) don't really want, (you)
              sing to (her) with a bad voice; complex clause;
              4.4.2.3a and 4.4.1
d) verb; 4.2.1.5
       /ngii/ 'is, is so, is a case of'; allomorph of the copula
                    {nga}; 2.5.4.3
Complex clause; 4.4.2.1
e) /./ declarative intonation; l.ll.l(1)
Major statement; 5.1.1(b) and 5.2.1(la)
```

Bibliography

The following bibliography is divided into two sections, the first with reference to works containing direct linguistic evidence, the second to works with ethnographic or cultural descriptions only. In the linguistiv section, I have included every reference I have found which has anything more than the most glancing mention of Lisu. Works of particular interest are marked with an asterisk (*); these have been disussed separately in the Introduction. Practically all the other linguistic items are word lists, which are discussed as a group in the Introduction. In the second section, I have given a selection of a few of the longer or more carefully documented descriptions. Many other short references can be found through the bibliographies in the listed works. Works in the linguistic section which also contain worthwhile cultural or ethnographic descriptions are relisted in abbreviated form in the second section, with a reference back to the first.

- Part I: Linguistic References:
- Anderson, John. 1871. A report on the expedition to Western Yunnan via Bhamô. Calcutta. Vocab of Leesaw, 401-9.
- of Leesaw, 464-73.
- Anthropological Linguistics. 1965. Vol 7, No. 6, 37-58.

 Language family classification and a two page phonemic summary (56-8).
- Bernatzik, Hugo Adolf. 1947. Akha and Meau. Innsbruck. Lisu relationship terms on folding table facing page 34, Vol. 1.
- Biet, Alexandre. 1877. Vocabulaire Lyssou recueilli à Tsékou.

 Mémoires de la Société Indochinoise 1.21-41.
- *Burling, Robbins. 1967. Proto Lolo-Burmese. Bloomington.

 And IJAL vol. 33, no. 1, part II. Comparative study.
- Clarke, Samuel R. 1911. Among the tribes in south-west China.
 London. Vocab, 314-5.
- Davies, Henry Rudolph. Yün-nan, the link between India and the Yang-tze. Cambridge. Lisu vocab in the pocket of vol 2.
- Desgodins, Auguste. 1873. Mots principaux des langues de certaines tribus qui habitent les bords du Lan-tsang-kiang, du Loutze-kiang et Irrawaddy. Bulletin de la Société de Géographie.

 Ser. 6, vol. 5, 144-50. Vocab.
- *Fraser, J. O. 1922. Handbook of the Lisu (Yawyin) language.

 Rangoon. Complete grammar and extensive vocab.

- *Hope, Edward R. In press. Lisu. Phonemes and orthography in eight marginal languages of Thailand, ed. by William A. Smalley.

 Phonology and proposed Thai transcription.
 - Johnston, R(eginald) F(leming). 1908. Freom Peking to Mandalay.

 A journey from north China to Burma ... London. Vocab of
 Yung-ning Lisu, 392-6.
- *Jui I-fu. 1948. On the sounds of the Lisu language with remarks on the Lisu script. Li-shih yü-yen yen-chiu so chi-k'an [Academia Sinica] 17.303-26. Phonology and word list of 'Hwa' Lisu in Yünnan.
- Lietard, Alfred. 1909. Notes sur les dialectes le-lo.
 BEFEO 9.549-72. Vocab, 566-7.
- Anthropos 7.677-705. Vocab, 692-702
- Linguistic Survey of India. 1928. Ed. by Sir George A. Grierson.

 Calcutta. Vol I, part 2. Lisu vocab from Fraser; Lishaw vocab.
- "Li-su yü yü-fa kang-yao [Outline of Lisu Grammar]. 1959.

 Chung-kuo k'o-hsüeh yüan [Chinese Academy of Sciences].

 Peking. Complete grammar of Yünnanese Lisu.
 - Madrolle, Claudius. 1908. Quelques peuplades lo-lo. T'oung Pao, Ser. 2, vol. 9, 529-76. Vocab. 562-5.
 - Nishida, Tatsuo. 1964. Biruma-go to Roro syogo: sono seityoo taikei no hikaku kenkyuu. [Burmese and the various Lolo languages: a comparative study of their tone systems.]

 Toonan Adia Kenkyuu [Southeast Asia Studies] 4.13-28.

- *Nishida, Tatsuo. 1967. Risu-go no kenkyuu: Tai-kaku Taaku-ken ni okeru Risu zoku no kotoba no yobi-hookoku [A preliminary study of the Lisu language in Tak Province, Thailand].

 Toonan Adia Kenkyuu [Southeast Asia Studies] Vol. 5, 276-307 Description of the phonology.
- study of the Lisu language (Tak dialect)]. Toonan Adia Kenkyuu [Southeast Asia Studies] I: Vol 6, no. 1-2-35; II: Vol 7, no. 2.261-89. These two articles came to my attention so late that I have not had a chance to evaluate them.
- d'Orléans, Henri. 1898. Du Tonkin aux Indes ... Paris. Vocabs #19, 22.
- *Rose, Archibald, and J. Coggin Brown. 1910. Lisu (Yawyin) tribes of the Burma-China frontier. Memoirs of the Asiatic Society of Bengal 3.249-76. Black-White-Flowery comparative vocab.
- Scott, J(ames) George. 1900. Gazetteer of Upper Burma and the Shan States. Rangoon. Part 1, vol. 1 Lisu vocab, 671-81; Lishaw vocab, 702-4.
- Shafer, Robert. 1955. Classification of the Sino-Tibetan languages. Word 11.94-111.
- Webb, C. Morgan. 1911. Census of India. Vol II, Burma; part 1,

 Report. Kinship terms: Lishaw XLVII-III, XLIX, LXII; Lisaw LXIII.
- Part 2: Ethnographic and Cultural References:
 Anderson, John. 1871. (see section 1) The first reference to the Lisu.

- Embree, John F., and William L. Thomas, Jr., eds. 1950. Ethnic groups of northern Southeast Asia. New Haven. Short ethnographic sketches for Lisu in Burma (35-7) and Thailand (83-4).
- Fraser, J. O. 1922. (see section 1). Description of Lisu customs in the introduction.
- Hanks, Lucien M., and others. 1964. A report on the tribal peoples in Chiengrai Province north of the Mae Kok River. Bangkok.

 Lisu population figures, 5-6.
- Lebar, Frank M., Gerald C. Hickey, and John K. Musgrave. 1964.

 Ethnic groups of mainland Southeast Asia. New Haven.

 General ethnic outline, 27-30.
- Metford, Beatrix. 1935. Where China meets Burma: Life and travel in the Burma-China borderlands. London and Glasgow. Lengthy description of Lisu in the frontier area, 135-43.
- Report on the socio-economic survey of hill tribes in northern

 Thailand. 1966. Department of Public Welfare, Ministry of
 the Interior. Bangkok.
- Rose, Archibald, and J. Coggin Brown. 1910. (see section 1).

 Descriptions of Lisu in southwest Yunnan Province, China.
- Srisavasdi, Boon Chuey. 1963. The hill tribes of Siam. Bangkok.

 Many photographs, with random cultural notes.
- Young, Oliver Gordon. 1961. The hill tribes of northern Thailand.

 Siam Society Monograph #1. Extensive ethnographic notes on
 the Lisu in Thailand, 28-35.

Index

Abrupt intonation; 1.11.2	Auxiliary verb; 2.5.5		
with statements and imperatives; 5.2	Back vowels; 1.4.3		
•	Basic clause; 4.1		
Active verb; 2.5.1 Adjective; adjectival verb:	extended; 4.2.2		
in attribution; 2.4.2.3.1.2,	simple; 4.2.1		
3.1.2.3	Basic order; 4.1		
in verb function; 2.5.2	Basic tone; 1.6.2.2		
Adverb; 4.2.1.4	environments of; 4.5.3		
Alternative Construction; 2.4.1.1.3	Bound form; 2.0		
Alternative question; 5.2.3.1b	as head of an expression; 2.1		
Alternative substantive phrase; 3.1.3.3	Central vowels; 1.4.2		
Alveolar consonants; 1.1.2	Charts: consonant; 1.1		
Alveolar/domal consonants; 1.1.3	distribution; 1.9		
Appositive substantive phrases; 3.1.3.2	particle combination; 5.4.3		
Attribute, attribution; 2.1	vowel; 1.4 Classifiers; 2.4.1.2		
clause; 4.4	determined by noun; 3.1.3.2d		
substantive; 2.4.2.2, 2.5.3	decermined by notal, yeleyeld		
substantive phrase; 3.1.2, 3.1.4	Clause; 4.0		
verb: active; 2.4.2.3.1.1, 3.1.2.1	attributive; 4.4 basic; 4.1		
adjectival; 2.4.2.3.1.2, 3.1.2.3			
	complex; 4.0 and 4.4		
verb phrase; 3.2.2	main; 5.1.1		
200			

nominalization; 4.5

non-basic; 4.2.3

order with question words; 4.2.3.3

simple: 4.2

Complementary verb compounds; 2.5.1.3

Complementary verb phrase; 3.2.4

Complex clause; 4.0, 4.4

Complex noun; 2.4.2.3

Complex topic; 4.2.3.2.1

Complex verb; 2.5.3

Complex word; 2.0

Compound noun; 2.4.2.2, 2.10.2

Compound sentence; 5.1.1.2

Compound verb; 2.5.1.3, 2.5.5

Compound word; 2.0

Consonant: chart; 1.9

final; 1.8

initial; l.l

syllabic; 1.2

Coordinate clauses; 5.1.1

Coordinate substantive phrase; 3.1.3

Coordinate verb phrase; 3.2.3

Coordination; 3.0

Copula, copular verb; 2.5.4

Counter; 2.4.1

phrase; 3.1.3.2d, e

with bound noun; 2.4.2.2.2

Declarative intonation; 1.11.1

with statements, imperatives and questions; 5.2

Deictic; 2.4.3

in counter phrase; 3.1.3.2f

Diphthongs; 1.4.4

Distribution charts; 1.9

Distributive substantive phrase; 3.1.3.4

Emphatic stress; 1.10.3

exaggerated; 1.10.4

Equational sentence; 5.1.2.2

Exclamations; 2.3

in isolative positions; 4.2.3.1

in isolative sentence; 5.1.2(1)

Falling pitch; 1.7

with substantive particle /-a/; 4.3.5

Final general particles; 5.4.2.1

Final tone; 1.6.2.2

as 'clause nominalization';

Final verb particles; 5.4.1.2

Introductory words; 2.8 Focus; 5.3 Isolatives; 4.2.3.1 Form classes; 2.2 ff. sentence: 5.1.2(1) Free form: 2.0 - Labial consonants; 1.1.1 Front vowels; 1.4.1 Main clause; 5.1.1 General particles; 2.9, 5.4.2 Major sentence; 5.1(1) Glottalization; 1.5 imperative: 5.2.2 Goal; 4.2.1.3 question; 5.2.3.1 clause: 4.4.2.2 statement; 5.2.1.1 Head: 2.1 Medial semi-vowel; 1.3 Hortatory sentence; 1.11.1.3 Imperatives; 5.2.2 Minor sentence; 5.1(2) question; 5.2.3.2 contrasted with statements and questions; 5.2 statement; 5.2.1.2 with declarative intonation; Mixed general particle; 1.11.1 5.4.2.3 Initial consonants; 1.1 Movable negative; 2.5.5 Inseparable auxiliary verb compound; 2.5.5 Nasalization: 1.8 Inseparable complementary verb Negative: phrase; 3.2.4.1 Movable: 2.5.5 Internal general particles; 5.4.2.2 sentence: 5.2 Intonation: 1.11 verb tone with; 4.5.3 with statements, imperatives, and questions; 5.2 with sentence intonations; 1.11.1-3 Intransitive verb; 2.5.1.2 verb particles; 5.4.1.1 in coordinate phrases; Neutralization: 3.2.3.1-2 palatal-velar contrast; modifying an adjective; 3.2.3.1b 1.1.5, footnote 17

Phrase: 3.0 Neutralization (cont d) substantive: 3.1 statement-imperativequestion contrast; 5.2.4 verb; 3.2 tone contrast; 1.6, 1.10.4 Positive sentence; 5.2 vowel contrast; 1.4.1 clause nominalization with: Mominalization; 4.5 with sentence intonations; clause; 4.5 1.11.1-3 with proclitic particles; Proclitic particles; 2.9. 2.4.2.3.3 2.4.2.3.3, 3.1.2.3 with reduplication; 2.10.2 with reduplicated verbs; 2 2.10.2.2 Non-basic clause; 4.2.3 Questions; 5.2.3 Non-proclitic particles; 2.9 contrasted with statements Normal stress: 1.10.2 and imperatives; 5.2 Noun: 2-4-2 Question words; 2.4.2.3.3c Number, numeral; 2.4.1.1 clause order with: 4.2.3.3 Palatal consonants; 1.1.4 multiple class membership; Palatal/velar consonants; 1.1.5 2.6.1 with indefinite force: Particle: 2.9 4.2.3.3 combinations; 5.4.3 Reductions; 5.1.2(2) general; 2.9; 5.4.2 Reduplication: 2.10, 2.4.2.2.3 non-proclitic; 2.9 Repetition distinguished proclitic; 2.9, 2.4.2.3.3 from reduplication; 2.10.4 Secondary verb particles; substantive; 2.9, 4.3 5.4.1.3 verb; 2.9, 5.4.1 Sontoneo; 1.0 Permitted phoneme sequences; 1.9 classification; 5.0 Phonemes; 1.0

Sentence (cont'd) Substantive particles; 2.9, 4.3 hortatory; 1.11.1.3 Substantive phrase; 3.1 imperative; 5.2(2) Syllabic resonants: 1.2 major; 5-1-1 from reduction of forms with reduplicated /-IV/; 2.10.2.1 minor; 5.1.2 Syllable: 1.0 question; 5.2(3) Tones: 1.6 statement; 5.2(1)final and basic; 1.6.2.2. 4.5 Sentence intonation; 1.11 Topic; 4.2.3.2 position with secondary topic; 1.10.1, footnote 50; clause: 4.4.2.3 4.2.3.2. footnote 19 Transitive verb; 2.5.1.1 Separable complementary verb phrase; 3.2.4.3 in coordinate phrases; 3.2.3.1 and 2 Simple clause; 4.0, 4.2 modifying an adjective; Simple noun; 2.4.2.1 3.2.21a Simple phrase: Velar consonants; 1.1.6 substantive; 3.1.1 Velar/glottal consonant; 1.1.7 verb; 3.2.1 Verb; (clause position); 4.2.1.5 Simple topic; 4.2.3.2.1 (form class); 2.5 Simple word; 2.0 Verb particles; 2.9. 5.4.1 Statement; 5.2.1 Verb phrase: 3.2 contrasted with imperatives as head of a clause; 4.0 and questions; 5.2 Verb stem extension; 2.7 with declarative intonation; 1.11.1 Vowels; 1.4 Stress, 1.10 harmony; 2.10.2.1, footnote 69 Subject; 4.2.1.1 -wa-phrase; 4.2.1.2 clause; 4.4.2.1 Weak stress: 1.10.1 Substantives: 2.4 Word; 2.0 Zero initial; 1.1.9